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Submission to the Ministers
Jeremy Rockliff MP

Deputy Premier

Minister for Community 
Services and Development

Sarah Courtney MP

Minister for Children and Youth 

Minister for Disability Services

Jane Howlett MP

Minister for Sport and 
Recreation 

Minister for Women

Michael Ferguson MP

Minister for State Development, 
Construction and Housing 

Guy Barnett MP

Minister for Veterans’ Affairs

Roger Jaensch MP

Minister for Aboriginal Affairs

Jacquie Petrusma MP

Minister for the Prevention of 
Family Violence

Dear Ministers

In accordance with the requirements of Section 36 of the State Service Act 2000 and Section 42 of the 
Financial Management Act 2016, I submit to you, for presentation to Parliament, this report on the affairs 
and activities of the Department of Communities Tasmania for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Yours sincerely

Michael Pervan

Secretary
Department of Communities Tasmania

5 October 2021
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Secretary's Report
Adapting and responding while 
continuing to deliver business as usual 
services and programs has been vitally 
important during 2020-21. 

I am incredibly proud of what the Agency has 
delivered over the past year. Maintaining and 
expanding our services has only been possible 
through our people and their commitment to 
the important work they undertake supporting 
the Tasmanian community. During a time when 
we have had to be more creative, more agile 
and move swifter than ever, our organisational 
values of being respectful, committed, connected 
and kind have helped guide us as we continue to 
support strong, active and inclusive communities. 

The Department of Communities Tasmania 
(Communities Tasmania) continued to play a 
crucial role in supporting Tasmanians and visitors 
to the State during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

As a keystone function of the Department, 
Housing was given greater emphasis in response 
to the pandemic and Government policy 
priorities. The Safe Spaces specialised service for 
Tasmanians experiencing primary homelessness 
was expanded during 2020-21 as a COVID-19 
Response and Recovery Initiative. During the 
year, 1 327 individuals were accommodated 
at Safe Space services with 13 774 bed nights 
Statewide. The Community Housing Growth 
Program, funded under the Rebuilding Tasmania 
Infrastructure Investment COVID-19 Response, 
is on track to deliver up to 1 000 new social and 
affordable homes by 30 June 2023. Tasmania’s 
four Tier 1 registered community housing 
providers were also assessed for their capacity 
to manage a further 2 000 tenancies on behalf of 
Housing Tasmania. 

The Department, through the Communities, 
Sport and Recreation division, played a key role 
in implementing A Framework for COVID-19 Safe 

The French Antarctic expedition 
team leaves hotel quarantine
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Events and Activities in Tasmania by assessing 
COVID-19 Safety Plans, which assist event 
organisers undertake COVID-19 safe events.  

While Tasmanians were able to enjoy 
COVID-safe community events, our team at 
the Tasmanian Institute of Sport (TIS) helped 
prepare athletes for international competitions 
amidst the uncertainty of whether the 
Tokyo Olympics 2020 would proceed. Our 
Communities, Sport and Recreation team also 
coordinated a Statewide food relief response that 
in turn informed the development of Tasmania’s 
first Food Security Strategy. 

Communities Tasmania and the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet continued to work together 
to develop Tasmania’s first Child and Youth 
Wellbeing Strategy. Community consultation for 
the Strategy received 3 500 contributions from 
across the State, with the voices and illustrations 
from children forming a significant part of the 
consultation. 

In June 2021, Supporting Tasmanian Carers: 
Tasmanian Carer Action Plan 2021-2024 was 
released to support carers in the key areas of 
recognition, access, participation, and learning.

Progress has been made on some very important 
internal initiatives that will support our people 
to undertake their roles. Work has commenced 
to digitise our agency records, and we are 
progressing the enhancement of critical business 
systems to improve the integration of client 
information for Children, Youth and Families and 
in collaboration with the Department of Health 
evaluating responses for a new Human Resource 
Information System. 

The Agency’s risk profile has been reviewed 
and we have developed a risk management 
framework that responds to the diverse nature 
of Communities Tasmania’s program, policy, and 
service delivery responsibilities.  

Recognising that our greatest asset is our people, 
the Agency Executive has endorsed a People 
Strategy for our Agency, informed by the many 
challenges facing the community sector. It 
presents a comprehensive approach to reflect 
the integrated nature of our people imperatives 
and sets out a forward-looking agenda designed 
to support the vision of Communities Tasmania 
which will only be possible through our people.  

Finally, the Department continued to operate 
the Government’s hotel quarantine program 
for returning residents and visitors requiring 
supported quarantine. As well as our own 
people, the program is part of a highly 
collaborative effort with Tasmania Police and the 
Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water 
and Environment for the management of our 
borders during the pandemic. Travellers in hotel 
quarantine are supported by government liaison 
officers drawn from across the public sector.   

The past year has seen many, many examples of 
our staff and our partners being kind, committed, 
respectful and connected. With new initiatives 
and challenges on the horizon, these values will 
continue to inform and support our decisions 
and actions.

Professor Michael Pervan 
Secretary



Our Department 
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OUR BUSINESS
Communities Tasmania is committed 
to delivering services that support the 
development of strong, active and 
inclusive communities. 
We want Tasmanian children, families and 
communities to thrive and be strong and 
resilient. Communities Tasmania supports, 
protects and nurtures vulnerable children, 
young people and their families; delivers and 
facilitates specialist disability services; provides 
opportunities for all Tasmanians to participate 
in community life, and sport and recreation; 
and provides services to support social and 
affordable housing. 

Communities Tasmania collaborates with a 
range of partners, including government and 
non-government organisations, to support and 
empower individuals and families throughout 
Tasmania. The Department manages a significant 
grants program, which provides funding to 
community service providers, peak groups and 
community groups. 

Communities Tasmania contains three client 
service delivery divisions. These are:

• Children, Youth and Families

• Communities, Sport and Recreation

• Housing, Disability and Community Services.

Each of these divisions has a separate chapter 
in this report, which outlines their important 
contribution to strong, active and inclusive 
communities. The Department also includes 
business support, specialist advice, strategic and 
project functions, and manages the Silverdome 
community event facility. 

 

Since the last financial year, the Department 
has established an Inquiry Support Unit to 
coordinate the Department’s response to the 
Commission of Inquiry into the Tasmanian 
Government’s Responses to Child Sexual Abuse 
in Institutional Settings. This will ensure that 
Communities Tasmania can fulfil its obligations to 
engage openly with the Inquiry. 

The legislation and legal services team has 
been enhanced to provide specialist legislative 
review and general legal support services to the 
Ministers and Agency officers. A team has been 
established to provide an agency-wide approach 
to governance, risk and performance.

Communities Tasmania is often called upon 
to support Tasmanian communities during 
emergencies such as bushfires or floods, so 
the Department has had a significant role in 
helping Tasmania respond to, and recover 
from COVID-19. Communities Tasmania’s role 
during 2020-21 has included supporting the 
State’s emergency response, and supporting 
those who have been affected by the pandemic. 
Communities Tasmania has continued to operate 
its Emergency Operations Centre, which was 
established in 2021 to oversee the Tasmanian 
Government COVID-19 quarantine program; 
and has appointed a dedicated Emergency 
Commander. 

Communities Tasmania is responsible for 
delivering a range of Government commitments, 
including addressing recommendations 
from the Premier’s Economic and Social 
Recovery Advisory Council (PESRAC), and 
election commitments made by the incoming 
Government. Progress towards these 
commitments is monitored regularly to ensure 
we are delivering on Government promises.



OUR ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Our vision 

Communities in Tasmania are strong, active 
and inclusive.

Our mission 

Empower individuals, families and communities 
to thrive.

Our values 

We are respectful, committed, connected  
and kind.
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Our strategic objectives 

We will:

• Work with communities to offer all 
Tasmanians the opportunity to participate 
positively in community life.

• Work with partners to identify and pursue 
early opportunities to improve the wellbeing 
of individuals, families and communities.

• Work with families, carers and the 
community to keep children and young 
people safe.

• Work together to continue to build a 
high performing, committed and engaged 
organisation.

• Work with communities, sport and 
recreation organisations to support the 
growth of strong and sustainable sectors.



Our enablers

• Valued partnerships – collaborate 
with communities, industry and across 
government to deliver effective and 
integrated services, policies and programs 
for Tasmanian communities.

• Accountable organisation – develop the 
quality and accountability mechanisms to 
deliver outcomes effectively and efficiently.

• Strong systems – ensure our systems and 
infrastructure are fit for purpose.

• Well supported people – build the capability 
of our people and support networks.

• Innovation – continuously improve the way 
we design programs, services and tools to 
put people at the centre.

• Knowledge – improve the way we develop, 
apply, share and integrate information.

OUR KEY STRATEGIES 
AND PLANS: 

• Accessible Island: Tasmania’s Disability 
Framework for Action 2018-2021

• Affordable Housing Strategy 2015-2025

• Affordable Housing Action Plan 2019-2023 
(Action Plan 2)

• COVID-19 Recovery Plan

• Disability Services Strategic Plan 2019-2021

• Financial Security for Women Action Plan 
2018-2021

• Gambling Support Strategic Framework 
2019-2023 

• Health and Wellbeing for Women Action Plan 
2020-2023

• Leadership and Participation for Women Action 
Plan 2021-23

• Neighbourhood House Program Strategic 
Framework 2018-2023 

• Our Multicultural Island: Tasmania’s 
Multicultural Policy and Action Plan 2019-2022

• Resetting the Relationship with Tasmanian 
Aboriginal Communities

• Respect and Protect Older Tasmanians: 
Tasmania’s Elder Abuse Prevention Strategy 
2019-2022 

• Safe Homes, Families, Communities: Tasmania’s 
action plan for family and sexual violence 
2019-2022

• Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2023

• Striving for Practice Excellence: Our Strategic 
Direction 2021-2024 

• Strong Families, Safe Kids: Next Steps Action 
Plan 2021-2023 

• Strong, Liveable Communities: Tasmania’s Active 
Ageing Plan 2017-2022

• Supporting Tasmanian Carers: Tasmanian Carer 
Action Plan 2021-24

• Tasmanian Women’s Strategy 2018-2021

• Whole of Government Framework for LGBTI 
Tasmanians

• Women on Boards Strategy 2020-25.

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | 7 



OUR GOVERNANCE

Communities Tasmania has seven Ministers:

• Jeremy Rockliff, Deputy Premier, Minister for 
Community Services and Development

• Sarah Courtney, Minister for Children and 
Youth, Minister for Disability Services

• Jane Howlett, Minister for Sport and 
Recreation, Minister for Women

• Michael Ferguson, Minister for State 
Development, Construction and Housing 

• Guy Barnett, Minister for Veterans’ Affairs

• Roger Jaensch, Minister for Aboriginal Affairs

• Jacquie Petrusma, Minister for the Prevention 
of Family Violence.

The Department’s governance structure includes 
the following groups:

• The Agency Executive as the highest-level 
governance body comprising the most 
senior divisional representatives. It considers 
strategic issues, performance and risk.

• The Senior Leaders Group which provides 
a mechanism for cross-agency engagement. 
It has an advisory role, can be tasked with 
specific actions and acts as a sounding board 
for strategic and policy issues. 

• The Inclusion and Culture Committee which 
includes representatives from all levels and 
all divisions across the Agency. It works to 
support an inclusive workplace and foster 
positive workplace culture. 

• The Information Management and 
Information Communication Technology 
Steering Committee which is a key decision 
making body for approving policy and 
providing strategic direction on key matters. 

• The Budget Committee which strategically 
manages the Agency budget.

• The Procurement Review Committee which 
reviews all procurement evaluations valued at 
$50 000 or more.

• The Audit Committee, which supports the 
Secretary by providing an oversight function 
to independently review and assess the 
effectiveness of Agency operations.
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Our Year

Communities Tasmania is responsible 
for delivering a range of Government 
commitments. This includes delivering 
12 recommendations from PESRAC’s 
interim and final reports covering the 
areas of housing, food security, family 
and sexual violence, leadership training 
and volunteer support.
This work is largely complete, although some 
work is ongoing. The Department is also 
responsible for delivering around 250 of the 
Government’s nearly 600 election commitments. 
All of Communities Tasmania’s First 30 Days 
commitments were delivered by the due date 
of June 2021 and work has progressed on many 
other commitments.

Key activities in the Children, Youth and Families 
division during 2020-21 have included:

• The Strong Families Safe Kids: Next Steps 
Action Plan 2021-2023 was released on 
25 March 2021 and will deliver better 
outcomes and improved safety and wellbeing 
for Tasmanian children and their families.

• The Harmful Sexual Behaviours Program 
commenced on 1 April 2021.

• An Expert Panel was appointed in 
January 2021 to improve the safety and 
wellbeing of Tasmanian children and young 
people in care with complex needs.

• A review of Informal Kinship Care 
arrangements was completed in 
December 2020.

• The Children, Youth and Families strategic 
plan: Striving for Practice Excellence: Our 
Strategic Direction 2021-2024 was released in 
June 2021.

The Communities, Sport and Recreation (CSR) 
division is responsible for delivering over 200 of 
the Government’s 600 election commitments 

and several PESRAC recommendations. 
A majority of these commitments are for the 
provision of grants for the community sport 
and recreation sector. Key initiatives for the 
division include:

• Significant progress has been made on the 
first Tasmanian Food Security Strategy 
to support Tasmanians in need to access 
sufficient, safe nutritious, quality food. This is 
both a PESRAC recommendation and a First 
100 Days election commitment. 

• The Carer Action Plan 2021-24 was released 
in June 2021. It focusses on the 80 100 
Tasmanians who provide unpaid support to 
family members and friends.

• The Leadership and Participation for Women 
Action Plan 2021-23 was launched in 
March 2021.

• Supporting Tasmanian Athletes to attend 
the 2020 Olympics and Paralympics.

• Supporting the first comprehensive 
Tasmanian Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender, Intersex and Queer+ 
(LGBTIQ+) Survey.

• Supporting Tasmania’s sport and recreation 
sector by providing COVID-19 Sport and 
Recreation grants, and continuing to provide 
leadership and advice on governance, 
strategic planning and ethics.

• Developing a Veterans' Employment Strategy 
for the public sector and other initiatives to 
address veterans' wellbeing.

The Housing, Disability and Community 
Services division is working hard to deliver the 
Government’s commitment to increase the 
number of houses available for Tasmanians in 
need. During 2020-21:

• An Expression of Interest to deliver 1 000 
new social housing properties over three 
years and a Request for Proposal to transfer 
an additional 2 000 public housing properties 
to community housing management were 
both finalised.
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• Former Commonwealth State Housing 
Agreement debt waiver funds were 
administered to provide assistance to 
more Tasmanians.

• Work commenced on improving the 
Housing Connect model to respond more 
effectively to housing crisis and homelessness 
in Tasmania. The sector is working 
collaboratively to develop Housing Connect 
2.0, which will deliver improved outcomes 
for people at risk of homelessness, and 
shape housing assistance to fit the unique 
circumstances and life stage of each person 
who needs support. 

• We increased support for older people at 
risk of homelessness with a new supported 
accommodation model in partnership 
with Wintringham Housing. Work is 
underway to transfer the management of 
three unit complexes in southern Tasmania 
to Wintringham to provide dedicated 
housing for older people. Construction 
has also begun on a purpose-built, 50-unit, 
Wirksworth Integrated Aged Care Facility. 

• More men who are homeless now 
have access to safe, secure and modern 
accommodation. A 24-bed supported 
accommodation facility on the site of the 
former Waratah Hotel (Hobart) began 
operation in early 2021.

Communities Tasmania staff collaborated with 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet in 
2020-21 on Tasmania’s first Child and Youth 
Wellbeing Strategy for 0-25 year olds. The 
Strategy will have a specific focus on the first 
1 000 days (from pregnancy to baby’s first 
2 years). In 2020-21, Government sought the 
views and ideas of Tasmanian children, young 
people and their caregivers, and the service 
sector to help develop the Strategy. 

Over 2020-21, a collaboration strategy was 
developed by executives, clinicians, practitioners 
and managers across Communities Tasmania, 
the Department of Health and various non-

government organisations. A Collaboration 
Network is being established to raise awareness 
about the benefits and barriers to collaborative 
practice. People who become part of the 
Collaboration Network are experienced at 
working together around simple and complex 
service responses within community and/
or health services, and sometimes across into 
education, policing or the justice system. 

TARGA Tasmania 2021 cars at the Silverdome 

The Silverdome Complex multipurpose 
venue provides facilities for cycling and other 
indoor sporting events, concerts, conferences, 
training and exhibitions. The 2020-21 year was 
challenging for the Silverdome, with 13 major 
events cancelled due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
However, all were re-booked for the following 
year, acknowledging the excellent relationship 
the Silverdome maintains with event organisers. 
Significant events over 2020-21 included TARGA 
Tasmania, six National Basketball League games 
and one Suncorp Super Netball game. 

EMERGENCY OPERATIONS 
CENTRE

Communities Tasmania established the 
Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) in 
July 2020 to provide overall management of the 
hotel quarantine program through partnerships 
with hotels and transport providers in Hobart, 
Launceston and Devonport. The quarantine 
hotels accommodate travellers arriving in 
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Tasmania who require mandatory 14 day 
quarantine. The program also provides quarantine 
facilities for seasonal agriculture and process 
workers as part of the Pacific Mobility Scheme for 
both Tasmania and Victoria.

The purpose of the EOC is to prevent COVID-19 
from entering the Tasmanian community by 
providing a safe, effective, and fit for purpose 
hotel quarantine system. This includes minimising 
the risk of transmission of COVID-19 from 
quarantine hotels by administering the wage 
subsidy and daily allowance program to 
incentivise COVID-safe behaviours for workers 
in the hotel quarantine setting.

The EOC is led by an Emergency Commander 
who reports directly to the Secretary. The 
Secretary and Emergency Commander sit on 
several cross-Agency governance forums which 
provide direction and support as part of the 
overall public health response to COVID-19. 
The EOC comprises planning, operations, and 
logistics teams. Site Managers and dedicated 
Government Liaison Officers are engaged at 
each quarantine hotel to provide support and 
liaison between guests, government agencies and 
hotel staff.  

The EOC works closely with the Department of 
Health to ensure effective infection prevention 
and control processes are incorporated into 
the quarantine program. A range of services 
are provided by contracted partners for hotel, 
security, transport, fencing, cleaning, and waste 
management services.

The provision of these contracted services for 
hotel quarantine evolved during 2020-21 in 
response to the changing COVID-19 response 
environment and continues to evolve. As at 
30 June 2021, the program had five hotels, two 
security companies, two transport companies, a 
waste management company, parking provider 
and a fencing contractor supplying quarantine 
related services.

Over 2020-21, Tasmania’s hotel quarantine 
program accommodated 8 146 people:

• 6 156 domestic travellers;

• 118 repatriated Australians;

• 186 Antarctic expeditioners;

• 833 seasonal workers on behalf of Victoria’s 
agricultural industry; and

• 853 seasonal workers on behalf of Tasmania’s 
agricultural industry.

Tasmania developed an agreement with Victoria 
to host 833 Victoria-bound seasonal workers, 
and in return Victoria hosted 330 repatriated 
Australians on behalf of Tasmania. This 
arrangement benefitted Tasmania by allowing 
us to focus on a program in which we had 
developed experience. 

One of the main challenges in delivering 
a quarantine hotel program is balancing 
the imperative to minimise the COVID-19 
transmission risk with the need to look after 
guests’ mental health and wellbeing. A program 
of supports is available to promote guest health 
and wellbeing while they are in hotel quarantine.

The hotel quarantine program will continue 
to provide safe, effective quarantine facilities 
and processes for domestic travellers, seasonal 
workers, Antarctic expeditioners, and other 
international travellers while minimising the risk 
of COVID-19 transmission to the Tasmanian 
community for as long as required.  

OUR BROADER AGENCY 
RESPONSE TO COVID-19

Communities Tasmania provides community 
services directly, and also funds community 
organisations to provide services on 
Government’s behalf. New and additional 
community services have been provided to meet 
the evolving needs of communities during the 
pandemic.
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Examples include:

• additional emergency accommodation for 
vulnerable people;

• grants for sporting bodies and those 
Returned Services Leagues or veterans' 
organisations with commercial activities to 
keep them viable through the pandemic;

• support for community organisation peak 
groups to help people stay connected;

• assistance grants for low income Tasmanians 
who have needed to isolate and financial 
assistance for low income migrants, refugees 
and temporary visa holders;

• additional funding for vulnerable children;

• providing additional funding to family and 
domestic violence services; 

• emergency food relief; and

• affordable finance for goods and services.

As the containment phase started, the provision 
of community support services was adjusted to 
reduce the likelihood of exposure to, and spread 
of COVID-19. Government and funded service 
providers reduced some face-to-face contact by 
substituting with phone or online communication 
or postponing meetings for non-critical services. 

Essential services continued to be delivered 
through face-to-face delivery, including the 
Strong Families, Safe Kids Advice and Referral 
Line, Child Safety Service, Out of Home Care, 
Permanency and Adoption Services, Community 
Youth Justice, Ashley Youth Detention Centre, 
Family Violence Counselling and Support 
Services and Housing Connect. 

Communities Tasmania transitioned some 
services to remote delivery initially, including 
the Office of the Senior Practitioner (Disability 
Services), Tasmanian Autism Diagnostic Service, 
and tenancy services, but these have now been 
transitioned to COVID-safe face-to-face delivery.

The Tasmanian Institute of Sport (TIS) has 
returned to providing face to face coaching 
and support to TIS athletes. Most competition 
activities continue to be postponed, or cancelled, 
which places additional pressure on athletes 
and TIS staff as they navigate through continual 
uncertainty and disappointment.

Some funded services were provided remotely, 
such as food relief, migrant and humanitarian 
support services, and veteran support services. 
Most funded services have now returned to face-
to-face delivery. 

The shift from face-to-face services was 
challenging for some clients. Issues included:

• Low rates of literacy and numeracy impacted 
some people’s ability to seek help online.

• Clients in geographically remote areas may 
have limited reception.

• Clients may have less privacy in the home.

For some clients and services however, remote 
delivery was more effective than face-to-face. 
For example, one funded service provider found 
that online service delivery better suited clients 
who worked during the day, and that it reduced 
barriers including distance, and feeling exposed in 
the community. 

The pandemic will have a lasting impact on the 
Tasmanian community and the work of the 
Department. Communities Tasmania’s COVID-19 
Recovery Plan will inform corporate priorities, 
to ensure the agency works collaboratively to 
develop strong, active and inclusive communities. 
The COVID-19 response will continue to be a 
major work priority alongside existing priorities.
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SPORT AND RECREATION

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

COVID-19 Sport and Recreation Grants Program – Tranche 2 432 916 531

COVID-19 Sport and Recreation Grants Program – Tranche 31 57 125 573

COVID-19 Sport and Recreation Grants Program – Tranche 41 94 870 000

Improving the Playing Field Grants Program (Large) 27 3 787 826

Improving the Playing Field Grants Program (Small) 31 1 208 477

National / International Sports Championships Program 8 25 000

Sporting Competitions Access Fund 5 15 598

State Grants Program 35 1 109 000

Notes:

COVID-19 Sport and Recreation Grants Program – Tranche 1 was awarded and paid in 2019-20 and is therefore not listed 

1 Funding to be paid in 2021-22.

WOMEN

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

International Women's Day Small Grants Program 19  7 500 

YOUTH

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

Youth Week Tasmania Grants Program 10 18 000

VETERANS

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

Supporting Our Veterans – COVID-19 Grants Program (extended round) 22 194 298

Round 1 - Teddy Sheean Memorial Grants Program 17 50 000

Round 2 - Teddy Sheean VC Memorial Grants Program 13 50 000

Veterans Active Recreation Program 1 75 000

OUR GRANTS FUNDED

Competitive Grants Programs - Communities, Sport and Recreation
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DISABILITY SERVICES AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

Agricultural Show Development Grants Program1 14 248 986

COVID-19 Local Emergency Food Relief Grants Program2 28 211 034

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex and Queer+ (LGBTIQ+) 4 46 850

Tasmanian Men’s Shed Association Grants Program 25 150 000

Notes:

1 Funding to be paid in 2021-22.

2 Additional COVID-19 relief payments were provided through existing Specific Purpose Funding arrangements (see below).

OTHER

Grants Program Number of 
Recipients

Grant amount 
awarded $

Community Participation and Appeals Fund 23 200 000

NEW AND EXISTING FUNDING ADMINISTERED IN 2020-21

Portfolio Funding Administered $

Aboriginal Affairs1
 968 366 

(including 30 000 in 
COVID-19 Support)

Disability Services and Community Development2
 6 524 484  

(including 988 700 in 
COVID-19 Support)

Sport and Recreation3 15 013 929

Veterans4 307 466

Women5 51 000

Youth6 399 896

Total 23 265 043

Specific Purpose Funding - Communities, Sport and Recreation

Notes:

1 Includes funding to the Aboriginal Land Council of Tasmania, Cape Barren Island Aboriginal Association, and the 
Tasmanian Regional Aboriginal Communities Alliance (TRACA).

2 Funding is provided across key portfolio areas and programs, including peak bodies, emergency volunteering, food and 
emergency relief, and deliverables under the Multicultural Action Plan. Also included are Tasmanian Government budget 
and election commitments, including the Trans-Mersey River Ferry Service and the Risdon Vale Bike Collective.

14 | DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021



3 Includes funding to a range of organisations for sport and recreation programs and infrastructure developments, 
including Cricket Tasmania, Sports Carnivals Association of Tasmania, the Australian and Tasmanian Olympic 
Committees, Reclink and ParaQuad Tasmania.

4 Includes funding to the Returned and Services League of Tasmania and the Defence Veterans Workshop.

5 Includes funding for the International Women’s Day Grants Program and the Board Diversity Scholarship Program.

6 Includes funding to the Youth Network of Tasmania and Young Leaders of Tasmania.

Community Sector Funding – All Divisions

NEW AND EXISTING FUNDING ADMINISTERED IN 2020-21

Funding Program Number of 
Recipients

Funding 
administered $

Children and Youth Services 20 27 304 153

Community Support Program 58 29 791 525

Disability Services 5 4 713 171

Gambling Support Program 5 10 250

Housing Tasmania 21 43 513 436

Corporate Services (previously Strategy and Engagement) 2 173 611

Total 111 105 506 146

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | 15 



Our People 

Communities Tasmania has a bold and 
inspirational vision: ‘Communities in Tasmania 
are strong, active and inclusive’. While successful 
delivery of this vision is dependent on many 
factors, we know that empowering individuals, 
families, and communities to thrive is only 
possible because of our people. We continue to 
focus on ensuring that our workforce is capable 
and engaged, aligned with our strategic direction, 
and delivers an exceptional client experience 
from which the Tasmanian community benefits.

With the foundations of Communities Tasmania 
set, we can be deliberate in what we do next for 
our people. The Our People and Culture Strategy is 
focused on improving our ability to strategically 
attract, develop and retain the best people.

Our commitment to our people is to keep 
them safe and well, work with them to build a 
constructive culture and invest in developing their 
capability. We will deliver on this commitment 
whilst ensuring our people processes are 
streamlined in their delivery, are positively 
contributing to business outcomes, and the 
people experience we aspire to have.  

Our People and Culture Strategy has four key 
people focus areas:

• empower our people to be safe and well;

• develop our capability;

• build a constructive culture; and

• fix the fundamentals.

An inclusive, positive and constructive 
workplace culture

Communities Tasmania is committed to 
providing an inclusive, positive, and constructive 
workplace culture where people are valued, 
respected and can be their best. 

We continue to implement our Disability Action 
Plan 2019-2021 and measure our progress 
against the goals articulated in Accessible Island, 
Tasmania’s Disability Framework for Action 
2018-2021.
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In late 2020 we commenced a partnership 
with JobAccess to inform improvements to 
the accessibility of recruitment processes 
across Communities Tasmania and to enhance 
accessibility and relationships with Disability 
Employment Services.

In 2021, we also completed a self-assessment 
against the Workplace Equality and Respect 
Standards to inform the development of an 
action plan aligning to the State Service initiative 
targeting the prevention of violence against 
women. Communities Tasmania will take this 
further to more broadly inform action to address 
intersectional issues.

The sustained focus on the agency’s diversity 
program has broadened into an inclusion and 
positive culture-building program to establish 
and embed organisational values and behaviours, 
and to support a workplace where people feel 
valued, respected and included.

Our Agency values – kind, committed, respectful 
and connected – continue to be embedded 
through our Values Champions, team planning, 
and popular quarterly Champion’s Cup Award, 
which formally recognises and rewards those 
who go over and above to demonstrate values-
based behaviours in the workplace. 

A quarterly Culture Pulse Check, introduced 
in January 2020, continues to monitor the 
employee experience and observations of values-
based behaviours. The data collection helps 
inform Agency planning and improvements in 
the things that matter most to our people. 
This includes our response to COVID-19, 
recovery plans, and employee wellbeing. 

Achieving Together

Building an engaging and supportive workplace 
that develops and fosters its people is an 
important priority for the Agency so they can 
deliver essential services aimed at enhancing and 
improving the lives of all Tasmanians. Employees 
are actively supported through the employment 
life cycle, from providing relevant induction 



and onboarding, opportunities for training and 
development, through to exit interviews for 
departing employees.  

We are piloting a new Performance and 
Development framework - Achieving Together, 
focused on building a high-performing learning 
culture with an agile and capable workforce. 
The framework is principle based with an 
emphasis on shared responsibility, building 
trusted relationships, a simple process with a 
customised experience, a focus on growth and a 
balanced approach recognising that how people 
achieve is as important as what they achieve. 
The pilot will continue through 2021 with the 
new framework to be rolled out across the 
Agency in 2022. 

Contemporary People Practices 
and Policies

We have continued to focus our efforts on 
developing a suite of human resources policies, 
procedures and factsheets to support our 
managers and employees in the workplace. 
This includes a user-centred design approach 
to ensure that supports are fit-for-purpose and 
meet the users’ needs.

There has been a focus on more contemporary 
recruitment practices, centralisation of these 
services and ensuring recruitment and onboarding 
is people-focussed, accessible and reflective of the 
diverse community that we serve.

Flexible working arrangements

We recognise the need to support people 
to achieve harmony between the demands 
of work and home life. Many types of flexible 
work arrangements are supported by 
Communities Tasmania where the Agency 
works collaboratively with employees to find 
optimal solutions to help balance the changing 
demands of life and provide benefits which 
improve performance and productivity. A suite 
of tools, including fact sheets, procedures and 
guides, support a range of formal and informal 
workplace flexibility options such as changes to 
hours and patterns or locations of work. 

A clear message received from our people is the 
value they place on workplace flexibility. Higher 
levels of wellbeing are recorded for those who 
find ways to balance home and work life via a 
range of different work arrangements. We seek 
to maintain and build on this flexibility to enable 
our people to be and do their best.

Work Health and Safety Strategies

Communities Tasmania is committed to the 
work health and safety of employees and people 
under our care and custodianship. Communities 
Tasmania has implemented a number of health, 
safety and wellbeing initiatives in the workplace 
to empower our people to be safe and well. 
This includes:

• The development of a new Work Health 
and Safety Management System. This 
has involved the analysis of Communities 
Tasmania’s governance and accountability 
arrangements; committees and consultative 
arrangements; training and induction 
programs; incident, emergency, and health 
and safety risk management; and monitoring 
and evaluation practices. Following this 
analysis, a plan was developed to improve 
our approach to health, safety and wellbeing, 
and our practices. This is currently being 
implemented across the Agency.

• A focus on preventative targeted health and 
wellbeing initiatives for employees. This has 
included resilience support for employees 
and supervisors; the onsite presence of 
employee assistance providers; skin checks 
for employees, team health and wellbeing 
challenges and the promotion of health 
and wellbeing initiatives to improve and 
maintain the overall health and wellbeing of 
employees.

• Supporting and managing mental health in 
the workplace, in particular the continued 
provision of Mental Health First Aid training. 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | 17 



Employees by Gender and Employment type

OUR STAFFING INFORMATION AT 30 JUNE 2021

Paid headcount and paid FTE by division

Headcount FTE

Division Female Male
Not 

Specified
Total Female Male

Not 
Specified

Total

Children and Youth Services 387 115 1 503 338.4 107.52 1.0 446.92

Commissioner for Children 
and Young People

9 - - 9 8 - 8

Communities, Sport and 
Recreation

45 36 - 81 40.32 35.18 75.5

Corporate Services 83 35 - 118 74.12 31.42 105.54

Housing, Disability and 
Community Services 

125 64 - 189 112.23 59.17 171.4

Office of the Secretary 11 3 - 14 10.38 3.0 13.38

Total 660 253 1 914 589.63 236.42 1.0 820.74
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Employees by Gender and Employment status

Employees by Gender and Award
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Employees by Gender and age group

Employees by Gender and Salary Range
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Senior Executives by gender and classification

Classification Male Female Total

SES1** 2 7 9

SES2** 0 3 3

SES3 1 2 3

SES4 and Head of Agency 1 0 1

Non State Service Officers 0 1 1

Total 4 13 17

** Communities Tasmania currently has 2 vacant offices as at 30 June 2021.

LEAVE MANAGEMENT

Communities Tasmania employees took an average of 11.62 days of personal leave in 2020-21.    

Leave liability

Recreation and Long Service Leave (LSL) Total

Average number of days of recreation leave per employee 17.57

Employees with more than 40 days of recreation leave 49

Average number of days of LSL per employee with minimum 10 years’ service 46.08

Employees with more than 100 days of LSL 0

Commencements and Separations 
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Targeted and Negotiated Voluntary 
Redundancies (TNVR), Workforce 
Renewal Incentive Program (WRIP)  
and SES terminations

Communities Tasmania paid no formal TNVRs 
and three WRIP payments during the reporting 
period.

Workers Compensation

As at 30 June 2021, the number of workers 
compensation claims lodged by Communities 
Tasmania employees during the financial year 
2020-21 was 37 – a 30 per cent improvement on 
the previous financial year. This comprised 

14 psychological claims and 23 physical claims. 
This compares to a total of 51 claims lodged in 
2019-20 and 45 claims lodged in 2018-19. As at 
30 June 2021, there are 36 open claims (including 
claims lodged in previous years).

Work Health and Safety

The Agency has robust safety systems in 
place and responds to incidents as they arise. 
Throughout 2020-21 the Agency has also 
undertaken hazard and risk analysis across a 
number of its work sites, resulting in changes 
to physical infrastructure and policies and 
procedures. 

Work Health and 
Safety Incidents

Hazards Total

Corporate Services 5 1 6

Children, Youth and Families 211 14 225

Communities, Sport and Recreation 2 0 2

Housing, Disability and Community Services 36 3 39

Office of the Secretary 0 0 0

Total 254 18 272
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Superannuation Declaration 

I, Michael Pervan, Secretary, Department of Communities Tasmania, hereby certify that:

• All Communities Tasmania employee payments in respect of which an employer superannuation 
liability arises have been identified.

• The appropriate rate of employer superannuation liability has been applied to those employee 
payments.

• Payment of Communities Tasmania employer superannuation contributions has been made 
to employee-nominated complying superannuation funds in accordance with all legislative 
requirements and within legislated timeframes.

Michael Pervan

Secretary
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Our Operational Divisions
Children, Youth and Families 
Children, Youth and Families (CYF) provides services to ensure Tasmania’s children, 
young people and their families thrive. Our services are delivered by a professional 
workforce and, with our community sector partners, we are committed to keeping 
the wellbeing of children, young people and their families at the centre of service.

OUR TEAM 

Children and Family Services Branch

The Strong Families Safe Kids Advice 
and Referral Line (ARL) is the first point of 
contact for community members with concerns 
for the safety and wellbeing of a child or young 
person. Staffed by Communities Tasmania, and 
non-government partners Baptcare and Mission 
Australia, the ARL provides advice and assistance 
to families and services working with children and 
families and responds to concerns regarding the 
safety and wellbeing of children and young people. 

The Child Safety Service delivers the 
statutory response to child safety and wellbeing 

concerns. It works to preserve families, facilitates 
out of home care for children unable to remain in 
their parents’ care and supports reunification. 

Out of Home Care services provide care for 
children and young people who are unable to 
live with their family because of safety concerns. 
Out of home care services are delivered by 
foster and kinship carers through CYF and 
partner non-government organisations. 

Adoption, Permanency and After Care 
Support provides services to Tasmanians who 
were once in the care of the State or who are 
considering placing their child for adoption, wish 
to adopt or care for a child permanently, or who 
were adopted as a child.

Submission to the Children and Youth 
Wellbeing Strategy by Mahli, Age 6
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Family Preservation Services

The Intensive Family Engagement Service 
supports families experiencing complex and 
multiple issues which directly impact on the safety 
and wellbeing of the children and young people. 
It aims to build a family’s capacity to provide a 
safe, stable and nurturing home environment for 
the children and young people and prevent the 
need for a statutory child safety response.

Youth and Family Violence 
Services Branch 

The Family Violence Counselling and 
Support Service offers professional and 
specialised services to assist children, young 
people and adults affected by family violence. 
The service is a partner of the Government’s 
criminal justice response to family violence - Safe 
at Home initiative. 

Community Youth Justice works with young 
people to reduce offending behaviour through 
community-based diversion and rehabilitation 
programs.  

The Ashley Youth Detention Centre provides 
secure care and custody for young people who are 
detained or remanded by the courts. 

Strategic Policy, Quality and Workforce 
Development (SPQWD) 

This is an intergovernmental relations and 
operational support unit for the division. 
SPQWD manages CYF’s data warehousing, 
data analytics and reporting, has the lead on a 
number of areas of strategic reform in policy, 
practice and out of home care cost-management, 
and has primary responsibility for supporting 
innovation in training and supported learning for 
our workforce. SPQWD also delivers a number 
of national and State secretariat responsibilities.

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Strong Families Safe Kids Advice 
and Referral

Released in March 2021, the Advice and Referral 
Line 12 month Summary Report demonstrates 
that we have made good progress and delivered 
improved architecture to support early 
identification of family issues and concerns. 
The first phase of work established many 
significant elements, including the introduction of 
Aboriginal Liaison Officers in all regions and the 
introduction of the Child and Youth Wellbeing 
Framework and Assessment Tool, which 
supported the delivery of a common language 
for the wellbeing of children and young people 
that underpins the Government’s ongoing policy, 
strategy and service development. 

The Summary Report of the Advice and Referral 
Line concluded that during the first 12 months 
of its operation the rate of children entering 
out of home care had halved and there was a 
16 per cent decrease in matters requiring a child 
safety response. 

Strong Families Safe Kids Summary 
Evaluation Report 

Strong Families Safe Kids is a long-term 
commitment for the Tasmanian Government, 
phase one of the redesign was for a period of 
four years. On 25 March 2021, the summary 
evaluation report, completed by the University 
of Tasmania (UTAS) on the Strong Families Safe 
Kids Redesign – Phase 1 was released. 

The UTAS evaluation made 49 recommendations 
and concluded ‘a system in the process of major 
cultural change as it moves to embed a public 
health approach to child safety across the whole 
service system’. The evaluation found that Strong 
Families Safe Kids ‘has successfully begun this 
process but unsurprisingly for systemic change of 
such magnitude there is still work to be done if the 
new approach is to be embedded across the whole 
service system and anticipated impacts on the 
Tasmania child wellbeing are realised’. 
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The evaluation report has helped inform the 
development of the Strong Families Safe Kids 
Next Steps Action Plan 2021-2023. 

Submission by Claire, Age 8

Strong Families Safe Kids Next Steps 
Action Plan 2021-2023

On 25 March 2021, the Tasmanian Government 
launched the Strong Families Safe Kids: Next 
Steps Action Plan 2021-2023 which represents 
the next stage of the Tasmanian Government’s 
commitment to delivering better outcomes and 
improved safety and wellbeing for Tasmanian 
children and their families.

Strong Families Safe Kids: Next Steps includes 
34 actions under five key priority areas.

Strong Families Safe Kids: Next Steps also 
addresses specific recommendations made 
in the Strong Families Safe Kids Summary 
Evaluation Report to fundamentally change the 
way government and non-government services 
work together to improve wellbeing outcomes 
for all Tasmanian children through a public health 
approach. Strong Families Safe Kids Next Steps 
complements international and national policies 
to support child safety and wellbeing. 

Intensive Family Engagement Service 

The Intensive Family Engagement Service 
continued to achieve excellent outcomes in 
2020-21, with 89.5 per cent of families having 
completed the program and continued to 
provide care for their children. Family wellbeing 

measures demonstrate that all families who 
complete the program show improvement 
across two or more wellbeing domains. This an 
outstanding result for children and young people.

Bringing Baby Home Program 

The Bringing Baby Home program is an 
innovative new intensive family preservation 
program developed and piloted in 2020-21.  

Bringing Baby Home focuses on preserving 
families through early intervention to maintain 
stability for children and reduce their likelihood 
of entering statutory care. It is a residential 
parenting support program for families where 
there are significant concerns for the safety and 
wellbeing of their baby, that would likely result in 
their baby being placed in Out of Home Care.

The program is based on the needs of the family 
and can deliver 24/7 supervision in a dedicated 
residence or provided in the parents’ home 
dependant on the risk and safety needs of 
the baby.

Health and Wellbeing Initiatives 

Health and wellbeing initiatives form an 
important support to employees in frontline 
roles and their managers. Tailored resilience 
workshops for managers were offered, aimed 
at enhancing skills at managing challenging 
workplace interactions, workplace culture, 
leading with resilience and managing change. 
Individual external coaching sessions were also 
offered to all employees and managers, to 
support them at work and the presence of onsite 
counsellors was piloted.  

Family Violence Counselling Support 
Service (FVCSS)

The service commenced telehealth services 
during 2020-21. Under the National Partnership 
Agreement COVID-19 Domestic and Family 
Reponses (National Partnership), the Family 
Violence Counselling and Support Service 
(FVCSS) received funding to purchase hardware 
(mobile devices) to provide telehealth service 
delivery capability in the Children and Young 
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People Program (CHYPP); and purchase Safety 
technology for victim-survivors of family violence 
(personal safety devices and car spyware checks).  
In addition the service is working in partnership 
with the Department of Education to develop a 
suite of resources for protective behaviours and 
personal safety education. 

Harmful Sexual Behaviours Program

In April 2021 a new Statewide Harmful Sexual 
Behaviours program for children and young 
people up to 17 years displaying problem sexual 
behaviours and sexually abusive behaviours was 
established.  

The Harmful Sexual Behaviours Program 
addresses a service system gap that stakeholders 
identified as a priority during the consultation 
to inform development of Safe Homes, Families, 
Communities: Tasmania’s action plan for family 
and sexual violence 2019-2022. 

Community Youth Justice 

The number of young people in Community 
Youth Justice is falling steadily in Tasmania, from 
daily average of 306.5 in 2013-14, to 156.4 in 
2020-21.

To support the continued decrease of young 
people entering the youth justice system, the 
Tasmanian Government is currently progressing 
the development of an overarching, strategic 
direction for a contemporary, evidence informed 
and integrated Youth Justice System, the 
Blueprint. 

The Blueprint has a key focus on prevention, 
early intervention and diversion and will support 
the continued reduction of young people 
encountering the Youth Justice System.

Consultation to develop the Blueprint is 
scheduled for late 2021. 

Ashley Youth Detention Centre Redesign

As part of the transition to a more therapeutic 
approach to service delivery within the 
Ashley Youth Detention Centre (AYDC), a 
new therapeutic, trauma-informed Practice 
Framework was launched in early 2021. 
The Practice Framework is supported by a new 
and contemporary Learning and Development 
Framework designed to support staff to work 
in a therapeutic way with young people in the 
detention centre environment. This work is 
part of broader reform at AYDC and includes 
a redevelopment of infrastructure which is 
expected to be complete by the end of 2021. 

Improving information sharing 

The Children, Young Persons and Their Families 
(Amendment Bill) 2021 was introduced in the 
Tasmanian Parliament through the House of 
Assembly on 29 June 2021.

The Bill introduces an amendment to the 
Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1997 
to strengthen the legal authority for Tasmania to 
participate in the national child safety data linkage 
initiative known as ‘Connect for Safety’.

The amendment extends provisions for 
information sharing between child safety 
officers to enable information sharing with 
child protection agencies in other jurisdictions.  
Information exchange will occur in a secure way 
that protects the rights and safety of children, 
young persons and their families.
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Out of Home Care Systematic  
Monitoring Program 

Communities Tasmania continues to make 
progress in responding to the Commissioner for 
Children and Young People’s Out of Home Care 
Monitoring Report recommendations. 

Priority actions that have occurred, include but 
are not limited to: 

• A full-time Client Liaison Officer has been 
employed to coordinate and improve 
responses to enquiries, complaints and 
feedback received by, or on behalf of, 
children, families and carers.

• The Child Advocate website has been 
updated to include easy-to-use information 
and a step by step guide for children and 
young people when something is ‘not ok’.

• In January 2021 a new Care Teams approach 
was implemented, to ensure that all planning 
and decision making for children and young 
people occurs in a collaborative way.

• Consultation with stakeholders on the 
development of Tasmanian Out of Home 
Care Standards and a Carer Register has 
commenced and is well underway.

• Communities Tasmania has started 
progressing two key initiatives to further 
embed the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Child Placement Principle for 
children in out of home care by working with 
Aboriginal community organisations.

Establishment of Under 16 Homelessness 
Working Group

An Under 16 Homelessness working group was 
formed to implement key recommendations 
made by Tasmania’s Under 16 Homeless 
Taskforce in 2020. In response, a dedicated 
Child Safety and Wellbeing Liaison position has 
been established within the Strong Families Safe 
Kids Advice and Referral Line, to coordinate 
use of specialist care teams to assess and triage 
cases in accordance with the Child and Youth 
Wellbeing Framework. Drafts of two documents: 
‘Under 16 Homelessness – A policy framework 
for Tasmania’ and ‘Under 16 Homelessness – 
Practice Guidelines for Specialist Homelessness 
Services’ were released for consultation.  

Informal Kinship Care Review

Informal Kinship carers play a crucial role in the 
lives of many Tasmanian children who are unable 
to live with their parents.

In late 2020, as part of its commitment to deliver 
improved support to informal kinship carers 
and avoid children unnecessarily entering Out 
of Home Care, the Government commissioned 
an independent review of informal kinship care 
arrangements in Tasmania. 

The Informal Kinship Care Review was 
completed in December 2020 and made eight 
recommendations. The Review acknowledges 
the valuable role of kin carers in a child’s life. 
In March 2021, the Government released the 
Informal Kinship Care Review Summary Report. 
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OUR FUTURE PRIORITIES

Striving for Practice Excellence: 
Our Strategic Direction 2021-2024

In June 2021, CYF published its Strategic 
Direction Plan which sets and guides the vision, 
values, key priorities, and measures of success 
for the next three financial years. The Strategic 
Direction Plan was developed around the six 
domains of the Tasmanian Child and Youth 
Wellbeing Framework. Strategic priorities over 
the next three financial years fall under five 
core areas:

• working with families to keep children and 
young people safe and well;

• working with others to achieve improved 
outcomes for children and young people;

• keeping children and young people safely 
connected to family, community and culture;

• further developing, supporting and 
strengthening our people; and

• building an accountable system.

Safe Homes, Families, Communities: 
Tasmania’s action plan for family and 
sexual violence 2019-2022 

Communities Tasmania provides the Secretariat 
for the central coordination and implementation 
of Safe Homes, Families, Communities, a whole-
of-government response to family and sexual 
violence.

During 2020-21 key new activity included 
establishing a Harmful Sexual Behaviours 
program; all Tasmanian Government 
departments commencing implementation of 
the Our Watch Gender Equality and Respect 
Standards; launch of the Safe from Violence 
website, Tasmania’s central point of information 
about family and sexual violence; and the rollout 
of an awareness campaign on non-physical 
violence, with fact sheets and audio resources in 
ten community languages. 

Work during 2020-21 included administering 
funding under the National Partnership 
Agreement on COVID-19 Family and Domestic 
Violence Responses, which allocated 
$3.636 million across government and non-
government initiatives. Funding allocated in 
2020-21 has focused on extending the additional 
support for specialist frontline services that 
was established under the first tranche of 
National Partnership funding allocated in 
2019-20. This has enabled service continuity and 
maintained increased operational capacity to 
respond to continued demand through to 
30 June 2022.

The Tasmanian Government has committed to 
developing a third family and sexual violence 
action plan, with consultation to commence by 
December 2021.
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Type of referral No.

General enquiry and seeking advice 54

Direct advocacy 31

Capacity building and consultation 
with children

22

Amplifying the child’s views 32

Total 139

Nature of referrals 2020-21

CHILD ADVOCATE

The role of the Child Advocate is to deliver 
individual and systemic advocacy for children and 
young people in care across Tasmania. 

Individual Advocacy 

The individual advocacy work of the Child 
Advocate can involve:

• providing information to support others to 
uphold the rights of a child;

• providing advocacy to access the resources 
or outcomes needed for a child;

• providing advice to adults on how to consult 
with a child; and

• consulting with a child to get their views, or 
obtain clarity on their views.

The length and extent of involvement of the 
Child Advocate is varied and is at times quite 
extensive. The Child Advocate will usually 
only cease involvement once satisfied that the 
planning and decision-making is child-centred, 
and involves the child in some capacity. 

The Child Advocate received a total of 139 
referrals, relating to 212 children in 2020-21. 
The number has increased from 117 referrals for 
206 children in 2019-20. Of the 139 referrals the 
regional distribution was: South – 87 referrals, 
North – 34 referrals, North West – 18 referrals.
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Systemic Advocacy

In the period 2020-2021 the Child Advocate has 
engaged in systemic advocacy through: 

• overseeing the development and 
implementation of a digital communication 
platform for children (Viewpoint); 

• facilitating 15 youth consultation forums with 
the Youth Change Makers, via online and face 
to face meetings;

• creating an online training module about 
child participation, and a one-day face to face 
training package for people working with 
children and young people in care; and 

• participating in a range of groups and 
committees including the Transition to 
Independence program, Third Party 
Guardianship project, and the Legal Aid 
Separate Representative Steering Committee.

Our Future priorities

As at June 2021 the Child Advocate has been in 
place for three years. Given the value of the role 
and the need to build capacity to meet individual 
advocacy needs of children and young people 
across the North and North-West region, the 
Tasmanian Government has committed through 
Strong Families Safe Kids: Next Steps Action Plan 
2021-2023 (Action 33) to appoint an additional 
Child Advocate for that region. 



Communities, Sport and Recreation
Communities, Sport and Recreation (CSR) works to ensure that all Tasmanians can 
participate in community life, sport and recreation by building community capacity, 
enhancing access and participation, providing quality policy advice, supporting 
individual and sector development, and administering grants.

OUR TEAM

We lead whole-of-government policy initiatives 
and programs to enhance and strengthen 
cultural, economic, and social outcomes for the 
Tasmanian community. This includes delivering 
whole-of-government programs aimed at 
increasing opportunities for participation and 
social inclusion, and programs to address barriers 
to participation for specific population groups.

We also deliver a wide range of grants to build 
community capacity to meet community, sport 
and recreation needs of Tasmanians, and use 
our grants expertise to support achievement of 
Government health and wellbeing priorities.

A key role of CSR is to provide high quality policy 
advice to the Tasmanian Government in relation 
to community participation, physical activity, 
sport and recreation for identified population 
groups.

The Division supports various peak bodies and 
advisory structures that act as a link between 
communities and Government and ensure that 
Government policy reflects the needs of all 
members of the Tasmanian community.

The Policy and Programs Branch leads the 
development and implementation of whole-of- 
government policies, frameworks, strategies, 
and programs for identified population groups 
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including: women; people with disability; carers; 
older people; multicultural communities; the 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, 
queer and questioning (LGBTIQ+) community; 
volunteers; Men’s Sheds and veterans. 

A key area of policy work is also the design and 
delivery of emergency food relief programs. 
The Branch works to improve access to and 
involvement in the community through the 
delivery of the Seniors Card; Companion Card; 
and Tasmanian Concessions Guide.

The Grants, Sport and Recreation 
Infrastructure Branch administers a range of 
funding commitments and grant programs, while 
also supporting an independent statutory body, 
the Tasmanian Community Fund. The Branch 
also provides advice to Government, sporting 
organisations, local government and regional 
development authorities on the development of 
appropriate community, sport and recreation 
infrastructure.

The Sport and Recreation Branch 
encourages increased participation in sport and 
recreation by supporting a vibrant and inclusive 
sport and recreation sector in Tasmania. The 
Branch develops and implements policies and 
initiatives to increase opportunities for all 
Tasmanians to participate in sport and active 
recreation, and builds the capacity of sport and 
recreation organisations by improving governance 
and facilitating strategic planning sessions, and 
delivering forums to address the sector’s needs.

The Tasmanian Institute of Sport (TIS) 
delivers high quality services and support that 
maximises the sporting potential of talented 
athletes through providing leadership and 
quality athlete and coaching services. This work 
supports athletes by assisting them to compete 
successfully on the national and international 
sporting stage at events such as the Olympic and 
Paralympic Games, Commonwealth Games and 
World Championships. The TIS is located at the 
Silverdome in Launceston and at the Technopark 
facility in Glenorchy.

The Office of Aboriginal Affairs (OAA) 
provides advice to the Government on issues 
affecting Aboriginal people, undertakes regular 
consultation with Tasmania's Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander population and oversees 
the implementation of the Government’s 
Aboriginal Affairs policy agenda. OAA works 
in partnership with Tasmanian Aboriginal 
organisations and government departments 
to promote knowledge, leadership and 
understanding about Tasmania’s Aboriginal 
people and their cultural heritage, and to 
improve social, cultural, and economic outcomes.

OAA also provides advice and support to 
Tasmanian Aboriginal organisations to help them 
consolidate their operations and ensure they 
can grow their capacity to deliver high quality 
services to their community members.

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Supporting Tasmanian athletes

Ten Tasmanian athletes were selected in the 
Australian Olympic Team for Tokyo2020, held in 
July/August 2021: 

• Stewart McSweyn (athletics)

• Daniel Watkins (canoe slalom)

• Georgia Baker (cycling – track)

• Richie Porte (cycling – road and time trial)

• Eddie Ockenden (hockey)

• Josh Beltz (hockey)

• Nathaniel Atkinson (football)

• Sarah Hawe (rowing)

• Ariarne Titmus (swimming)

• Jake Birtwhistle (triathlon).

Ciona Wilson (rowing) was selected as a 
travelling reserve for the Australian Olympic 
Rowing Team.
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Deon Kenzie (athletics), Todd Hodgetts 
(athletics) and Alexandra Viney (rowing) were 
selected to represent Australia at the Tokyo2020 
Paralympics.

Carer Action Plan 2021-24

This year saw the release of a new plan for more 
than 80 100 Tasmanians who provide support 
to family members and friends as unpaid and 
informal carers. Supporting Tasmanian Carers: 
Tasmanian Carer Action Plan 2021-24 follows on 
from, and consolidates, the outcomes achieved 
through the Tasmanian Carer Action Plan 
2017-20 and the Tasmanian Carer Policy 2016. 
A key action is the introduction of carer 
recognition legislation.

Women on Boards Strategy 2020-25 

Since the introduction of the Women on Boards 
Strategy 2015-20, women’s representation 
on Government boards and committees has 
increased significantly – rising from 33.8 per cent 
in June 2015, to 48.3 per cent as at 30 June 2021 
– an increase of 14.5 per cent.

To build on the progress we have made so far, 
the Tasmanian Government released the Women 
on Boards Strategy 2020-25. The Strategy includes 
practical actions across four focus areas:

• strengthen pathways

• create contemporary systems and processes

• influence change

• monitor equity.

LGBTIQ+ Survey

CSR supported the first comprehensive survey 
of LGBTIQ+ Tasmanians, in partnership with the 
University of Tasmania, receiving 825 responses. 
The findings will inform the development 
of a new whole-of-government Framework 
and Action Plan to ensure that Tasmanian 
Government services are inclusive and remain 
relevant for LGBTIQ+ communities. 

The Frank MacDonald Memorial Prize 

The Frank MacDonald Memorial Prize responded 
to the challenges of COVID-19 restrictions and 
completed our first domestic tour with the 
students and teachers whose overseas trip was 
cancelled earlier in 2020. The tour group departed 
Tasmania on 16 April 2021 and toured significant 
military sites in the Northern Territory, and 
Western Australia, culminating with attending the 
Anzac Day service in Darwin.

The Frank MacDonald Memorial Prize tour group 

Supporting veterans’ wellbeing

The Tasmanian and Australian Governments 
jointly funded a feasibility study into the potential 
for a Veteran Wellbeing support service to 
be established in Tasmania, and the findings 
of the study led to the announcement by the 
Australian Government that it would provide 
funding of $5 million over three years to support 
the establishment of two Tasmanian wellbeing 
centres for veterans. 

The Anzac Day Trust was officially wound up 
through the passing of legislation, and in its place 
an annual funding commitment was made to both 
the Hobart and Launceston Legacy branches.

The Veterans' Active Recreation Program, 
a program for returned service personnel 
established in partnership with Tasmania Parks 
and Wildlife Service in 2019, held two successful 
treks after the first planned trek in March 2020 
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was postponed due to COVID-19; and the 
Vietnam Veterans’ Association of Australia 
– Tasmania Branch continued to progress 
construction of the Veterans’ Retreat Project at 
Dago Point. 

Supporting the community

CSR supported a significant number of 
community organisations through funding 
agreements to represent the interests of diverse 
communities. This includes the administration 
of 18 competitive grants programs, along with 
the Community Participation and Appeals 
Fund, including those directed at supporting 
the Tasmanian community in the recovery from 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Grants programs 
administered in 2020-21 included:

• COVID-19 Support and Recreation Grants 
Program – Tranche 2, 3 and 4;

• COVID-19 Supporting our Veterans 
Grants Program;

• Improving the Playing Field Grants Program;

• International Women’s Day Small 
Grants Program;

• Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex 
and Queer+ Grants Program; 

• Sport and Recreation State Grants Programs;

• Tasmanian Men’s Shed Grants Program;

• Teddy Sheean VC Memorial Grants Program; 
and

• Youth Week Tasmania Grants Program.

CSR also provides administrative support to the 
Tasmanian Community Fund which is separately 
accountable and reports directly to Parliament.

Supporting Tasmania’s sport and 
recreation sector

The Tasmanian Government was the first 
jurisdiction in Australia to announce support 
for sporting organisations in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 Sport and 

Recreation Grants Program provided over 
$2.9 million in funding over two tranches 
of grants. 

Tranche One provided income assistance to 
25 State Sporting Organisations (SSOs) for the 
period March to August 2020, which ensured 186 
Tasmanians across the sector remained in their 
jobs. Tranche Two of the program supported 
grassroots sporting clubs to return to play in line 
with Public Health requirements, which enabled 
Tasmanian communities to get back to enjoying 
the benefits of sport. In order to meet the needs 
of the sport and recreation sector, funding of 
$1 million was allocated to Tranche Three which 
provided further support to grassroots clubs 
to return to play, and Tranche Four, which will 
provide grants to sport and active recreation 
organisations to assist with equipment costs.

CSR continues to provide leadership and advice 
to the sector focusing on governance, strategic 
planning and member protection/ethics. 

Addressing barriers to participation in 
sport and recreation

After a period of closure and enhancements 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, on 1 July 2020 
CSR reopened Ticket to Play, the sports voucher 
program for Tasmanian children aged 5 to 17. 
Under the 2020-21 program, eligible participants 
received two $100 vouchers which could be used 
at 851 approved activity providers.  

While the suspension of community sport and 
recreation activities in response to COVID-19 
impacted on demand for vouchers, a total of 
7 180 Tasmanian children registered for the 
program in 2020-21 and over 8 500 vouchers 
were redeemed. In response to its success, the 
program has been extended, with additional 
funding of $1 million per annum between 2021-22 
to 2023-24. 

Tasmanian input into national sport and 
recreation policy and issues

We actively participated in key national forums 
and meetings to share learnings and best 
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practice, and guide national policy development. 
This included supporting and promoting Play 
by the Rules, and input into the development 
of Sport Integrity Australia’s National Integrity 
Framework and Safeguarding in Sport Continuous 
Improvement Program.

Support for improvement to playing 
facilities across Tasmania

During 2020-21, CSR administered the $5 million 
Improving the Playing Field Grants Program. The 
Grants Program provided funding to local councils, 
and sport clubs and associations to improve 
playing facilities across Tasmania to maintain and 
build participation across sporting codes following 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Grants of between $25 000 and $250 000 
were considered for approved capital works, 
which included change rooms, toilets and 
shower facilities, accessibility, lighting, security, 
fencing, scoreboards, drainage and other civil 
construction works. A total of 58 organisations 
were awarded funding through the 2020-21 
Grants Program.

Support for athletes living with disability

In 2020-21, CSR launched the Sporting 
Competition Access Fund (SCAF). The purpose of 
SCAF is to provide assistance to athletes with 
disability, enabling them to compete in national 
or international sporting competitions and 
allowing them to excel in their chosen sport at 
the highest possible level.

Closing the Gap Tasmanian 
Implementation Plan

Throughout 2020-21, Communities Tasmania 
has worked with the Tasmanian Coalition of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peak 
Organisations representative, the Tasmanian 
Aboriginal Centre (TAC), and other Tasmanian 
Aboriginal people and community controlled 
organisations, to progress a Tasmanian 
Jurisdictional Implementation Plan for the 
National Agreement on Closing the Gap.

To strengthen existing partnerships between the 
Tasmanian Government and Aboriginal people 
and to prepare the basis for the Implementation 
Plan, the Government and the TAC hosted 
four Closing the Gap Round Tables with key 
stakeholders in January and February 2021, and 
open meetings for organisations and individuals 
and one-on-one discussions with Aboriginal 
community controlled organisations in June and 
July 2021. 

Supporting Tasmanian Aboriginal People 
and Organisations

During 2020-21 OAA managed several grants 
aimed at supporting and strengthening Aboriginal 
community-controlled organisations, including 
$90 000 for the Tasmanian Regional Aboriginal 
Communities Alliance, $30 000 to the Elders 
Council of Tasmania Aboriginal Corporation 
allowing it to maintain administrative operations 
during COVID-19 recovery, and $100 000 to 
the Six Rivers Aboriginal Corporation to help 
implement the Tiagarra Cultural Museum upgrade 
components of its Tourism Business Plan.

OAA worked in partnership with other State 
Government agencies and Aboriginal community 
controlled organisations, to undertake practical 
measures to improve outcomes for Aboriginal 
people in Tasmania including projects addressing 
family violence; early childhood engagement 
through schools; support for emerging Aboriginal 
enterprise such as the wukalina Cultural Walk; 
and investment in recruiting Aboriginal people to 
the Tasmanian State Government sector through 
the Tasmanian State Service Aboriginal Employment 
Strategy.

The 2021 Young Aboriginal Leaders Scholarship 
provided $2 500 per person to two recipients to 
help them meet costs associated with education 
and career opportunities people and support 
them in developing their leadership potential.

OAA also continued to manage the Stronger 
Remote Aboriginal Services project, facilitating 
ongoing delivery and management of housing on 
Flinders and Cape Barren Islands, and municipal 
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and essential services on Cape Barren Island, in 
partnership with the Flinders Island Aboriginal 
Association and Cape Barren Island Aboriginal 
Association.

OUR FUTURE PRIORITIES

A Tasmanian Food Security Strategy

A Food Security Strategy, focussed on supporting 
those who need it most, will be delivered 
within the Tasmanian Government’s first 100 
days following the 2021 State Election. CSR 
will then continue to collaborate with agencies 
across government, and with community sector 
organisations, to develop an Action Plan to 
realise the vision and goals of the Strategy to 
support an integrated food relief sector that 
supports Tasmanians in need to access sufficient, 
safe, nutritious, quality food, and to access 
services that support long-term food resilience. 

Women’s Workforce Participation

CSR will deliver a number of commitments 
to support women’s participation across the 
Tasmanian economy, including delivery of the 
$2 million Supporting Women to Succeed Grants 
Program, development of a Women in Building 
and Construction Strategy, and a Girls in 
Property pilot program.

Tasmanian Honour Roll of Women 2021

Veterans’ Health and Wellbeing Vouchers

CSR will focus on the development of a Health 
and Wellbeing Voucher scheme for veterans and 
ex-service personnel. The scheme will provide 
vouchers to veterans and ex-service personnel to 
invest in sporting club and gym memberships to 
support their mental health and wellbeing.

LGBTIQ+ Framework and Action Plan

Using the findings of a survey of LGBTIQ+ 
Tasmanians undertaken in partnership with 
UTAS in 2020-21, CSR will work with the 
Tasmanian Government’s LGBTIQ+ Reference 
Group to develop a new whole-of-government 
Framework and Action Plan to ensure that 
Tasmanian Government services are inclusive and 
remain relevant for LGBTIQ+ communities.

Multicultural Small Business Enterprise 
Loans Program

CSR will support the two year trial of a Small 
Business Enterprise Loan Scheme in partnership 
with the Migrant Resource Centre. The loans will 
assist migrants to set up their own businesses, 
and link them with industry bodies to support 
their success. 

Continued Leadership of and Support for 
the Sport and Recreation Sector 

CSR will develop and finalise a Tasmanian Sport 
and Active Recreation Strategy, and a Tasmanian 
Women and Girls in Sport and Active Recreation 
Strategy in consultation with the sector and 
Tasmanian community. 

We will continue to provide leadership 
and advice to State sport and recreation 
organisations on governance, strategic planning, 
financial management, child safeguarding, 
member protection and ethics. 

In addition, CSR will deliver key Tasmanian 
Government priorities including the Ticket to 
Play program and the Improving the Playing Field 
Grants Program, and continue to develop and 
inform future policies and initiatives. 
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Support Tasmanian athlete selection 
to represent Australia at their pinnacle 
sporting events in 2021-22

The TIS will help athletes reset, refresh and 
commence their preparation for the key selection 
events in 2021-22 to maximise their potential to 
achieve selection to represent Australia at the 
2022 Commonwealth Games in Birmingham 
and further develop their performances to 
target competing at the Paris 2024 Olympic and 
Paralympic Games.

Statewide Strategy for Sport and 
Recreation facilities

CSR will continue to develop a Statewide 
Strategy for Sport and Recreation Infrastructure 
during 2021-22. The intention of the Strategy 
is to inform decision making about future 
Tasmanian Government infrastructure 
investment to provide Tasmanians with increased 
opportunities to engage in physical activity.

Further funding support for improvement 
to playing facilities across Tasmania

In 2021-22, $10 million will be available to local 
government, and sport and active recreation 
clubs and associations to improve playing 
facilities across Tasmania, through the Improving 
the Playing Field Grants Program. The Grants 
Program will open in July 2021, and provide 
grants of between $25 000 and $500 000.

Continued Support of the Tasmanian 
Community

CSR will respond to the needs of the Tasmanian 
community through the continued best practice 
administration of grants programs and funding 
commitments, which are aimed at enhancing 
and strengthening cultural, economic and 
social outcomes for the Tasmanian community. 
These programs will continue to be integral 
to Tasmanian life in the recovery from the 
pandemic.

Closing the Gap

A major continuing priority for OAA in 
2021-22 will be working with the Coalition of 
Peaks partner, other Tasmanian Aboriginal 
community controlled organisations, and 
Aboriginal people, to deliver the Tasmanian 
Jurisdictional Implementation Plan for the 
National Agreement on Closing the Gap.

The Implementation Plan will help to create a 
stronger framework for the development of 
shared decision making structures, processes, 
and priorities to inform the progress of Closing 
the Gap in Tasmania. Communities Tasmania 
officers and the TAC will continue to engage 
with Tasmanian Aboriginal people, Aboriginal 
community-controlled organisations, all levels 
of government, and other service providers to 
investigate, identify and prioritise actions under 
the National Agreement.

Active Ageing Plan

With the Strong Liveable Communities: Tasmania’s 
Active Ageing Plan 2017-2022 set to expire in 
2022, the Department, in partnership with the 
Council on the Ageing Tasmania, began planning 
for the review of the Plan and the development 
of a new plan for 2023 onwards. 
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Housing, Disabilities and 
Community Services
Housing, Disability and Community Services (HDCS) is committed to delivering 
effective services to support the Tasmanian community at times of vulnerability 
through a range of assistance programs in the areas of affordable housing, disability, 
elder abuse, family support, gambling and sexual assault.

OUR TEAM

HDCS provides services to assist vulnerable 
Tasmanians to participate in the community 
and works with our partners to improve the 
access and effectiveness of services. The Division 
includes the Deputy Secretary, and six branches. 

Deputy Secretary, HDCS has primary 
responsibility for setting the directions of 
the Division and matching the purpose with 
operational requirements. 

Program Support Unit provides a 
co-ordinated support role to HDCS business 
units and the Department’s corporate groups. 

The primary functions of the unit focus on data, 
information and business systems, executive, 
business and administrative support including 
Ministerial and corporate liaison. 

Housing Programs provides planning, 
purchasing and performance functions to ensure 
that the overall housing system design is effective, 
and programs are operating both effectively and 
efficiently. This includes housing and performance 
advice, program development and program 
delivery. 

Portfolio and Supply delivers all asset 
management functions, including asset planning, 
maintenance, capital upgrading, construction, 

Exterior of new social housing in Hobart
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procurement, project management, upgrade and 
construction initiatives. It also delivers the Streets 
Ahead incentive program, HomeShare and open 
market sales. 

Tenancy Services is responsible for the 
tenancy management for Tasmania’s public 
housing which includes allocations, property 
inspections, lease renewals, rent arrears 
management and tenancy issues. 

Disability Services Policy and Programs 
(DSPP) is focussed on supporting individuals, 
families and carers to have greater control 
over matters that directly affect their lives and 
circumstances, promoting health and wellbeing, 
developing responsive and sustainable services 
and creating collaborative partnerships. The 
Branch includes:

• the Office of the Senior Practitioner which 
has responsibility for the authorisation of 
restrictive interventions in accordance with 
the Disability Services Act 2011; and

• the Tasmanian Autism Diagnostic Service 
which provides comprehensive diagnostic 
assessments for children and young people 
suspected of having autism spectrum 
disorder (ASD).

Community Services Policy and Programs 
(CSPP) has oversight of the provision of 
effective services and support to children, 
young people, individuals and families at times of 
vulnerability through a range of programs. This 
includes the commissioning of client support 
services, building capacity across government 
and the community, improving outcomes, and 
overseeing whole-of-government strategies. 

HDCS operates a range of services and functions 
provided either directly or with the assistance 
of our non-government sector partners. 
These include neighbourhood houses, Housing 
Connect, disability support providers and social 
housing organisations, including public housing 
tenancy management by Housing Tasmania.

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Community Housing Growth Program 
(CHGP)

The Tasmanian Government is building more 
homes for our most vulnerable and improving 
social housing for tenants, while boosting our 
economy and creating jobs. 

The CHGP, announced last year under the 
Rebuilding Tasmania Infrastructure Investment 
COVID-19 Response, is on track to deliver up to 
1 000 new social and affordable homes over the 
next three years.

The Expression of Interest process closed in 
November and the preliminary evaluation 
of submissions identified over 145 projects, 
translating to 765 dwellings to be delivered 
across the State.

The second round of the CHGP identified a 
further 104 dwellings by CHGP community 
housing providers locking in 868 new homes.

The Tasmanian Government’s investment of 
more than $100 million to deliver these new 
homes, will deliver a total capital investment 
of $260 million and over $700 million in total 
economic activity for the State. 

New dwellings will be spread across 20 Local 
Government Areas, providing homes for those 
who need them most and underpinning jobs in 
every region of the State.

The third round of the CHGP will be finalised 
during the 2021-22 year and will complete 
the target.

The CHGP will also increase choice and provide 
more access to good quality social housing for 
vulnerable Tasmanians.

During 2020-21, a closed Request for Proposal 
(RFP) was held with Tasmania’s four Tier 1 
registered community housing providers. 
The RFP assessed their capacity to manage a 
further 2 000 public housing properties under 
long-term management agreements until 2040. 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | 39 



This extended timeframe is critical to providing 
certainty and confidence to both tenants and 
financial institutions.

Under new Residential Management Agreements 
(RMAs) that are being finalised, the providers 
will expand their portfolios in suburbs close to 
areas they currently manage on behalf of Housing 
Tasmania: Mission Australia Housing (MAH) and 
Centacare Evolve Housing (CEH) in the South 
and Community Housing Limited (CHL) and 
Housing Choices Tasmania (HCT) in the North 
and North-West respectively. 

Delivery of this program will simultaneously 
strengthen Tasmania’s social housing system and 
ensure its sustainability as one of the nation’s 
most integrated and innovative models.

Progress on Affordable Housing Action 
Plan (AHAP) 2 

Work is continuing under Tasmania’s Affordable 
Housing Strategy 2015-2025. Under Action Plan 2, 
1 276 additional households have been assisted 
into safe and affordable housing. This includes 
the supply of 810 new homes, land lots, and 
new places in supported and homeless services. 
A further 466 households have been assisted 
into affordable homes through a range of other 
initiatives, including HomeShare.

Neighbourhood House Program - Capital 
Improvement Project (NHP-CIP)

Tasmania’s 35 Neighbourhood Houses are places 
where local communities can come together 
to access support, and develop community 
connections and personal skills. The Tasmanian 
Government is investing in capital upgrades to 
ensure Neighbourhood Houses continue to meet 
the needs of their communities.

The Tasmanian Government has doubled the 
funding to the NHP-CIP with $4 million now 
available to the program. The first stage of works 
is close to completion with works at 13 of 14 
sites finalised. During the next round, Functional 
Assessments for the remaining Neighbourhood 
Houses will be completed.

Emergency Response 

More people were able to access crisis 
accommodation with an additional 62 beds 
made available through this emergency response 
initiative. This included the installation of 28 
prefabricated units at existing crisis facilities 
and leasing seven large properties from the 
University of Tasmania.

Backyard Units for Young People

Backyard units is a successful initiative to help 
young people transition to a more independent 
living arrangement that is secure, comfortable, 
affordable and enables them to stay connected 
with their family. An additional 41 backyards units 
were delivered through this initiative.

Energy Efficiency

Housing Tasmania has invested over $1.5 million 
to improve the energy efficiency of public housing 
properties. The energy efficiency upgrades 
completed including cladding, floor covering, 
heat pump replacement, hot water system 
replacement, insulation/ventilation, LED lighting 
and window double glazing.

Sales Programs

The Streets Ahead Incentive Program assisted 
33 households to purchase a home from Housing 
Tasmania. 

HomeShare assisted 79 households buy their 
own home. Five of these homes were owned by 
the Director of Housing, 73 were house and land 
packages, and one was a new dwelling.

A review of HomeShare was also undertaken 
to identify how the program could be improved 
to increase participation. The review’s 
recommendations will be implemented with 
the procurement of the HomeShare provider 
from 1 July 2022.

40 | DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021



OUR FUTURE PRIORITIES

Tasmanian Housing Strategy 

The Premier’s Economic and Social Recovery 
Advisory Council (PESRAC) was established to 
provide advice on strategies and initiatives to 
support the short to medium, and the longer-
term recovery from COVID-19.

Four major themes emerged from wide public 
consultation conducted by PESRAC; including 
making sure the health system remains ready 
to deal with COVID-19, and addressing mental 
health, food, and housing needs.

The internationally recognised public health 
response to minimising COVID-19 transmission 
relies on everyone having access to safe and 
secure shelter where they can stay to reduce 
social contact and self-isolate when required.

PESRAC reported that Tasmanian housing 
markets were becoming increasingly 
dysfunctional and COVID-19 had not improved 
this situation. In fact, more Tasmanians were 
reporting challenges related to increasing house 
prices and lack of affordable private rentals. 

The Tasmanian Government is investing record 
amounts in the supply of social and affordable 
housing and homelessness initiatives. However, 
to make comprehensive change and build a 
sustainable housing system, a more strategic 
approach must be taken. This means optimising 
all the opportunities available to the State 
Government to influence the housing market 
through regulatory systems, strategic land use 
planning, policies, taxes, subsidies, and capital 
investment. 

PESRAC recommended that the Tasmanian 
Government develop a comprehensive Tasmanian 
Housing Strategy and drive practical actions 
to deliver more sustainable housing market 
outcomes across Tasmania for all Tasmanians.

Communities Tasmania will lead the development 
of the Strategy with consultation commencing 
early in the new financial year.

Affordable Housing Action Plan 2019-2023 
(Action Plan 2) 

The Tasmanian Government is on track to deliver 
1 500 new homes in the three years to the end 
of June 2023. As at 30 June 2021, 1 063 new 
social housing and supported accommodation 
had commenced works.

An additional $315 million has been committed 
towards social housing and affordable housing 
and homelessness across the State, bringing total 
investment to over $615 million over seven years. 
This will provide a total of 3 500 new social 
houses by 2027.

The investment will also contribute towards new 
supported accommodation facilities, new youth 
initiatives, incentives for home ownership and 
support for new ancillary dwellings.

Commonwealth State Housing 
Agreement (CSHA) Debt Waiver 

We are on track to achieve the target of 
providing housing assistance to around 400 
households by June 2023, including 300 new 
social housing dwellings. Almost 250 new units 
have been started.

The CSHA debt waiver will provide around 
$58.4 million in the four-year period between 
2019-2023. This will provide housing assistance 
to around 400 households including the 
construction of 300 new homes. Almost 250 
of these homes have already had commenced 
works.

Community Housing Growth Program 
(CHGP)

The third round of the CHGP will be finalised 
during the 2021-22 year and complete the target 
of 1 000 new houses over the next three years.

During 2021-22, new Residential Management 
Agreements will be finalised with community 
housing providers. New tenancy management 
arrangements will be in place by December 2021.
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Housing Connect Reform 

The Housing Connect Reform project will drive 
new and improved ways for Tasmanians to get 
better access to housing assistance and to help 
those who need it to develop strong connections 
to family and community and build their 
capabilities for independent living. 

There will be four major changes resulting from 
the reform: (i) more help; (ii) personalised 
support; (iii) informing supply; and (iv) skilled and 
supported staff.

The Reform is being delivered from existing grant 
funds to Housing Connect providers.

Housing Connect 2.0 will commence full 
implementation in July 2023, including a new 
Online Housing Portal.

Neighbourhood Houses Strategic 
Framework 2019-2023 Review 

The Neighbourhood Houses Strategic 
Framework 2019-2023 (Framework) is a 
demonstration of the strong partnership 
the Tasmanian Government has with the 
Neighbourhood House network and the sector 
peak body Neighbourhood Houses Tasmania 
(NHT). Consultation on the review process 
has commenced with Neighbourhood Houses 
Tasmania and the review of the Framework will 
begin during 2021-22 ahead of its release for 
2024-2029. The upcoming version will be the 
fourth iteration and will continue to build on 
the legacy of previous frameworks, reflecting 
the contemporary nature and maturation of the 
network. 

Disability Services Act 2011 (DSA) Review 

The DSA provides the framework for funding 
service providers, researchers and individuals 
with disability, and for the approval and 
conduct of restrictive practices. Since the DSA 
commenced there has been significant change 
in the delivery of specialist disability services. 
The National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013 
(Cth) (NDIS Act) has been legislated and the 
NDIS has been fully operational in Tasmania 
since 1 July 2019. There are consequently large 
portions of the DSA that are no longer required 
and other parts of the DSA that require revision 
to align with current quality and safeguarding 
arrangements. 

During 2021-22 Communities Tasmania 
will undertake a major review of the DSA. 
The objective of the review is to deliver 
contemporary legislation that aligns with the 
role of the Tasmanian Government in supporting 
Tasmanians with disability, supports the delivery 
of high quality and safe services for people with 
disability, and supports national and international 
commitments.

Establish a Tasmanian Disability Services 
Commissioner 

The Tasmanian Government has made a 
commitment to establish a Tasmanian Disability 
Commissioner, for continuous improvement in 
delivery of supports and services for people with 
disability, with an investment of $1.2 million over 
four years. 

The Disability Commissioner will act as an 
independent body, and will support continuous 
improvement in the delivery of services to 
people with disability. 

Communities Tasmania will undertake 
consultation with Tasmanians with lived 
experience of disability to establish their views 
on the role and functions of a Disability Services 
Commissioner as part of the DSA Review. 

42 | DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES TASMANIA | ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021



Our Legislation and 
Transparency  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS AND MINISTERS

As at 30 June 2021, the Department of Communities Tasmania administers 
the following legislation on behalf of Ministers who have been assigned portfolio 
responsibilities under the Administrative Arrangements Order 2020.

Minister for Aboriginal Affairs

Stolen Generations of Aboriginal Children Act 2006

Minister for Disability Services

Disability Services Act 2011

Guide Dogs and Hearing Dogs Act 1967

Minister for State Development, Construction and Housing

Community Housing Providers National Law (Tasmania) Act 2013

Fire Damage Relief Act 1967 - in so far as it relates to the erection of dwellings for renting to eligible 
persons under the Homes Act 1935 (otherwise see Department of State Growth under the Minister for 
State Growth)

Homes Act 1935 - except in so far as it relates to the lending of funds for home ownership 
(see Department of Treasury and Finance under the Treasurer)

Minister for Children and Youth

Adoption Act 1988

Child Protection (International Measures) Act 2003

Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1997

Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Transitional and Savings Provisions) Act 1998

Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2016

Youth Justice Act 1997 - except in so far as it relates to the establishment and operation of the Magistrates 
Court (Youth Justice Division – see Department of Justice under the Minister for Justice)
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Minister for Community Services and Development

Pensioners (Heating Allowances) Act 1971

Tasmanian Community Fund Act 2005

Minister for Veterans’ Affairs

Anzac Day Observance Act 1929

Anzac Day Trust Winding-up Act 2020

Ex-Serviceman’s Badges Act 1967

BILLS TABLED 

Anzac Day Trust Winding-Up Bill 2020

Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill 2021

KEY CHANGES TO LEGISLATION

There were no changes made to legislation administered by the Department of Communities Tasmania 
during 2020-21.

SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION

There was no subordinate legislation made to support any of the legislation administered by the 
Department during 2020-21.

RIGHT TO INFORMATION

The Right to Information Act 2009 gives members of the public the right to obtain information contained in 
the records of the Government and public authorities unless it is exempt from disclosure under the Act. 
The Act provides a framework for the disclosure of information to the Tasmanian community to improve 
transparency in government and encourages routine disclosure of information.
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RIGHT TO INFORMATION 

Number of applications Number

1 Number of applications for assessed disclosure received during 2020-21 127

2 Number of applications for assessed disclosure accepted for decision 120

3 Number of applications for assessed disclosure received and not accepted for decision 7

Applications decided Number

1 Number of applications for assessed disclosure determined 55

1.1 Number of applications accepted during 2020-21 and decided during 2020-21 55

1.2 Number of applications accepted during 2019-20 and decided during 2020-21 0

Outcome of applications Number

1 Number of determinations where the information applied for was provided in full 20

2
Number of determinations where the information applied for was provided in part 
with the balance refused or claimed as exempt

22

3
Number of determinations where all the information applied for was refused or 
claimed as exempt

2

3.1
Number of applications where the information applied for was not in the possession 
of the public authority

11

Reasons for refusal1 Number

s.5 
s.11 
s.17

Refusal where information requested was not within the scope of the Act  
(s.5 – Not official business; s.11 – available at Archives Office and s.17 – Deferred) 

8

0

0

s.9 
s.12

Refusal where information is otherwise available or will become otherwise available in 
the next 12 months

3

3

s.10 
s.19

Refusal where resources of public authority unreasonably diverted
0

0

s.20
Refusal where application repeated; or Vexatious; or Lacking in definition 
after negotiation

0

Note: 
1 Applications can be refused for one or more of the above reasons.
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Exemptions Number

s.25 Executive Council Information 0

s.26 Cabinet Information 0

s.27 Internal briefing information of a Minister 2

s.28 Information not relating to official business 0

s.29 Information affecting national or state security, defence or international relations 0

s.30 Information relating to the enforcement of the law 0

s.31 Legal professional privilege 1

s.32 Information relating to closed meetings of council 0

s.34 Information communicated by other jurisdictions 0

s.35 Internal deliberative information 3

s.36 Personal information of a person other than the applicant 20

s.37 Information relating to the business affairs of a third party 2

s.38 Information relating to the business affairs of a public authority 0

s.39 Information obtained in confidence 0

s.40 Information on procedures and criteria used in certain negotiations of public authority 0

s.41 Information likely to affect the State economy 0

s.42 Information likely to affect cultural, heritage and natural resources of the State 0

Withdrawn or transferred Number

1 Number of applications withdrawn by the applicant 3

2
Number of applications for assessed disclosure transferred or part transferred to 
another public authority

4

Time to make decisions Number

Number of requests determined within the following timeframes.

1 1 - 20 working days of the application being accepted 11

2 More than 20 working days of the application being accepted 44

3
Number of requests which took more than 20 working days to decide that involved 
an extension negotiated under s.15(4)(a) 3

4
Number of requests which took more than 20 working days to decide that involved 
an extension gained through an application to the Ombudsman under s.15(4)(b) 5

5
Number of requests which took more than 20 working days to decide that involved 
consultation with a third party under s.15(5) 1
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Reviews 
Internal reviews Number

Number of internal reviews requested in 2020-21 1

Number of internal reviews determined in 2020-21 0

Number where the original decision was upheld in full 0

Number where the original decision was upheld in part 1

Number where the original decision was reversed in full 0

External reviews (reviews by the ombudsman) Number

Number of external reviews requested in 2020-21 0

Number of external reviews determined in 2020-21 0

Number where the original decision was upheld in full 0

Number where the original decision was upheld in part 0

Number where the original decision was reversed in full 0

Public Interest Disclosure

Under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002, section 86, Communities Tasmania is required to report on 
any disclosures made about improper conduct by our public officers or by the Department.

Public Interest Disclosures 2020-21 Number

The number and types of disclosures made to Communities Tasmania during the year 
and the number of disclosures determined to be a public interest disclosure 0

The number of disclosures determined by Communities Tasmania to be public interest 
disclosures that it investigated during the year 0

The number and types of disclosed matters referred to Communities Tasmania 
during the year by the Ombudsman 0

The number and types of disclosed matters referred during the year by Communities 
Tasmania to the Ombudsman to investigate 0

The number and types of investigations of disclosed matters taken over by the 
Ombudsman from Communities Tasmania during the year 0

The number and types of disclosed matters that Communities Tasmania has 
declined to investigate during the year 0

The number and type of disclosed matters that were substantiated upon investigation 
and the action taken on completion of the investigation 0

Any recommendations made by the Ombudsman that relate to Communities Tasmania 0
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CONSULTANCIES, CONTRACTS AND TENDERS

The Department ensures procurement is undertaken in accordance with the mandatory requirements of 
the Treasurer’s Instructions relating to procurement, including that Tasmanian businesses are given every 
opportunity to compete for business. 

Table 1 provides a summary of the level of participation by local businesses for contracts, tenders and/or 
quotations with a value of $50 000 or over (excluding GST).

Tables 2 and 3 provide detailed information on consultancies and other contracts with a value of $50 000 
or over (excluding GST). 

Table 4 provides a summary of contracts where approval for direct/limited submission sourcing was 
obtained in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction PP-2.

Table 5 provides a summary of contracts where approval to aggregate the procurement was obtained in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction PF-2.

There were no contract extensions approved pursuant to Treasurer’s Instruction PP-6.

Table 1 - Summary of participation by local businesses

Participation by local businesses for contracts, tenders and/or quotation processes with a value of 
$50 000 or over. 

Number / amount

Total number of contracts awarded 26

Total number of contracts awarded to Tasmanian businesses 22

Value of contracts awarded1 $58 090 209

Value of contracts awarded to Tasmanian businesses1 $57 613 609

Total number of tenders called and/or quotation processes run 9

Total number of bids and/or written quotations received 46

Total number of bids and/or written quotations received from 
Tasmanian businesses 39

Notes:
1 In accordance with the requirements of the Treasurer’s Instructions, the values in this table do not include the value of any 

options to extend.
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Table 2 - Consultancies awarded1

Consultancies awarded during the 2020-21 financial year with a value of $50 000 or over.

Consultant Name Location
Consultancy 
Description

Period of  
Consultancy

Total 
Value $

ARTAS Pty Ltd Tas
Indoor Multi-sport 
Facility Glenorchy – 
Principal Consultant

09/02/2021 - 29/11/2023 1 570 669

Brotherhood of St 
Laurence

Vic
Review of the Integrated 
Family Support Services

07/01/2021 - 30/6/2021 50 000

EHWB Pty Ltd t/a 
Heffernan Button Voss 
Architects 

Tas

Burnie Youth Crisis 
and Transitional Units 
– Architectural and 
Superintendent Services

11/08/2020 - 30/10/2022 613 639

Geometry Pty Ltd Tas
Housing Management 
System and Maintenance 
Contract

01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021 54 206

Jaws Architects Tas
Burnie Youth Foyer – 
Architectural & Contract 
Administration Services

01/07/2021 - 30/06/2024 746 783

JFA Purple Orange SA
State-based authorisation 
processes for use of 
restrictive interventions

21/01/2021 - 30/06/2021 83 410

Liminal Architecture Tas
Hobart Youth Foyer – 
Architectural & Contract 
Administration Services

22/12/2020 - 30/04/2024 1 039 085

Mercer Consulting 
Pty Ltd

Vic
Child Safety Officers 
Remuneration Study

01/05/2021 - 01/08/2021 57 200

Morrison & 
Breytenbach 
Architects Pty Ltd

Tas
73a New Town Road 
– Architectural and 
Planning Services

24/08/2020 - 20/11/2020 146 840

Philp Lighton 
Architects Pty Ltd

Tas

TIS Upgrade – 
Silverdome Complex – 
Architectural & Contract 
Administration Services

17/06/2021 - 31/05/2023 67 800

PriceWaterhouse 
Cooper

Vic
HomeShare and Streets 
Ahead Review 

01/09/2020 - 28/05/2021 285 990

SGS Economics and 
Planning

Tas
Housing Connect Reform 
Data Mapping

04/06/2021 - 31/08/2021 97 614

Tim Penny 
Architecture & 
Interiors Pty Ltd

Tas
New Bethlehem House – 
Architectural & Contract 
Administration Services

30/09/2020 - 30/06/2024 1 432 759

Notes:
1 Where an overarching procurement process exists (for example Common Use Contracts and Agency Panel arrangements) 

individual engagements are not reported.  
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Table 3 - Contracts awarded1

Contracts awarded during the 2020-21 financial year with a value of $50 000 or over, excluding 
consultancy contracts.

Contractor Name Location Contract Description Period of Contract
Total 

Value $

Alive Technologies 
Group Pty Ltd

Tas
Supply of Performance 
Stage for Launceston 
Silverdome

26/04/2021 - 27/09/2021  407 898

Complete Grounds & 
Garden Mainte-nance 
Pty Ltd

Tas
Provision of Landscaping 
Works and Services

01/07/2021 - 30/06/20223 1 200 000

Cunic Homes Pty Ltd Tas
Site Redevelopment 
Program Round 4 – 12-14 
Bellette Place Chigwell

27/07/2020 - 31/05/2021  595 015

Cunic Homes Pty Ltd Tas
Site Redevelopment 
Program Round 4 – 12 
Teal Street Claremont

27/07/2020 - 31/05/2021  574 329

Cunic Homes Pty Ltd Tas
Site Redevelopment 
Program Round 4 – 5 
Wesley Place Chigwell

27/07/2020 - 31/05/2021 1 768 820

Cunic Homes Pty Ltd Tas
Site Redevelopment 
Program Round 4 – 5 
Crossin Court Chigwell

27/07/2020 - 31/05/2021  801 787

Fairbrother Pty Ltd Tas
Ashley Youth Detention 
Centre Redevelopment

24/11/2020 - 24/11/2021 6 239 369

Macquarie Builders Pty 
Ltd

Tas
Oakleigh Court Internal 
Refurbish-ment Project

31/07/2020 - 24/12/2021 3 546 043

RTC Facilities 
Maintenance (Tas) 
Pty Ltd

Tas
Launceston Youth at Risk 
Centre

07/06/2021 - 29/07/2022 2 321 363

RTC Facilities 
Maintenance (Tas) 
Pty Ltd

NSW2

Provision of General 
Maintenance Works 
and Services to Housing 
Tasmania’s Property 
Portfolio - South Region

01/02/2021 - 30/06/2023 25 000 000

Squiz Australia Pty Ltd Vic2
Web Hosting, Software 
and Support Services

01/11/2020 - 31/10/2021  90 750

Total Building and 
Excavations Pty Ltd

Tas

Site Redevelopment 
Program Round 4 – 5 
Robbins Place West 
Moonah

27/07/2020 - 31/05/2021  546 580

Vos Construction and 
Joinery Pty Ltd

Tas
Thyne House Residential 
Extensions

07/06/2021 - 23/09/2022 8 752 260

Notes:
1 Where an overarching procurement process exists (for example Common Use Contracts and Agency Panel arrangements) 

individual engagements are not reported. 

2 An organisation whose principal place of business is not in Tasmania but has a permanent office or presence in Tasmania and 
employs Tasmanian workers.

3 Where a commencement date is from 1 July 2021 onwards, the contractual arrangements for the procurement were finalised 
in 2020-21.
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Table 4: Direct/Limited Submission Sourcing 

Treasurer’s Instruction PP-2 provides the Head of Agency with the discretion, where specified 
circumstances exist, to approve the direct sourcing or seeking of limited submissions from a supplier or 
suppliers without the need to seek quotations or call for tenders. 

Table 4 provides a summary of contracts awarded by the Department in 2020-21 as a result of a 
direct/limited submission sourcing process approved in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction PP-2. 

Contractor Name Contractor Description
Reasons for 
Approval

Total Value 
$

Complete Grounds & 
Garden Maintenance 
Pty Ltd

Provision of Landscaping 
Works and Services

Urgency brought about 
by events unforeseeable

1 200 000

RTC Facilities 
Maintenance (Tas) 
Pty Ltd

Provision of General 
Maintenance Works and Services 
to Housing Tasmania’s Property 
Portfolio – South Region

Urgency brought about 
by events unforeseeable

25 000 000

Table 5 – Disaggregation exemptions

Treasurer’s Instruction PF-2 provides the Head of Agency with discretion to approve an exemption from 
the requirement to disaggregate substantial contracts where the benefits of aggregation clearly outweigh 
the potential negative impact on local small and medium sized enterprises/the local economy.

The following table provides details of contracts awarded by the Department in 2020-21 where approval 
was granted to aggregate the procurement.

Contract Description Total Value $

Indoor Multi-sport Facility Glenorchy - Principal Consultant 1 570 669

Supply of Performance Stage for Launceston Silverdome  407 898

Ashley Youth Detention Centre Redevelopment 6 239 369

Launceston Youth at Risk Centre 2 321 363

Oakleigh Court Internal Refurbishment Project 3 546 043

Provision of General Maintenance Works and Services to 
Housing Tasmania’s Property Portfolio - South Region 25 000 000

Provision of Landscaping Works and Services 1 200 000

Site Redevelopment Program Round 4 4 286 531

Thyne House Residential Extensions 8 752 260

Hotel Quarantine Payments 

Category Total Value $

Accommodation and Meals 32 598 858

Transport 2 406 231

Security 11 281 098

Other 6 725 502

TOTAL                                                                  53 011 688
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ENERGY USE AND EMISSIONS 

2019-20 2020-21

Energy Use Volume
Emissions 

(t CO2e)
Volume

Emissions 
(t CO2e)

Electricity (kWh) 2 845 754 427 3 109 703 529

Air travel (passenger kms) 307 495 78 318 556 78

Transport fuel (litres) 51 570 130 57 242 144

Emissions total 635 751

Notes:

1. In 2019-20 the Tasmanian Government implemented a new whole-of-government energy and emissions reporting system. 
Figures are from that system. 

2. t CO2e = Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

3. Greenhouse gas emissions are calculated using emissions factors and methods from the National Greenhouse and Energy 
Reporting (Measurement) Determination 2008 and published in the National Greenhouse Accounts Factors for 2019 and 
2020. Note that these emissions factors are calculated each year and the factor for scope 2 emissions from grid delivered 
electricity in Tasmania is slightly higher for 2020 than for 2019. 

4. Where data is available, fuel use is recorded as diesel, ethanol blend and unleaded petrol. Each fuel type has its own 
emissions factor calculation. 

5. Fuel figures are derived from fleet vehicles, vehicle hire and bulk fuel purchases on whole-of-government contracts managed 
by Department of Treasury and Finance. 
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Our Performance Measures
CHILDREN, YOUTH AND FAMILIES

Performance Measure1,2 Unit of 
Measure

2017-18 
Actual

2018-19 
Actual

2019-20 
Actual

2020-21 
Actual

Children Services

Contacts to the Strong Families Safe Kids 
Advice and Referral Line3,4 Number N/A 7 774 12 222 14 111

Children in notifications 
(per 1 000 of population)

Rate 54.3 36.0 14.8 15.8

Contacts to the Advice and Referral Line 
resolved with a referral to family support or 
other services3,4

Number N/A 351 824 1 141

Referrals to the Child Safety Service for 
Assessment3,5 Number 1 291 1 353 797 855

Average daily children pending Child Safety 
Service assessment6 Number 38.0 147.8 41.0 54.4

Assessment outcome determined within 
28 days7 % 16.7 7.1 6.8 13.7

Children who were the subject of a 
substantiation during the previous year, who 
were the subject of a subsequent 
substantiation within 12 months8

% 19.5 19.6 15.7 16.3

Average daily children in out of home care9 Number 1 009.8 1 065.1 1 102.9 1 086.4

Children with approved case and care plans10 % 98.6 98.8 98.5 98.3

Foster care households with five or more 
foster children as at 30 June

% 6.1 5.2 4.7 4.8

Children in out of home care who had 3+ 
non respite placements in the last 12 months9 % 5.8 6.9 4.1 4.0

Children with Children and Young 
Person’s Program (CHYPP) status ‘referral 
assessment completed’ as at 30 June

Number 67 46 86 94

Notes:

1 The continual entry of data means some figures above may be retrospectively updated from those previously published.
2 The 2020-21 actuals are preliminary and may differ from figures published in national reports.
3 This is a new measure for the activity of the Strong Families, Safe Kids Advice and Referral Line, which commenced in December 2018.
4 Figures for 2018-19 are partial year, as the Strong Families, Safe Kids Advice and Referral Line only commenced in December 2018.
5 This measure is the number of referrals from the Advice and Referral Line to the Child Safety Service for a Child Safety Assessment.
6 The title of this measure has been changed from “Average daily children in active transition at Response” to align with current 

terminology. Figures are comparable to those previously reported.
7 The title of this measure has been changed from “Investigation outcome determined within 28 days” to align with current terminology. 

Figures from 2017-18 to 2019-20 are comparable to those previously reported. From 2020-21 onwards the performance measure only 
calculates time taken to complete an assessment once the matter has been referred to the Child Safety Service for a full child safety 
assessment.

8 The 2020-21 actual for this measure is preliminary and may be revised in future periods.
9 This measure is affected by a change in scope of children in out of home care to align with national reporting. Children on third party 

guardianship orders are now excluded. Figures for previous years have been adjusted accordingly.
10 The measure reports the proportion of children on care and protection orders who have a case and care plan developed and 

approved. The measure is different to the Report of Government Service case and care plan indicator.
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CUSTODIAL AND COMMUNITY YOUTH JUSTICE

Performance Measure1,2 Unit of 
Measure

2017-18 
Actual

2018-19 
Actual

2019-20  
Actual

2020-21  
Actual

Custodial Youth Justice

Average daily young people in 
Youth Justice detention3

Number 11.4 11.5 15.4 9.4

Distinct number of young people in 
Youth Justice detention

Number 58 62 54 47

Community Youth Justice

Average daily young people in 
Community Youth Justice3 Number 182.4 212.9 193.2 156.4

Distinct number of young people in 
Community Youth Justice

Number 399 415 391 360

Community Service Orders completed 
before the statutory expiry date

% 83.8 94.4 67.0 93.2

Youth Justice Community conferences held 
within six weeks of receipt of referral for 
conference 

% 83.8 83.7 70.8 77.2

Notes:
 1 The continual entry of data means some figures above may be retrospectively updated from those previously published.
2   The 2020-21 actuals are preliminary and may differ from figures published in national reports.
3 The counting rules for these measures have been revised for 2020-21 to include the last day of each episode of supervision.
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COMMUNITIES, SPORT AND RECREATION

Performance Measure
Unit of 

Measure
2017-18  
Actual

2018-19  
Actual

2019-20  
Actual

2020-21  
Actual

Percentage of applicants satisfied with 
public grants program administration

% 100  97 97 97

New Seniors Cards issued Number 7 534 7 895 6 923 5 951

New Companion Cards issued Number 287 325 394 268

New Seniors Card program 
business partners

Number 25 44 52 36

New business, venues and events affiliated 
with Companion Card program

Number 1 4 2 2

Actions on schedule against the milestones 
and timeframes identified in Resetting the 
Relationship with the Tasmanian Aboriginal 
community5

% 77 771 84 82

Performance of Tasmanian athletes at 
benchmark international sporting events

Number 24 20 163 N/A4

Representation of women on Government 
boards and committees

% 41 452 46 48

Notes: 
1  Performance against this measure was the same for 2018-19 as for 2017-18. This was coincidental, and due to new actions 

being added to the Reset agenda at a similar rate to existing actions being completed.

2 As at 31 March 2019.

3 This Key Performance Indicator has been affected by the impacts of COVID-19 with access to international competition was 
severely limited during 2019-20 due to COVID-19 restrictions.

4 Due to COVID-19 there were insufficient viable competitions for a performance benchmark for the 2020-21 period.

5 This performance measure is to be reviewed to consider the Reset initiatives and new commitments under the National 
Agreement on Closing the Gap to better reflect the full range of activities and services being undertaken by the Government.
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HOUSING, DISABILITY AND COMMUNITY SERVICES

Performance Measure
Unit of 

Measure
2017-18 
Actual

2018-19 
Actual

2019-20 
Actual

2020-21 
Actual

Disability Services

Accommodation support clients Number 1 201 1 084 N/A N/A

Community access clients Number 961 375 N/A N/A

Supported accommodation waiting list Number 39 0 N/A N/A

Proportion of the NDIS eligible population 
transitioned to the NDIS full scheme % 61 0 100.0 100.00

Active NDIS participants Number 2 200 4 416 8 858 10 657

Number of authorised restrictive practices 
(percentage of active NDIS participants) % N/A N/A 0.4 0.3

Number of Autism Assessments completed Number N/A N/A 217 264

Housing Tasmania

Public Housing occupancy rate % 98.8 99.2 99.3 99.4

Applicants housed1 Number 901 1 054 1 060 816

New allocations to those in greatest need % 98.3 100 97.4 96.8

Households assisted through Private 
Rental Assistance Number 2 839 2 242 2 153 1 547

Applicants on the Housing Register Number 3 216 3 330 3 373 4 144

Average wait time for people who are 
housed (year to date) Weeks 63.4 57.1 61.8 68.0

Average time to house priority 
applicants (quarterly)2 Weeks 59.6 67.1 63.6 53.6

Net recurrent cost per dwelling3 $ 8 638 8 645 8 743 N/A

Turnaround time4 Days 28.4 20.5 20.4 29.2

Notes:

1 This indicator includes applicants housed into public or community housing from the Housing Register.

2 This performance indicator has been amended from only public housing, to applicants housed in all social housing.

3 Figures from previous years are updated to reflect comparable data based on 2019-20 dollars. The 2020-21 actuals were not 
available from the Report on Government Services at the time of reporting. Figures are for public housing only and exclude 
State Owned and Managed Indigenous Housing.

4 The 2020-21 figure fluctuated during the month June 2021 and figures have been much lower on average during the year.
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Statement of Certification 
The accompanying Financial Statements of the Department of Communities Tasmania (the Department) are 
in agreement with the relevant accounts and records and have been prepared in compliance with the 
Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2016 to present fairly 
the financial transactions for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position as at the end of that 
year. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

Michael Pervan                                Rod Fazackerley 

Accountable Authority                               Accountable Authority 

   Dated 24th day of September 2021           Dated 24th day of September 2021 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 Notes 2021 2021 2020 

  Budget Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations     

Revenue from Government 
    

Appropriation revenue - operating 
6.1 555 634  565 227 530 686 

Appropriation revenue - capital 
6.1 107 010  83 005 46 630 

Other revenue from Government 
6.1 27 372  21 724 6 942 

Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds 
6.2 0  1 673 1 308 

Grants 
6.3 12 336  13 927 12 956 

Sales of goods and services 
6.4 0  1 712 1 056 

Interest  
6.5 8   23 32 

Contributions received  
6.6 0   0 157 842 

Revenue from rental dwellings 
6.7 53 141  53 337 55 113 

Other revenue  
6.8 27 481  19 978 35 608 

Total revenue from continuing operations  782 982  760 606 848 173 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 7.1 11 449 (357) (5 853) 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 7.2 0 (556) (480) 

Other gain(loss) 7.3 3 591   939   327 

Total income from continuing operations  798 022  760 632  842 167 

     

Expenses from continuing operations     

Employee benefits 
8.1 86 444  90 156  87 844 

Depreciation and amortisation  
8.2 27 212  36 437  34 171 

Supplies and consumables 
8.3 145 563  149 842  150 590 

Grants and subsidies 
8.4 458 905  479 655  455 385 

Finance costs 
8.5 0   157   190 

Other expenses  
8.6 1 097  5 206  6 522 

Total expenses from continuing operations  719 221  761 453  734 702 

Net result from continuing operations  78 801 (821)  107 465 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods     

Net actuarial gains/(losses) on superannuation defined benefit plans 10.4 0   424 (51) 

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 12.1 41 794  131 600  4 076 

Total other comprehensive income  41 794  132 024  4 025 

Comprehensive result  120 595  131 203  111 490 
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This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 4 of the 
accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 20.5 for details. 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021 
 Notes 2021 2021 2020 

  Budget Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets     

Financial assets 
    

Cash and cash equivalents 
13.1 57 453  70 251 82 016 

Receivables 
9.1 7 501  16 024 7 844 

Loan advances 
9.2   267  1 347   723 

HomeShare investments 
9.3  33 542  27 277  25 744 

Other financial assets 
9.4   341  2 701   524 

Non-financial assets 
    

Assets held for sale 
9.5  5 185  1 108  1 093 

Property, plant and equipment 
9.6 2 126 741 1 868 300 1 863 523 

Service Concession Assets 
9.7   0  821 120  684 724 

Right-of-use assets 
9.8   0  1 666  3 060 

Intangible assets 
9.9  4 218  1 279  2 507 

Other assets 
9.10   56   263   714 

Total assets  2 235 304 2 811 336 2 672 472 

     

Liabilities     

Payables 
10.1  29 137  14 164  11 716 

Lease liabilities 
10.2   0  1 704  2 895 

Employee benefit liabilities 
10.3  18 592  23 243  21 458 

Superannuation 
10.4  7 862  6 761  7 553 

Other liabilities 
10.5  16 085  12 547  7 136 

Total liabilities   71 676  58 419  50 758 

     

Net assets   2 163 628 2 752 917 2 621 714 

     

Equity     

Reserves 
12.1  713 828  755 206  628 873 

Accumulated funds 
 1 449 800 1 997 711 1 992 841 

Total equity  2 163 628 2 752 917 2 621 714 

 

This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 4 of the 
accompanying notes. 
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The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 20.5 for details. 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 

Notes 

 

 

2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Cash inflows 
    

Appropriation receipts - operating 
  555 634  565 227  530 686 

Appropriation receipts – capital 
  107 010  42 443  19 863 

Appropriation receipts - other 
  27 372  21 724   0 

Grants – Continuing operations 
  12 336  11 688  11 537 

Sales of goods and services 
   0   206  2 369 

GST receipts 
  31 597  27 595  25 455 

Interest received 
   8   23   32 

Revenue from rental dwellings 
  53 101  52 471  54 812 

Other cash receipts 
  27 481  12 083  35 098 

Total cash inflows   814 539  733 460  679 852 

Cash outflows     

Employee benefits 
 (86 245) (88 739) (88 121) 

Finance costs  
   0 (157) (190) 

GST payments 
 (31 298) (27 651) (24 531) 

Grants and transfer payments 
 (458 905) (476 217) (403 618) 

Supplies and consumables 
 (145 590) (145 760) (165 179) 

Other cash payments 
 (1 097) (5 058) (6 362) 

Total cash outflows  (723 135) (743 582) (688 001) 

Net cash from / (used by) operating activities 13.2  91 404 (10 122) (8 149) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Cash inflows     

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets 
  11 449  10 004  9 486 

Repayment of loans by other entities 
   0   216   126 

Receipts from investments 
   0  5 246  3 020 

Receipts from non-operational capital funding – Capital 
   0  40 562  26 767 

Total cash inflows   11 449  56 028  39 399 

Cash outflows     

Payments for acquisition of non-financial assets 
 (116 575) (49 798) (34 534) 

Payments for investments 
  3 873 (5 842) (5 854) 

Payment of loan advances to other entities  
  0 (840)   0 

Total cash outflows  (112 702) (56 480) (40 388) 

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities  (101 253) (452) (989) 
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Notes 

 

 

2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Cash flows from financing activities        

Cash outflows     

Repayment of lease liabilities (excluding interest) 
   0 (1 191) (1 019) 

Total cash outflows    0 (1 191) (1 019) 

Net cash from /(used by) financing activities    0 (1 191) (1 019) 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  (9 849) (11 765) (10 157) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period 

 
 67 302  82 016  92 173 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period 13.1  57 453  70 251  82 016 

     

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 4 of the 
accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 20.5 for details. 

The 2019-20 figures have also been updated to include newly identified non-operational capital funds. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

Notes 

Contributed 
Equity 

Reserves Accumulated 
Funds 

Total 

Equity 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020    0  628 873 1 992 841 2 621 714 

Net result    0   0 (821) (821) 

Other comprehensive income    0  131 600   424  132 024 

Total comprehensive result    0  131 600 (397)  131 203 

Transfers from asset revaluation reserve to accumulated funds 12.1   0 (5 267)  5 267   0 

Balance as at 30 June 2021    0  755 206 1 997 711 2 752 917 

      

 

Notes 

Contributed 
Equity 

Reserves Accumulated 
Funds 

Total 

Equity 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2019    0  638 448 1 189 689 1 828 137 

Adjustment due to change in accounting policy 20.5     

   Assets brought onto the BS - AASB 1059    0   0  681 555  681 555 

   Create ARR - AASB 1059    0 (1 811)  1 811   0 

Restated balance as at 1 July 2019    0  636 637 1 873 055 2 509 692 

Net result    0   0  107 465  107 465 

Other comprehensive income    0  4 076 (51)  4 025 

Total comprehensive result    0  4 076  107 414  111 490 

Transfers from asset revaluation reserve to accumulated funds 12.1   0 (10 426)  10 426   0 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Administrative restructure – Contributions by owners 12.2   0   0   532   532 

Create ARR – Transferred asset 12.2   0 (1 414)  1 414   0 

Total    0 (1 414)  1 946   532 

Balance as at 30 June 2020    0  628 873 1 992 841 2 621 714 

      

This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 20.5 for details. 
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Note 1 Administered Financial Statements 
The Department administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the Government as a 
whole. It is accountable for the transactions involving such administered resources, but does not have the 
discretion to deploy resources for the achievement of the Department’s objectives. 

1.1 Schedule of Administered Income and Expenses 

 

Notes 2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Administered revenue      

Revenue from Government     

Appropriation revenue – Reserved by Law 17.1  7 597  7 535  7 458 

Grants     

Appropriation revenue – C-19 – Community Support Fund 17.2  4 700  12 439   0 

Total administered revenue    12 297  19 974  7 458 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 17.3   0   74   0 

Total administered income   12 297  19 900  7 458 

     

Administered expenses      

Transfer to Tasmanian Community Fund 17.4  7 097  7 035  6 958 

Transfer to Tasmanian Icon – State Cricket Team 17.4   500   500   500 

Transfer to C-19 - Community Support Fund 17.4  4 700  11 160   0 

Total administered expenses   12 297  18 695  7 458 

Administered net result    0  1 205   0 

 

This Schedule of Administered Income and Expenses should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

1.2 Schedule of Administered Assets and Liabilities 

 

Notes 2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Administered assets      

Administered financial assets     

Receivables 17.5   0  1 255   0 

Total administered assets     0  1 255   0 

     

Administered liabilities      

Inter-entity balance 17.6   0   50   0 
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Notes 2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Total administered liabilities    0   50   0 

     

Administered net assets (liabilities)    0  1 205   0 

     

Administered equity     

Accumulated Funds 1.3   0  1 205   0 

Total administered equity    0  1 205   0 

 

This Schedule of Administered Asset and Liabilities should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

1.3 Schedule of Administered Changes in Equity 

 

 Accum 
Funds 

$’000 

Total 
Equity 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020    0   0 

Net Result   1 205  1 205 

Balance as at 30 June 2021   1 205  1 205 

 

 

 Accum 
Funds 

$’000 

Total 
Equity 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2019  0 0 

Net Result  0 0 

Balance as at 30 June 2020  0 0 

 

This Schedule of Administered Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Note 2 Departmental Output Schedules 

2.1 Creation of new COVID-19 Output Groups 

The following Output Group has been created to disclose the COVID-19 initiatives and impacts. 

- Output Group 94 – COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure 

As this is new Output Group created in 2020-21, there is no comparative information disclosed. 

2.2 Output Group Restructure 

The former Output Group 1 - Children Services System Management, and Output Group 2 – Children 
Services have been combined and are now Output Group 1 - Children Services. Also, the former Output 
Group 4 - Housing Services System Management, and Output Group 5 - Housing Services have been 
combined and are now Output Group 3 - Housing Services. These changes have also resulted in a 
renumbering of other Output Groups. Output Group 5 has been renamed Safe Homes, Families, 
Communities. 
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2.3 Output Group Information 

Output Group 1 – Children Services 

This Output provides services to children, young people and their families through a range of programs 
within the Child Safety Service, Youth Justice Services and Family Violence Counselling and Support Services. 
These services contribute to ensuring children, young people, families and carers are safe and well. 

 

2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  152 104  148 793  155 099 

Grants  2 535 (3 009)   163 

Sales of goods and services   0   600   123 

Interest   1   0   0 

Revenue from rental dwellings   606   0   0 

Other revenue  5 792   746   857 

Total revenue from continuing operations  161 038  147 130  156 242 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets   14   1   0 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables   0 (8)   0 

Other gain/(loss)   0   0   1 

Total income from continuing operations  161 052  147 123  156 243 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  42 581  46 939  48 412 

Other employee related expenses (2 429)   504   441 

Superannuation expenses  4 913  5 891  6 019 

Depreciation and amortisation 410 646 457 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   171   107   68 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments  3 400  2 879  2 965 

Communications   828  1 140  1 127 

Information technology  3 554   950   765 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments  1 047  1 235  1 211 

Medical, surgical and pharmacy supplies   18   107   133 

Advertising and promotion   3   35   61 

Other supplies and consumables  65 571  59 945  63 144 

Grants and subsidies   38 769  24 948  24 094 

Other expenses   635  2 954  3 900 

Total expenses from continuing operations  159 471  148 280  152 797 

Net result from continuing operations  1 581 (1 157)  3 446 
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2021 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods    

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 289 49 448 

Total other comprehensive income 289 49 448 

    

Comprehensive result 1 870 (1 108) 3 894 

    

Expense by output    

1.1 Children Services  159 471  148 280  152 797 

Total  159 471  148 280  152 797 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Children Services   48 588  46 434 

Total liabilities incurred for Children Services  (15 669) (14 703) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Children Services   32 919  31 731 
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Output Group 2 – Independent Children's and Young Person's Review Service 

The Commissioner for Children and Young People is an independent statutory office established under the 
Commissioner for Children and Young People Act 2016. Activities provided in this Output include promoting the 
rights and wellbeing of children and young people and examining the policies, practices and services provided 
for children and any law affecting the health, welfare, care, protection and development of children. 
 
 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  1 327  1 481  1 389 

Grants   0 (23)   0 

Sales of goods and services   0   11   9 

Other revenue   35   1   2 

Total revenue from continuing operations  1 362  1 470  1 400 

Total income from continuing operations  1 362  1 470  1 400 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  1 037  1 019   965 

Other employee related expenses (63)   9   3 

Superannuation expenses   120   121   116 

Depreciation and amortisation   0   70   70 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   20   74   20 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments   88   13   23 

Communications   22   35   67 

Information technology   32   39   21 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   21   16   30 

Advertising and promotion   2   7   1 

Other supplies and consumables   60   60   55 

Grants and subsidies    25 (4)   0 

Finance costs   0   2   3 

Other expenses   5   33   38 

Total expenses from continuing operations  1 369  1 494  1 412 

Net result from continuing operations (7) (24) (12) 

    

Comprehensive result (7) (24) (12) 
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 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

    

Expense by output    

2.1 Office of the Commissioner for Children and Young People  1 369  1 494  1 412 

Total  1 369  1 494  1 412 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Independent Children's and Young Person's Review Service    298   341 

Total liabilities incurred for Independent Children's and Young Person's Review Service  (319) (357) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Independent Children's and Young Person's 
Review Service  

(21) (16) 
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Output Group 3 – Housing Services 

This Output provides services relating to planning, developing and managing affordable housing and 
homelessness programs throughout the State. This includes all functions relating to the delivery and 
management of public housing, capital development, housing reform, community housing, specialist 
homelessness services including new homelessness initiatives, private rental assistance and the management 
of community sector organisations providing outsourced services. 
 
 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  51 450  48 629  48 412 

Grants   543 (1 201)   596 

Sales of goods and services   0   390   321 

Interest   7   22   32 

Contributions received   0   0  157 600 

Revenue from rental dwellings  54 747  53 337  55 113 

Other revenue  12 094  12 555  16 165 

Total revenue from continuing operations  118 841  113 732  278 239 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (627) (10 775) (13 641) 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables   0 (521) (480) 

Other gain/(loss)   0 (4 308) (2 693) 

Total income from continuing operations  118 214  98 128  261 425 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  14 933  13 337  13 857 

Other employee related expenses (753)   85   62 

Superannuation expenses  1 817  1 667  1 730 

Depreciation and amortisation  24 930  33 738  31 788 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   131   106 (1) 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments  56 628  58 295  59 408 

Communications   472   391   426 

Information technology  1 044   431   321 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   431   364   351 

Medical, surgical and pharmacy supplies   3   0   15 

Advertising and promotion   2   16   8 

Other supplies and consumables  3 994  4 592  3 922 

Grants and subsidies   38 040  36 780  85 271 

Finance costs   0   128   183 
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 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Other expenses   563  1 619  1 695 

Total expenses from continuing operations  142 235  151 549  199 036 

Net result from continuing operations (24 021) (53 421)  62 389 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods    

Net actuarial gains/(losses) on superannuation defined benefit plans   0   424 (51) 

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus  40 437  130 247  1 014 

Total other comprehensive income  40 437  130 671   963 

    

Comprehensive result  16 416  77 250  63 352 

    

Expense by output    

3.1 Housing Services  142 235  151 549  199 036 

Total  142 235  151 549  199 036 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Housing Services  2 627 512 2 492 722 

Total liabilities incurred for Housing Services  (30 365) (22 444) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Housing Services  2 597 147 2 470 278 
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Output Group 4 – Disability Services and Community Development 

This Output provides services relating to planning, developing and managing Community and Disability 
Services throughout the State. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  314 430  303 620  307 270 

Grants   32 (525)  6 171 

Sales of goods and services   0   458   603 

Interest   0   1   0 

Contributions received   0   0   242 

Revenue from rental dwellings (2 212)   0   0 

Other revenue  7 531  4 999  14 953 

Total revenue from continuing operations  319 781  308 553  329 239 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets   2   6 (4) 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables   0 (27)   0 

Total income from continuing operations  319 783  308 532  329 235 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  13 309  13 458  13 596 

Other employee related expenses   193   136   110 

Superannuation expenses  1 733  1 689  1 616 

Depreciation and amortisation  1 849  1 983  1 856 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   901   604   168 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments  1 998   846   732 

Communications   294   340   351 

Information technology   853   487   647 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   488   199   361 

Medical, surgical and pharmacy supplies   1   6   6 

Advertising and promotion   609   297   110 

Other supplies and consumables  1 337  2 190  2 575 

Grants and subsidies   300 247  284 918  285 972 

Finance costs   0   2   4 

Other expenses (112)   563   841 

Total expenses continuing operations  323 700  307 718  308 945 

Net result from continuing operations (3 917)   814  20 290 
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 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods    

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus  1 068  1 304  2 615 

Total other comprehensive income  1 068  1 304  2 615 

    

Comprehensive result (2 849)  2 118  22 905 

    

Expense by output    

4.1 Community Services  31 127  30 358  29 027 

4.2 Disability Services  242 671  234 024  244 098 

4.3 Community Development – Policy Advice and Ongoing Community Development  12 748  13 837  11 765 

4.4 Aboriginal Affairs   1 943  2 016  1 922 

4.5 Women’s Policy   834   103   74 

4.6 Veterans’ Affairs   776   479   693 

4.7 Sport and Recreation   33 601  26 901  21 366 

Total  323 700  307 718  308 945 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Disability Services and Community Development   67 053  71 039 

Total liabilities incurred for Disability Services and Community Development  (5 144) (7 197) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Disability Services and Community Development   61 909  63 842 
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Output Group 5 – Safe Homes, Families, Communities 

This Output facilitates the actions being delivered by Government agencies under Tasmania’s Family and 
Sexual Violence Action Plan 2019-2022 that is the coordinated, whole-of-government response to family 
violence and sexual violence in Tasmania. 
 
 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  14 042  11 259  5 748 

Grants  1 513  1 465 (2) 

Sales of goods and services   0   20   0 

Other revenue   0   12   23 

Total revenue from continuing operations  15 555  12 756  5 769 

Total income from continuing operations  15 555  12 756  5 769 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  5 762   618   17 

Other employee related expenses   0   5 (5) 

Superannuation expenses   514   74 (2) 

Depreciation and amortisation   23   0   0 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   0   4   0 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments (2)   119   121 

Communications   0   9   6 

Information technology   0   66   40 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   0   6   7 

Advertising and promotion   0   2   0 

Other supplies and consumables   546   117   112 

Grants and subsidies   8 605  11 185  5 950 

Other expenses   2   17   45 

Total expenses from continuing operations  15 450  12 222  6 291 

Net result from continuing operations   105   534 (522) 

    

Comprehensive result   105   534 (522) 

    

Expense by output    

5.1 Safe Homes, Families, Communities  15 450  12 222  6 291 

Total  15 450  12 222  6 291 
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 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Safe Homes, Families, Communities   1 186 (86) 

Total liabilities incurred for Safe Homes, Families, Communities  (927) (171) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Safe Homes Communities Families    259 (257) 
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Output Group 89 – Public Building Maintenance Program 

The Public Maintenance Fund is an investment for critical maintenance on public buildings and other publicly 
owned assets in an effort to support the construction sector during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Grants  5 168  4 411  4 832 

Total revenue from continuing operations  5 168  4 411  4 832 

Total income from continuing operations  5 168  4 411  4 832 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   0   52   0 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments   915  2 629  4 827 

Grants and subsidies   0   702   0 

Total expenses from continuing operations   915  3 383  4 827 

Net result from continuing operations  4 253  1 028   5 

    

Comprehensive result  4 253  1 028   5 

    

Expense by Output    

89.1 Public Building Maintenance Program   915  3 383  4 827 

Total   915  3 383  4 827 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Public Building Maintenance Program    37   48 

Total liabilities incurred for Public Building Maintenance Program    0 (35) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Public Building Maintenance Program    37   13 
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Output Group 90 – COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

This Output Group includes a range of initiatives that have been implemented to support Tasmania during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Initiatives focus on supporting Tasmanian’s health, business and jobs as well as 
households, individuals and the community. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  48 686  72 202  19 710 

Grants   500  5 394   88 

Other revenue   429  1 031   71 

Total revenue from continuing operations  49 615  78 627  19 869 

Total income from continuing operations  49 615  78 627  19 869 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages  1 920  2 868   0 

Other employee related expenses   0   7   0 

Superannuation expenses   255   301   0 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   0 (6)   6 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments   0  5 768   1 

Communications   0   6   1 

Information technology   0   36   0 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   0   18   6 

Medical, surgical and pharmacy supplies   0   2   0 

Other supplies and consumables   81  2 531   636 

Grants and subsidies  46 602  62 156  20 519 

Other expenses   0   20   0 

Total expenses from continuing operations  48 858  73 707  21 169 

Net result from continuing operations   757  4 920 (1 300) 

    

Comprehensive result   757  4 920 (1 300) 

    

Expense by Output    

90.1 Private Rental Incentive Scheme  1 250   822   10 

90.2 Community Support Fund  24 223  35 169  12 837 

90.3 Emergency Relief Payment  1 132   510   118 

90.4 Emergency Accommodation Support   929  22 083  1 071 

90.5 No Interest Loan Scheme Increase   500   500   500 



 

 

Department of Communities Tasmania  Financial Statements 29 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

90.6 Child Safety System  2 103   501   397 

90.7 Family Violence  2 333  1 910   367 

90.8 Sport and Recreation Support   917   914  1 915 

90.9 Returned Service League Support   275   178   302 

90.10 Statewide Safe Spaces  8 597  5 296  1 873 

90.11 Support for Temporary Visa Holders  1 274   892  1 779 

90.15 TasCOSS   175   175   0 

90.16 Emergency Food Relief   150   150   0 

90.17 Improving the playing field  5 000  4 607   0 

Total  48 858  73 707  21 169 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for COVID-19 Response and Recovery   4 983   105 

Total liabilities incurred for COVID-19 Response and Recovery  (1 126) (745) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for COVID-19 Response and Recovery   3 857 (640) 
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Output Group 94 – COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure 

This Output Group includes infrastructure initiatives that have been implemented to support Tasmania 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Initiatives focus on supporting Tasmanian business and jobs as well as 
households, individuals and the community. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  45 000  22 834   0 

Total revenue from continuing operations  45 000  22 834   0 

Total income from continuing operations  45 000  22 834   0 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Grants and subsidies   0  22 834   0 

Total expenses from continuing operations   0  22 834   0 

Net result from continuing operations  45 000   0   0 

    

Comprehensive result 45 000 0 0 

    

Expense by Output    

94.1 Derwent Entertainment Centre and Multi-Sports Facility   0  22 834   0 

94.2 Community Housing Growth Program   0   0   0 

Total   0  22 834   0 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure    0   0 

Total liabilities incurred for COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure    0   0 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure    0   0 
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Output Group – Capital Investment Program 

This Output provides financial information on the Department's Capital Investment Program. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from appropriation  62 977  61 138  46 630 

Grants  2 045  7 415  1 108 

Sales of goods and services   0   233   0 

Other revenue  1 600   634  3 537 

Total revenue from continuing operations  66 622  69 420  51 275 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  12 060  10 411  7 792 

Other gain/(loss)  3 591  5 247  3 019 

Total income from continuing operations  82 273  85 078  62 086 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits    

Salaries and wages   533  1 275   803 

Other employee related expenses   0   0   6 

Superannuation expenses   69   153   98 

Supplies and consumables    

Consultants   0  1 091   410 

Maintenance, property services and rental payments   0  1 278  2 612 

Communications   0   23   29 

Information technology   0   68   146 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments   0   1   5 

Medical, surgical and pharmacy supplies   0   3   0 

Advertising and promotion   0   13   17 

Other supplies and consumables   0   200  2 517 

Grants and subsidies   24 944  35 501  32 708 

Finance costs   0   25   0 

Other expenses   4   0   3 

Total expenses from continuing operations  25 550  39 631  39 354 

Net result from continuing operations  56 723  45 447  22 732 

    

Comprehensive result  56 723  45 447  22 732 

    

Expense by output    

Capital Investment Program  25 550  39 631  39 354 
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 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total  25 550  39 631  39 354 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Capital Investment Program   60 260  60 182 

Total liabilities incurred for Capital Investment Program   (4 349) (3 280) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Capital Investment Program    55 911  56 902 

 

Expenditure in Output - Capital Investment Program which does not qualify for capitalisation remains in this 
Output Group.  
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Output Group – Special Capital Investment Funds 

This Output identifies capital works by the Department from the State Government's Special Capital 
Investment Fund. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds   0  1 673  1 308 

Total revenue from continuing operations   0  1 673  1 308 

Total income from continuing operations   0  1 673  1 308 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Grants and subsidies   1 673   635   871 

Total expenses from continuing operations  1 673   635   871 

Net result from continuing operations (1 673)  1 038   437 

    

Comprehensive result (1 673)  1 038   437 

    

Expense by output    

Special Capital Investment Funds  1 673   635   871 

Total  1 673   635   871 

    

Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total assets deployed for Special Capital Investment Funds   1 419  1 687 

Total liabilities incurred for Special Capital Investment Funds  (520) (1 826) 

Net assets/(liabilities) deployed for Special Capital Investment Funds    899 (139) 

    

Expenditure in Output - Special Capital Investment Funds which does not qualify for capitalisation remains in 
this Output Group. 
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2.4 Reconciliation of Total Output Groups Comprehensive Result to Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total comprehensive result of Output Groups    

Reconciliation to comprehensive result 
   

Children Services 
 1 870 (1 108)  3 894 

Independent Children's and Young Person's Review Service 
(7) (24) (12) 

Housing Services 
 16 416  77 250  63 352 

Disability Services and Community Development 
(2 849)  2 118  22 905 

Safe Homes, Families, Communities 
  105   534 (522) 

Public Building Maintenance Program 
 4 253  1 028   5 

COVID-19 Response and Recovery 
  757  4 920 (1 300) 

COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure 
 45 000   0   0 

Capital Investment Program 
 56 723  45 447  22 732 

Special Capital Investment Funds 
(1 673)  1 038   437 

Total comprehensive result 
 120 595  131 203  111 491 

Comprehensive result   120 595  131 203  111 491 

2.5 Reconciliation of Total Output Groups Net Assets to Statement of Financial Position 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Total net assets deployed for Output Groups   

Reconciliation to net assets 
  

Children Services 
 32 919  31 731 

Independent Children's and Young Person's Review Service 
(21) (16) 

Housing Services 
2 597 147 2 470 278 

Disability Services and Community Development 
 61 909  63 842 

Safe Homes, Families, Communities 
  259 (257) 

Public Building Maintenance Program 
  37   13 

COVID-19 Response and Recovery 
 3 857 (640) 

COVID-19 Response and Recovery Infrastructure 
  0   0 

Capital Investment Program 
 55 911  56 902 

Special Capital Investment Funds 
  899 (139) 

Total net assets deployed 
2 752 917 2 621 714 

Net assets  
2 752 917 2 621 714 
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2.6 Administered Output Schedule 

Output Group – Administered Items 
 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Administered revenue 
   

Appropriation revenue - Reserved by Law 
 7 597  7 535  7 458 

Appropriation revenue – C-19 – Community Support Fund 
 4 700  12 439   0 

Total administered revenue 
 12 297  19 974  7 458 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 
  0   74   0 

Total administered income 
 12 297  19 900  7 458 

 
   

Administered expenses 
   

Tasmanian Community Fund 
 7 097  7 035  6 958 

Tasmanian Icon – State Cricket Team 
  500   500   500 

Transfer to C-19 - Community Support Fund 
 4 700  11 160   0 

Total administered expenses 
 12 297  18 695  7 458 

Administered net result 
  0  1 205   0 

    

Administered comprehensive result    0  1 205   0 

    

Administered expense by project    

Tasmanian Community Fund  7 097  7 035  6 958 

Tasmanian Icon – State Cricket Team   500   500   500 

Transfer to C-19 - Community Support Fund  4 700  11 160   0 

Total  12 297  18 695  7 458 

    

Administered Net Assets/(liabilities)    

Total administered assets deployed for administered output group   1 255   0 

Total administered liabilities incurred for administered output group  (50)   0 

Net administered assets/(liabilities) deployed for administered output group   1 205   0 
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2.7 Reconciliation of Total Administered Output Groups Comprehensive Result to 
Administered Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total administered net result of Output Group 
   

Reconciliation to administered net surplus (deficit) 
   

Administered items   0  1 205   0 

Total administered net result   0  1 205   0 

    

Administered comprehensive result   0  1 205   0 

2.8 Reconciliation of Total Administered Output Groups Net Asset to Schedule of 
Administered Assets and Liabilities 

  2021 2020 

  Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 

Total administered net assets deployed for Output Groups 
   

Reconciliation to administered net assets 
   

Assets unallocated to Output Groups   1 255   0 

Liabilities unallocated to Output Groups  (50)   0 

Total administered net assets deployed   1 205   0 

    

Net administered assets   1 205   0 
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Note 3 Expenditure under Australian Government Funding 
Arrangements 

 

State 

Funding 

Australian 

Government 

Funding 

 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

 

Special Purpose Payments 
    

Disability Services 
 237 268  250 906   0   28 

Affordable Housing 
  0   0  34 606  34 120 

     

National Partnership Payments 
    

Health Services  
  0   0  6 394  4 435 

Housing 
  0   0  2 202  4 756 

Community Services 
  0   0  1 854   398 

 
    

Commonwealth Own Purpose Expenditures  
    

Other  
  0   0   14   100 

 
    

Total  237 268  250 906  45 070  43 837 

     

Specific Purpose Payments (SPPs) are payments from the Australian Government to the Tasmanian 
Government arising from national agreements that set out the Australian Government's agreed objectives 
and outcomes, outputs, roles and responsibilities and performance indicators for each sector. SPPs are 
distributed to the States on the basis of their population shares. 

National Partnership Payments (NPPs) are similar to SPPs but are provided for the purpose of the delivery 
of specified projects to facilitate reforms or reward jurisdictions that deliver nationally significant reforms. 

Commonwealth Own Purpose Expenditure is funding paid directly from the Australian Government to the 
States and Territories for the provision of services identified by the Australian Government. 
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Note 4 Explanations of Material Variances between Budget and Actual 
Outcomes 

Budget information refers to original Budget estimates as disclosed in the 2020-21 Budget Papers and is not 
subject to audit. 

Variances are considered material where the variance exceeds the greater of 10 per cent of Budget estimate 
or $1.0 million. 

4.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Notes 

 

Budget 

$’000 

2021 

Actual 

Variance 

$’000 

Variance 

   $’000   

      

Appropriation revenue – capital  (a)  107 010  83 005 (24 005) (22.4%) 

Other revenue from Government (b)  27 372  21 724 (5 648) (20.6%) 

Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds (c)   0  1 673  1 673 n/a 

Grants (d)  12 336  13 927  1 591   12.9% 

Sales of goods and services (e)   0  1 712  1 712 n/a 

Other revenue (f)  27 481  19 978 (7 503) (27.3%) 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (g)  11 449 (357) (11 806) (103.1%) 

Other gain/(loss) (h)  3 591   939 (2 652) (73.9%) 

Depreciation and amortisation (i)  27 212  36 437 (9 225) (33.9%) 

Other expenses (j)  1 097  5 206 (4 109) (374.6%) 

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus (k)  41 794  131 600  89 806   214.9% 

 
Notes to Statement of Comprehensive Income variances 
(a) The variance in Appropriation revenue - capital primarily reflects the recashflow of activity for the 

Derwent Entertainment Centre project. 

(b) The variance in Other revenue from Government reflects rollovers across a number of projects 
including the Hobart Aquatic Centre hydrotherapy pool and the Northern Regional Tennis Centre. 

(c) The variance in Revenue from special capital investment funds reflects that the transfer of the balance of 
this fund to Housing Tasmania is not included in 2020-21 Budget disclosures. 

(d) The variance to original Budget primarily relates to increased activity in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, plus Disability Continuity of Support funding, which were not reflected in original Budgets. 

(e) Budgets and actuals for Sales of goods and services have been allocated to different codes, which has 
created contra variances as above.  

(f) The variance in other revenue is related to wages/salaries recoveries related to work on the COVID-19 
pandemic response. 

(g) The Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets represents the loss on disposal of physical assets. This differs 
from the Budgeted position and is representative of the net holding value of assets disposed. 

(h) The variance in Other gains/(losses) represents the disposal of equity investments, relating to the Home 
Ownership Assistance Programs (HOAP). 
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(i) The variance in Depreciation and amortisation reflects the implementation of AASB 1059 Service 
Concession Arrangements: Grantors and the related increase in assets. 

(j) The variance in Other expenses relates to higher than anticipated workers compensation premiums for 
the Department. 

(k) The variance in Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus reflects the implementation of AASB 
1059 and the requirement to report changes in measurement as revaluation movements. 

4.2 Statement of Financial Position 

Budget estimates for the 2020-21 Statement of Financial Position were compiled prior to the completion of 
the actual outcomes for 2019-20. As a result, the actual variances from the Original Budget estimate will be 
impacted by the difference between estimated and actual opening balances for 2020-21. The following 
variance analysis therefore includes major movements between the 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021 actual 
balances. 

 Notes Budget 2021 2020 Budget Actual 

  $’000 Actual Actual Variance Variance 

   $’000 $’000) $’000 $’000 

Cash and cash equivalents (a)  57 453  70 251  82 016  12 798 (11 765) 

Receivables (b)  7 501  16 024  7 844  8 523  8 180 

Loan advances (c)   267  1 347   723  1 080   624 

HomeShare investments (d)  33 542  27 277  25 744 (6 265)  1 533 

Other financial assets (e)   341  2 701   524  2 360  2 177 

Assets held for sale (f)  5 185  1 108  1 093 (4 077)   15 

Property, plant and equipment (g) 2 126 741 1 868 300 1 863 523 (258 441)  4 777 

Service Concession Assets (h)   0  821 120  684 724  821 120  136 396 

Right-of-use assets (i)   0  1 666  3 060  1 666 (1 394) 

Intangible assets (j)  4 218  1 279  2 507 (2 939) (1 228) 

Payables (k)  29 137  14 164  11 716 (14 973)  2 448 

Lease liabilities (l)   0  1 704  2 895  1 704 (1 191) 

Employee benefit liabilities (m)  18 592  23 243  21 458  4 651  1 785 

Superannuation (n)  7 862  6 761  7 553 (1 101) (792) 

Other liabilities  (o)  16 085  12 547  7 136 (3 538)  5 411 

 
Notes to Statement of Financial Position Budget variances 
(a) The variance represents accumulated funds to 30 June held to support Agency activity, including the 

capital works program. 
(b) The increase in Receivables relates to Commonwealth funding under various agreements supporting the 

repatriation of Australians during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
(c) The variance in Loan advances reflects a new loan this year to the Migrant Resource Centre. 
(d) The variance is due to a combination of unanticipated buyouts of HomeShare investments during the 

year and lower than expected uptake of the HomeShare program. 
(e) The increase in Other financial assets relates to the Commonwealth reimbursement for costs associated 

with repatriated Australians quarantined in Victoria on behalf of Tasmania. 
(f) The variance in Assets held for sale reflects that the balance of properties on the market varies over the 

year and the numbers in the statements reflects the properties available for sale at a point of time. 
(g) The variance in Property, plant and equipment reflects the implementation of AASB 1059 Service 

Concession Arrangements: Grantors and the increase in assets held on the Balance Sheet. 
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(h) The variance in Service Concession Assets is due to the Original budget not reflecting the 
implementation of AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. 

(i) The variance in Right-of-use assets is due to the Original budget not reflecting the implementation of 
AASB 16 Leases. 

(j) The variance in Intangible assets reflects a lower than anticipated balance as at 30 June 2021. 
(k) The decrease in Payables represents a changed profile for major works activity. 
(l) The variance in Lease liabilities is due to the Original budget not reflecting the implementation of AASB 

16 Leases. 
(m) The variance for this item is driven by current budget disclosures, which will be reviewed. 
(n) The variance for this item is driven by current budget disclosures, which will be reviewed. 
(o) The variance for this item is driven by current budget disclosures, which will be reviewed. 
 
Notes to Statement of Financial Position Actual Variances 
(a) The variance represents accumulated funds to 30 June held to support Agency activity, including the 

capital works program. 
(b) The increase in Receivables relates to Commonwealth funding under various agreements supporting the 

repatriation of Australians during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
(e) The increase in Other financial assets relates to the Commonwealth reimbursement for costs associated 

with repatriated Australians quarantined in Victoria on behalf of Tasmania. 
(h) The increase in Service Concession Assets is primarily due to the revaluation increments. 
(i) The variance in Right-of-use assets reflects the number of leases that are nearing the end of their useful 

lives. 
(j) The decrease in Intangibles reflects a full year of depreciation on newly capitalised assets at the end of 

last year. 
(k) The increase in Payables is due to timing of grant payments for social housing (Housing Tasmania). 
(l) The variance in Lease liabilities reflect the number of leases that are nearing the end of their useful lives. 
(o) The increase in Other liabilities is due to the implementation of AASB 1059 Service Concession Assets:  

Grantors and the recognition of Community Housing Organisations (CHO) built properties on behalf of 
Housing Tasmania. 

4.3 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Notes Budget 2021 Variance Variance 

  $’000 Actual $’000  

   $’000   

Appropriation receipts - capital (a)  107 010  42 443 (64 567) (60.3%) 

GST receipts (b)  31 597  27 595 (4 002) (12.7%) 

Other cash receipts (c)  27 481  12 083 (15 398) (56.0%) 

GST payments (d) (31 298) (27 651) (3 647)   11.7% 

Other cash payments (e) (1 097) (5 058)  3 961 (361.1%) 

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets (f)  11 449  10 004 (1 445) (12.6%) 

Receipts from Investments (g)   0  5 246  5 246 n/a 

Receipts from non-operational capital funding - Capital (h)   0  40 562  40 562 n/a 

Payment for acquisition of non-financial assets (i) (116 575) (49 798) (66 777)   57.3% 

Payments for investments (j)  3 873 (5 842)  9 715   250.8% 

 
Notes to Statement of Cash Flows variances 
(a) The variance in Appropriation receipts - capital primarily reflects the recashflow of activity for the 

Derwent Entertainment Centre project as well as a contra variance due to the budget for receipts from 
non-operational capital funding not being separated. 
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(b) GST receipts are lower than anticipated at the time of budget preparation, but are in accordance with 
Agency transactional activity. 

(c) The variance is related to recoveries from the COVID-19 pandemic response. 

(d) GST payments are lower than anticipated at the time of budget preparation, but are in accordance with 
Agency transactional activity. 

(e) The variance in Other cash payments relates to higher than anticipated salary on-costs for the 
Department. 

(f) The variance in Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets reflects lower than anticipated 
proceeds from the sale of housing stock during the year. 

(g) The higher than budgeted Receipts from Investments represents the higher than anticipated sale of 
equity investments during the year. 

(h) The variance in Receipts from non-operational capital funding relates to the budget not being separated 
and is shown in the contra variance above in appropriation receipts – capital. 

(i) The variance in the Payment for acquisition of non-financial assets primarily reflects the timing of 
cashflows relating to the Affordable Housing Strategy Action Plan 2019-2023. 

(j) The variance in Payments for investments reflects higher than anticipated activity relating to the 
HomeShare program.  
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Note 5 Underlying Net Result 
Non-operational capital funding is the income from continuing operations relating to funding for capital 
projects. This funding is classified as revenue from continuing operations and included in the Net result from 
continuing operations. However, the corresponding capital expenditure is not included in the calculation of 
the Net result from continuing operations. Accordingly, the Net result from continuing operations will 
portray a position that is better than the true underlying financial result. 

For this reason, the Net result from continuing operations is adjusted to remove the effects of funding for 
capital projects. 

Non-monetary asset transfers that are removed from the net operating balance consist of the transfer of 
properties under various housing programs. 

  2021 2021 2020 

 Notes Budget Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Net result from continuing operations  78 801 (821) 107 465 

     

Less impact of:     

Non-operational capital funding     

Net result from C19 – Public Building Maintenance Program 2.3  4 253  1 028   5 

Net result from C19 – Response and Recovery Infrastructure 2.3  45 000   0   0 

Net result from Capital Investment Program Output 2.3  56 723  45 447  22 732 

Net result from Special Capital Investment Funds  2.3 (1 673)  1 038   437 

Contributions received – fair value of assets assumed 6.6 0   0  157 842 

Non-monetary asset transfers (Housing Services Output) 8.4 0 (2 537) (50 558) 

Total   104 303  44 976  130 458 

     

Underlying Net result from continuing operations  (25 502) (45 797)  (22 993) 

 

The net result from capital outputs is included to reflect that the revenue received is mainly expensed as 
grants to housing providers and not capitalised. 

The 2019-20 figure for Non-monetary transfers has been updated to reflect the service concession assets 
that were brought on to the Balance Sheet at 1 July 2019 and then transferred to the CHOs during the 
2019-20 financial year.  
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Note 6 Revenue 
Income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when an increase in future economic 
benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

The 2019-20 figures have been updated to include asset transfers to CHOs that were previously reported as 
contingent assets. 

Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer 
defined by AASB 15. 

6.1 Revenue from Government 

Appropriations, whether operating or capital, are recognised as revenues in the period in which the 
Department gains control of the appropriated funds as they do not contain enforceable and sufficiently 
specific obligations as defined by AASB 15. Except for any amounts identified as carried forward, control 
arises in the period of appropriation. 

Revenue from Government includes revenue from appropriations, unexpended appropriations rolled over 
under section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 and Items Reserved by Law. 

Section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 allows for an unexpended appropriation at the end of the 
financial year, as determined by the Treasurer, to be issued and applied from the Public Account in the 
following financial year. The amount determined by the Treasurer must not exceed five per cent of an 
Agency’s appropriation for the financial year. Rollover of unexpended appropriations under section 23 will 
be disclosed under the Financial Management Act 2016 for the first time in 2020-21. 

In the 2019-20 comparative year, Revenue from Government included appropriations carried forward under 
section 8A(2) of the now repealed Public Account Act 1986, and taken up as revenue in the current year. 

Section 8A(2) of the Public Account Act 1986 allowed for an unexpended balance of an appropriation to be 
transferred to an Account in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund for such purposes and conditions as 
approved by the Treasurer. In the initial year (2018-19), the carry forward was recognised as a liability, 
Revenue Received in Advance. The carry forward from the initial year was recognised as revenue in the 
reporting year, assuming that the conditions of the carry forward were met and the funds were expended. 

The Budget information is based on original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

 2021 2021 2020 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Continuing operations    

Appropriation revenue – operating    

Current year   555 634  565 227  530 686 

  555 634  565 227  530 686 

Appropriation revenue – capital  107 010  83 005  46 630 

Other revenue from Government    

Appropriation carried forward under section 8A(2) of the Public Account Act 1986 taken 
up as revenue in the current year   0   0  6 942 

Appropriation Rollover under section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016  27 372  21 724   0 

Total revenue from Government from continuing operations  690 016  669 956  584 258 

    

Total revenue from Government  690 016  669 956  584 258 
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6.2 Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds 

Funding for major infrastructure projects is provided through Special Capital Investment Funds. The 
Department is allocated funding for specific projects from the Special Capital Investment Funds as part of the 
Budget process. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Continuing Operations   

Housing Fund  1 673 1 308 

Total  1 673 1 308 

   

Total revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds  1 308 

 

Details of total Special Capital Investment Funds revenues and expenses are provided as part of Note 2 
Departmental Output Schedules. Details of total cash flows for each project are at Note 13.3. 

6.3 Grants 

From 2019-20, Grant revenue, where there is a sufficiently specific performance obligation attached, are 
recognised when the Department satisfies the performance obligation and transfers the promised goods or 
services. The Department has not received any grants that have specific performance obligations attached 
during the financial year. 

Grant revenue received by the Department is typically recognised after the related expenditure is made. 
This is because the expenditure is reimbursed through a draw down process from Treasury and the grant 
revenue is therefore more like a cost recovery. 

The exception to this is the funding that is received as an appropriation, for example funding received under 
the National Affordable Housing Agreement (NAHA). However, any unexpended appropriation at the end 
of the financial year is reissued and applied from the Public Account in the following financial year. 

Where the grant agreement includes references to acquire/construct a recognisable non-financial asset, the 
related revenue is recognised after the expenditure is made as per above and is more like a cost recovery 
process. 

The decision to hold the acquired/constructed asset or transfer it out to another entity sits with the 
Department. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Continuing operations   

Grants from the Australian Government   

COPES receipts   0 119 

Other Commonwealth Grants  7 987 6 897 

Total  7 987 7 016 

   

Grants from the State Government   

State Grants – Other  4 544 4 832 

Total  4 544 4 832 
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Non-operational capital funding   

Grants from the Australian Government   

Other Commonwealth Grants – Capital  1 396 1 108 

Total  1 396 1 108 

   

Total revenue from Grants 13 927 12 956 

 

In 2020-21, grants received from the Australian Government include $6.7 million for emergency 
accommodation related to quarantine accommodation in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and $1.6 
million for the domestic violence response to COVID-19. The grants received from the State Government 
are the reimbursement of $4.4 million related to the Public Building Maintenance Fund projects, which were 
provided in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

6.4 Sales of goods and services 

Revenue from Sales of goods are recognised when the Department satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Other client revenue   315 517 

Other user charges  1 397 539 

Total  1 712 1 056 

 

Other user charges include funding for the Digital Transformation Project and revenue from the Australian 
Government Families Allowance. 

Other client revenue includes recoveries from boundary fencing and National Basketball League (NBL) ticket 
sales. 

6.5 Interest 

Interest on funds is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method. 

  2021 2020 

 Note $’000 $’000 

Interest from borrowings    22 32 

Other interest    1 0 

Total    23 32 

6.6 Contributions received 

Services received free of charge by the Department, are recognised as income when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and when the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of 
those resources is recognised as an expense. 

Contributions of assets at no cost of acquisition or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair 
value when the Department obtains control of the asset, it is probable that future economic benefits 
comprising the contribution will flow to the Department and the amount can be measured reliably.  
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However, where the contribution received is from another government department as a consequence of 
restructuring of administrative arrangements, they are recognised as contributions by owners directly within 
equity. In these circumstances, book values from the transferor department have been used.   

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Fair value of assets assumed/liabilities extinguished at no cost or for nominal consideration   0 157 842 

Total   0 157 842 

 

In 2020, Fair value of assets assumed at no cost or for nominal consideration referred to the waiving of the 
interest-bearing loan (Commonwealth State Housing Agreement debt) from the Australian Government. 

6.7 Revenue from rental dwellings 

Revenue from rental dwellings arises from the renting of properties owned by the Director of Housing.  This 
is comprised of the market rent for each individual property reduced by the public rental subsidy, which is an 
income-based subsidy derived from the clients' individual circumstances. 

Rental income, together with the associated rebate, is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with 
individual tenancy arrangements. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Operating lease income – residential rent  107 913 108 116 

Less:  Rebates (54 576) (53 003) 

Total  53 337 55 113 

6.8 Other revenue 

Other revenue primarily relates to the recovery of costs incurred and is recognised when an increase in 
future economic benefits relating to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be 
reliably measured. 

Lease income from operating leases where the Department is a lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis. 
The Department does not have any finance leases as lessor. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Operating lease income – commercial rent   43 30 

Wages and salaries recoveries   504 3 876 

Food recoveries   15 3 

Workers compensation recoveries   436 570 

Operating recoveries  15 069 26 840 

Donations   486 519 

Community support levy  3 234 3 770 

Service concession arrangements revenue   191 0 

Total  19 978 35 608 
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Operating recoveries includes rates, service charges and insurance that are recouped from community 
organisations managing tenancies under the Better Housing Futures (BHF) program and other arrangements. 
It also includes insurance recoveries from JLT insurance brokers for Housing Tasmania. 
 
This year, operating recoveries also includes COVID-19 related recoveries in accordance with requirements 
under various national repatriation agreements with the Australian Government. 
 
Lease income represents the rental received from having mobile phone towers erected on Crown land. 
 
Service Concession Arrangements revenue is related to the winding back of the liability for properties built 
by Community Housing Organisations on behalf of Housing Tasmania under Service Concession 
Agreements.
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Note 7 Net Gains/(Losses) 

7.1 Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 

Gains or losses from the sale of Non-financial assets are recognised when control of the assets has passed to 
the buyer. 

Key Judgement 

Impairment exists when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Specialised non-financial assets are not used for the purpose of generating cash flows; therefore their 
recoverable amount is expected to be materially the same as fair value, as determined under AASB 13 Fair 
Value Measurement. 

All other non-financial assets are assessed to determine whether any impairment exists, with impairment 
losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of physical assets (357) (5 853) 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (357) (5 853) 

 

The Net loss on sale of non-financial assets includes the written down value of properties that were 
demolished as part of Housing Tasmania's capital projects to increase the supply of affordable housing. 

7.2 Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 

Financial assets are impaired under the expected credit loss approach required under AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments. The expected credit loss is recognised for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Key Judgement 

An impairment loss using the expected credit loss method for all trade debtors uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. The expected loss rates are based upon historical observed loss rates that are adjusted to reflect 
forward looking macroeconomic factors. 

For other financial instruments that are not trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables, the 
Department has measured the expected credit loss using a probability-weighted amount that takes into 
account the time value of money and forward-looking macroeconomic factors. 

  2021 2020 

 Notes $’000 $’000 

Impairment of loans and receivables 9.1 (556) (480) 

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments  (556) (480) 
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7.3 Other gain/(loss) 

Other gains/(losses) include gains or losses from reclassifications of amounts from reserves and/or 
accumulated surplus to net result. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of HomeShare investments   933 350 

Impairment of HomeShare investments   6 (23) 

Total net gain/(loss) from other economic flows   939 327 

 

There was no revaluation of HomeShare investments this year as informed by the Valuer General's valuation 
cycle
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Note 8 Expenses 
Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when a decrease in future economic 
benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

8.1 Employee benefits 

Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, 
long service leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits. 

a Employee expenses 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Wages and salaries  70 048 66 522 

Annual leave  5 347 5 417 

Long service leave  1 689 2 818 

Sick leave  2 430 2 893 

Superannuation expenses – defined contribution and benefits schemes  9 896 9 577 

Other employee expenses – recruitment & staff development   609 467 

Other employee expenses – other staff allowances   137 150 

Total  90 156 87 844 

 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined benefit schemes relate to payments into the Public Account. 
The amount of the payment is based on a department contribution rate determined by the Treasurer, on the 
advice of the State Actuary. The current department contribution is 12.95 per cent (2020: 12.95 per cent) of 
salary. The current year defined benefit superannuation expense is $484 000. 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined contribution schemes are paid directly to superannuation funds 
at a rate of 9.5 per cent (2020: 9.5 per cent) of salary. In addition, departments are also required to pay into 
the Public Account a “gap” payment equivalent to 3.45 per cent (2020: 3.45 per cent) of salary in respect of 
employees who are members of contribution schemes. The current year defined contribution scheme 
superannuation expense is $9.355 million. 
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b Remuneration of key management personnel 

The following were key management personnel of the Department at any time during the financial year and unless otherwise indicated were key management 
personnel for the entire year. 

 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits   

 

Salary1 Other 
Benefits2 

Superann-
uation3 

Other Benefits 
and Long-

Service Leave4 

Termination 
Benefits5 

Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Key management personnel       

Michael Pervan 
 - Secretary    471   22   45   15   0   553 

Peter White 
 – Deputy Secretary, Housing, Disability and Community Services   196   31   25   3   0   255 

Kate Kent 
 – Deputy Secretary, Communities, Sport and Recreation   199   29   32   6   0   266 

Ingrid Ganley 
 – Director, Disability and Community Services   153   16   20   1   0   190 

Kathy Baker 
 – Executive Director, Corporate Services (01/07/2020 until 17/01/2021 and 04/04/2021 until 30/06/2021)   141   7   18   5   0   171 

Melissa Gray 
 – Executive Director, Standards and performance   202   21   26   3   0   252 

Mandy Clarke 
 – Deputy Secretary, Children, Youth and Families   228   35   22   6   0   291 

Pamela Honan 
 - Director, Youth and Family Violence Services   153   21   20   4   0   198 

       

Acting Key management personnel       

Ross Hinkley 
 – Executive Director, Corporate Services (18/01/2021 until 29/03/2021)   38   2   5   1   0   46 

Total 1 781  184  213  44  0 2 222 
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 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits   

 

Salary1 Other 
Benefits2 

Superann-
uation3 

Other 
Benefits and 

Long-Service 
Leave4 

Termination 
Benefits5 

Total 

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Key management personnel       

Michael Pervan - Secretary (from 30/08/2019) 337 19 32 12 0 400 

Ginna Webster - Secretary (from 01/07/2019 to 30/08/2019) 70 (32) 7 (64) 0 (19) 

Peter White – Deputy Secretary, Housing, Disability and Community Services 179 26 23 (12) 0 216 

Kate Kent – Deputy Secretary, Communities, Sport and Recreation 196 8 30 6 0 240 

Ingrid Ganley – Director, Disability and Community Services  147 24 19 4 0 194 

Mathew Healey - Strategy and Engagement Executive Director, Engagement and Innovation (01/07/2019 
to 10/03/2020) 126 20 16 (12) 0 150 

Kathy Baker – Executive Director, Capability and Resources (01/07/2019 to 09/03/2020 and  

 05/06/020 to 30/06/2020) 129 20 17 (9) 0 157 

Greg Brown – Director, Strategic Youth Services (to 10/01/2020) 82 13 11 (18) 8 96 

Mandy Clarke – Executive Director, Standards and Performance and 

 Deputy Secretary, Children, Youth and Families (from 16/09/2019) 161 22 15 10 0 208 

       

Acting Key management personnel       

Anita Yan – Executive Director, Capability and Resources, and 

Executive Director, Strategy and Engagement (26/03/2021 to 24/06/2020) 34 0 4 0 0 38 

Melissa Gray – Executive Director, Standards and performance (from 09/04/2020) 31 7 4 7 0 49 

Gail Eaton-Briggs – Deputy Secretary, Children, Youth and Families (from 01/07/2019 to 01/09/2019) 45 (12) 13 (47) 250 249 

Total 1 537 115 191 (123) 258 1 978 
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Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Department, directly or indirectly. 

Remuneration during 2020-21 for key personnel is set by the State Service Act 2000. Remuneration and other 
terms of employment are specified in employment contracts. Remuneration includes salary, motor vehicle 
and other non-monetary benefits. Long term employee expenses include long service leave, superannuation 
obligations and payments made on departure. 

Acting Arrangements 

When members of key management personnel are unable to fulfil their duties, consideration is given to 
appointing other members of senior staff to their position during their period of absence. Individuals are 
considered members of key management personnel when acting arrangements are for more than a period of 
one month. 

Notes: 

1 Salary includes all forms of consideration paid and payable for services rendered and compensated 
absences during the period. 

2 Other benefits include all other forms of non-salary benefits such as motor vehicles and parking, fringe 
benefit tax payable in respect of these benefits, payments in lieu of leave, annual leave movements and 
any other compensation paid or payable.   

3 Superannuation means the contribution to the superannuation fund of the individual. 

4 Other long-term benefits and long service leave include the movements in the long service leave 
balances. 

5 Termination Benefits include accrued annual and long service leave entitlements and termination 
payments. 

c  Related party transactions 

There are no material significant party transactions requiring disclosure.  

8.2 Depreciation and amortisation 

All applicable Non-financial assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful 
lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential.  Land and Artwork, being assets 
with unlimited useful lives, are not depreciated. 

Key estimate and judgement 

Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis, using rates which are reviewed annually.  

Depreciation of Housing Tasmania’s rental dwellings and community rental stock is based on a useful life of 
50 years in accordance with the State Housing Authority’s Accounting Policies and Reporting Framework 
(March 1995). All other buildings are depreciated over their remaining useful life. 

Depreciation of Housing Tasmania’s service concession assets is based on the useful lives provided by the 
Office of the Valuer General. Depreciation occurs over the expected useful life of each asset. 

All intangible assets having a limited useful life are systematically amortised over their useful lives reflecting 
the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Department. 
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a Depreciation  
 Major 

depreciation 
period 

2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Plant and equipment 2-20 years  1 185   602 

Buildings 40-50 years  26 345  25 894 

Service Concession Assets buildings Various  6 308  6 358 

Right-of-use assets Lease term  1 394   854 

Vehicles 5 years   1   1 

Total   35 233  33 709 

b Amortisation  
 Major 

depreciation 
period 

2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Intangible assets 20 per cent  1 204 462 

Total   1 204 462 

Total depreciation and amortisation  36 437 34 171 

8.3 Supplies and consumables 

 2021 

S’000 

2020 

$’000 

Audit fees    158   153 

Consultants  2 032   671 

Lease expense   189   157 

Property services and rental payments  44 893  40 686 

Maintenance  26 745  29 846 

Communications  1 944  2 007 

Information technology  2 077  1 940 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments  1 839  1 971 

Medical surgical and pharmacy supplies    118   154 

Advertising and promotion    370   197 

Patient and client services  58 820  60 660 

Other leasing and licencing costs (150)   318 

Equipment and furniture   121   134 

Administration   825   541 

Food production costs   191   260 

Bureau Service charge  7 076  6 917 

Service fees  1 069  1 035 
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 2021 

S’000 

2020 

$’000 

Other supplies and consumables  1 525  2 943 

Total  149 842  150 590 

 

Audit fees paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office for the audit of the Department’s financial 
statements were $157 590 (2019-20, $153 000). 

Lease expense includes lease rentals for short term leases, lease of low value assets and variable lease 
payments. Refer to note 10.2 for breakdown of lease expenses and other lease disclosures. 

The negative balance in other leasing and licencing costs is due to timing around actual lease payments versus 
systems postings. 

Patient and client services primarily relates to Out of Home Care costs. 

8.4 Grants and subsidies 

Grant and subsidies expenditure is recognised to the extent that: 

• the services required to be performed by the grantee have been performed; or 

• the grant eligibility criteria have been satisfied.  

A liability is recorded when the Department has a binding agreement to make the grants but services have 
not been performed or criteria satisfied. Where grant monies are paid in advance of performance or 
eligibility, a prepayment is recognised. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Grant – Disability Services  226 667  235 888 

Grant – Community Services  23 533  22 937 

Grant – Children and Youth Services  23 147  23 335 

Grant – Equal Remuneration Order  11 758  10 192 

Grant – Housing  10 865  35 145 

Grant – Better Housing Futures   0   100 

Grant – Community Housing Program  2 537  50 558 

Grant - Service Concession Assets  2 738  1 975 

Grant - Housing Former CSHA Debt Funds  25 127   0 

Grant – Supported Assistance Accommodation Program  26 436  26 388 

Grant – Sport and Recreation  28 292  20 602 

Grant – Family Violence Program  11 212  5 948 

Grant – Aboriginal Affairs  1 131  1 047 

Grant – Veterans Affairs   426   624 

Grant – Women   58   58 

Grant - C19 - Public Building Maintenance Fund   702   0 

Grant – C19 – Private Rental Incentive Scheme   824   9 

Grant – C19 – Community Support Fund  28 418  12 548 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Grant – C19 – Emergency Relief Payment   510   118 

Grant – C19 – Emergency Accommodation Support  18 150  1 054 

Grant – C19 – No Interest Loan Scheme Increase   500   500 

Grant – C19 – Child Safety System   410   142 

Grant – C19 – Family Violence  1 133   367 

Grant – C19 – Sport and Recreation Support   914  1 915 

Grant – C19 – Returned Service League Support   178   302 

Grant – C19 – Housing and Homelessness Support  5 296  1 786 

Grant – C19 – Support for Temporary Visa Holders   892  1 779 

Grant - C19 - TasCOSS   175   0 

Grant - C19 - Emergency Food Relief   150   0 

Grant - C19 - Improving the playing field  4 607   0 

Grant - Derwent Entertainment Centre  22 834   0 

Grant – Other   35   68 

Total Grants  479 655  455 385 

   

Total  479 655  455 385 

 

The Department provides grants for a range of services including disability services, children and youth 
services and other community grants. Disability grants include payments for the National Disability Insurance 
Scheme (NDIS) along with payments for services that remain the responsibility of the Tasmanian 
Government that are outside the scope of the NDIS (such as children's therapy services, information and 
advocacy services). 

The NDIS commenced full scheme on 1 July 2019, under the Bilateral Agreement between the 
Commonwealth of Australia and the State of Tasmania on the National Disability Insurance Scheme. Under 
full scheme, the Commonwealth has fully transitioned to take financial responsibility for aged care and 
specialist disability services. However, at commencement there were several services that remained outside 
of the scope of the NDIS and required continued funding by the Tasmanian Government. These services 
were children’s therapy, advocacy services and continuity of supports for people with disability who are not 
eligible for the NDIS. The Tasmanian Government will retain responsibility for these services. 

The Department also provides assistance to sport and recreation organisations in the State. This includes 
funding for the development of the Northern Regional Tennis Centre, payments for the Local Community 
Facilities Fund, funding important community programs in regional areas, and the Ticket to Play program - 
the first sports voucher system for young Tasmanians. 

This year the Department provided a range of grants across all outputs in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

The Department provides supported accommodation assistance including crisis accommodation and related 
support for people who are experiencing homelessness or who are at imminent risk of becoming homeless 
and private rental support. 

Grants to the Community Housing Program reflect the transfer of properties to non-government 
organisations who have assumed responsibility for the management of Housing properties. 
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The 2019-20 figure has been updated to reflect the service concession assets that were brought on to the 
Balance Sheet at 1 July 2019 and then title transferred to the CHOs during the 2019-20 financial year. 

The Service Concession Assets grants reflect the CHOs share of sales proceeds of service concession assets 
under the Better Housing Futures Agreement. 

The Derwent Entertainment Centre (DEC) grant represents funding to assist with the refurbishment of the 
DEC, which is included in another Department's books. 

8.5 Finance costs  

All finance costs are expensed as incurred using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs primarily include: 

• Interest on superannuation defined benefit plans; and 

• Lease charges. 

 Notes 2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Interest expense    

Interest on lease liabilities    41 52 

Interest on superannuation defined benefit plans 10.4(b)   116 138 

Total      157 190 

8.6 Other expenses  

Other expenses are recognised when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an 
asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be reliably measured. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Salary on-costs  3 804 4 107 

Tasmanian Risk Management Fund premium  1 333 1 115 

Board costs   0 27 

Other   69 1 273 

Total  5 206 6 522 
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Note 9 Assets 
Assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits will flow to the Department and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably. 

9.1 Receivables 

The Department recognises receivables at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any 
subsequent changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through 
the amortisation process. The Department recognises an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt 
financial assets not held at fair value through profit and loss. The expected credit loss is based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

For trade receivables, a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses is applied, with a loss 
allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses recognised at each reporting date. The Department has 
established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience for trade receivables, adjusted 
for forward-looking factors specific to the receivable. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Receivables  16 810 8 592 

Less:  Expected credit loss (786) (748)  

Total  16 024 7 844 

   

Sales of goods and services (inclusive of GST)  15 030 6 601 

Tax assets   994 1 243 

Total  16 024 7 844 

   

Settled within 12 months  16 024 7 844 

Total  16 024 7 844 

 

Tax assets refers to a GST payable at 30 June 2021. 

 

Reconciliation of movement in expected credit loss for receivables 2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July   748 820 

Amounts written off during the year (518) (556) 

Amounts recovered during the year   1 4 

Increase/(decrease) in provision recognised in profit or loss   555 480 

Carrying amount at 30 June   786 748 

 

For ageing analysis of the financial assets, refer to note 14.1. 

The increase in receivables primarily relates to Commonwealth funding to support the quarantine 
arrangements for seasonal workers on behalf of Victoria as part of the COVID-19 response. 
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9.2 Loan advances 

Loan advances are borrowings provided to clients for the purchase of homes and are recognised as the 
balance of the outstanding principal less any impairment losses. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Loan advances  1 348 724 

Less:  Provision for impairment (1) (1) 

Total   1 347 723 

   

Settled within 12 months   352 241 

Settled in more than 12 months   995 482 

Total  1 347 723 

 
Loan advances include financial assistance provided by the Government to individual purchasers in the form 
of loans. The provision for impairment is the result of an audit undertaken by an external entity. 
 
This year it also includes financial assistance to the Migrant Resource Centre. 

9.3 HomeShare investments 

Housing Tasmania holds investments via the HomeShare Program. 

HomeShare investments are initially recorded at cost with any changes in the fair value being recorded as 
income or expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. HomeShare investments are not 
depreciated and are revalued on a biennial basis using information provided by the Valuer-General. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

HomeShare investments  25 822 22 637 

Add:  Additions  5 842 5 854 

Less:  Disposals (4 313) (2 669) 

  27 351 25 822 

Less:  Provision for impairment (72) (78) 

Total  27 277 25 744 

   

Settled in more than 12 months 27 277 25 744 

Total 27 277 25 744 

 

The last revaluation was done in 2019 and the next valuation of these assets will take place in 2022. 

Sixty nine HomeShare investments were disposed of during 2021, and the relevant gain on sale of $933 000 
(2020: $350 000) is disclosed in Note 7.3.  

9.4 Other financial assets 

Other financial assets are held at fair value. 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Accrued revenue  2 630 510 

Inter-entity balance   71 14 

Total  2 701 524 

   

Settled within 12 Months  2 701 524 

Total  2 701 524 

 

The Inter entity balance comprises goods and services tax settlement entries arising from interaction 
between the Department and the Tasmanian Community Fund. 

The increase in accrued revenue relates to the Commonwealth reimbursement for costs associated with 
repatriated Australians quarantined in Victoria on behalf of Tasmania. 

9.5 Assets held for sale 

Assets held for sale (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered 
primarily through sale rather than continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before 
classification as held for sale, fair value assets (or components of a disposal group) are remeasured in 
accordance with the Departmental policy. Upon initial classification to assets held for sale, assets are 
remeasured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss for any initial and subsequent write down from the carrying amount measured 
immediately before re-measurement to fair value less costs of disposal. Such assets are no longer amortised 
or depreciated upon being classified as held for sale. 

a Carrying amount 

 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Land   764 1 093 

Buildings   344 0 

Total  1 108 1 093 

   

Settled within 12 Months  1 108 1 093 

Total  1 108 1 093 

 

Assets held for sale include residential dwellings from the public housing portfolio identified for sale as part 
of the ongoing Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP). Where appropriate, existing dwellings may be 
offered for sale to the sitting tenants supported by government programs such as the HomeShare Shared 
Equity Sales Program or the Streets Ahead Assistance Program. All remaining properties are offered for sale 
through the open market, with all properties sold at a minimum of the market value as assessed by the 
Valuer General. All proceeds from the sale of these assets will be reinvested into the housing portfolio. 

Assets held for sale include a number of blocks of vacant land and some properties. The assets are held for 
disposal in accordance with the SAMP. 
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Assets sold during the year include ten vacant land blocks. The assets were sold in accordance with asset 
management plans. 

The recognised fair value of non-financial assets is classified according to the fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. 

Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets; 

Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 

b Fair value measurement of Assets held for sale (including fair value levels) 
 Carrying 

value 
at 

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period 

2021 

30 June 

$’000 

Level 1 

$’000 

Level 2 

$’000 

Level 3 

$’000 

Land   764   0   764   0 

Buildings   344   0   344   0 

Total  1 108   0  1 108   0 

     

 Carrying 
value 

at 

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period 

2020 

30 June 

$’000 

Level 1 

$’000 

Level 2 

$’000 

Level 3 

$’000 

Land 1 093 0 1 093 0 

Total 1 093 0 1 093 0 

9.6 Property, plant and equipment 

Key estimate and judgement 

(i) Valuation basis 

Land is recorded at fair value and is not depreciated. Buildings, rental dwellings, leasehold improvements and 
community housing stock are recorded at fair value less accumulated depreciation.  All other non-current 
physical assets, including work in progress, are recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  All assets within a class of assets are measured on the same basis. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-
constructed assets include the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the 
items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Fair value is based on the highest and best use of the asset. Unless there is an explicit Government policy to 
the contrary, the highest and best use of an asset is the current purpose for which the asset is being used or 
occupied. 
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The recognised fair value of non-financial assets is classified according to the fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. 

Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets; 

Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
Department and its costs can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. 

(iii) Asset recognition threshold 

The asset capitalisation threshold adopted by the Department are: 

 Plant, equipment, vehicles and Leasehold improvements  $10 000 

 Land and buildings      $10 000 

 Rental dwellings       $10 000 

 Community housing stock     $10 000 

 Intangibles       $50 000 

 Artwork       $10 000 

Assets valued at less than $10 000 (or $50 000 for intangible assets) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year of purchase (other than where they form part of a group of similar items 
which are material in total). 

(iv) Revaluations 

The Department's Land and Building assets, excluding vacant land, were revalued independently by the 
Valuer-General of Tasmania as at 30 June 2018. These assets were valued in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment) and Treasurer's Instructions (TI 303 and TI 
206). In 2021 these assets received a desktop indice valuation based on a review of market movement (Level 
2 hierarchy) and construction cost (Level 3 hierarchy) undertaken by the Valuer-General of Tasmania for the 
period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. This year, vacant land was revalued in accordance with valuation cycles. 

Revaluations are shown on a gross basis where a replacement cost basis of valuations has been used. Asset 
revaluations based on a market basis are disclosed on a net basis; however the Department has endeavoured 
to obtain replacement cost valuations where possible to enable gross values to be disclosed. 

In accordance with the Department's revaluation policy, the next valuation for these assets will take place in 
2 years time with the Valuer-General assisting in the determination of Adjusted Interim Carrying Amounts 
for the real property for the interim two financial years. 

Housing Tasmania's Rental Dwellings and Community Housing stock are revalued biennially as at 1 July using 
a mix of valuations and/or updated suburb based indices adjustments. This revaluation cycle aligns with the 
Valuer-General's practice of updating capital values every two years. Rental Dwellings and Community 
Housing stock were revalued on 1 July 2018, but were not revalued in 2020-21 as planned due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The next revaluation will occur during the year ending 30 June 2022.  

Publicly available market evidence indicates a reportable increase may have occurred in the value of Rental 
Dwellings and Community Housing stock since the last revaluation on 1 July 2018. Due to uncertainty over 
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the rate of increase for these assets, Housing Tasmania could not reliably measure the increase in value and 
consequently determined the current carrying value to be indicative of fair value. 

Sensitivity analysis of the potential impact valuation increases would have on the value of Rental Dwellings 
and Community Housing stock is shown below: 

 

Percentage increase in value 0% 10% 15% 20% 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Increase in value  0  174 142  261 213  348 284 

Carrying value 1 741 420 1 915 562 2 002 633 2 089 704 

 

Impairment losses resulting from arson are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income directly 
against the revaluation reserves, with the total amount of demolitions due to arson disclosed in the 
Property, Plant and Equipment Note. 

(v) Service concession assets 

The Department has adopted AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors from 1 July 2019. 
Comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been prepared under a modified retrospective approach 
to reflect AASB 1059. The recognition approach and a summary of impacts on first time adoption are 
detailed at note 20.5. Service concession arrangements are contracts between a grantor and an operator 
where an operator provides public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of a public sector 
grantor for a specified period of time and manages at least some of those services, as explained further 
below. 

Initial recognition 

The Department recognises a service concession asset when it controls the asset. Where the asset is 
provided by the operator, or is an upgrade to or a major component replacement of an existing asset of the 
Department, the asset is recognised at current replacement cost based on AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
principles. 

Where an asset is an existing asset of the Department, the asset is reclassified as a service concession asset 
and remeasured at current replacement cost at the date of reclassification. Any difference between the 
previous carrying amount and current replacement cost is recognised as if it is a revaluation of the asset. 

Subsequent to initial recognition 

Subsequent to the initial recognition or reclassification. The service concession asset is measured at current 
replacement cost and accounted for in accordance with the depreciation and impairment requirements of 
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

At the end of the arrangement 

At the end of the service concession arrangement the Department accounts for the asset in accordance with 
Australian accounting standards, reclassifying the asset based on its nature and function. The asset fair value 
reverts from the mandated current replacement cost under AASB 1059, to the appropriate approach under 
AASB 13. The asset is derecognised when the entity loses control of the asset in accordance with AASB 116. 
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a Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Land   

Housing vacant land at fair value  31 982 36 085 

Communities Tasmania Land at fair value  11 014 12 389 

Total Land  42 996 48 474 

Buildings   

Communities Tasmania Buildings at fair value  132 180 128 908 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (78 401) (74 157) 

Total Communities Tasmania buildings  53 779 54 751 

Rental dwellings   

Rental dwellings buildings at fair value 1 173 994 1 173 067 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (68 073) (45 139) 

Total Rental Dwellings Buildings 1 105 921 1 127 928 

Rental dwellings land at fair value  565 907  565 760 

Total rental dwellings 1 671 828 1 693 688 

Community housing stock   

Community housing buildings at fair value  62 047  43 611 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2 681) (1 746) 

Total Community housing stock buildings  59 366  41 865 

Community housing land at fair value  10 226  5 656 

Total community housing stock  69 592  47 521 

Plant, equipment and vehicles   

At cost  7 947 2 545 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2 399) (1 773) 

Total plant, equipment and vehicles  5 548 772 

Leasehold Improvements   

Leasehold Improvements at fair value  1 906 1 812 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (977) (417) 

Total Leasehold Improvements   929 1 395 

Total plant, equipment, vehicles and Leasehold Improvements  6 477  2 167 

Work in progress   

Buildings  23 467 16 922 

Plant, equipment and vehicles   161 0 

Total work in progress  23 628 16 922 

Total Property, plant and equipment 1 868 300 1 863 523 
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b Reconciliation of movements (including fair value levels) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of Property, Plant and Equipment at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below. Carrying value means the net amount after deducting accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

 Community 
housing stock 

Rental 
Dwellings 

Land Buildings Plant, 
equipment & 

vehicles 

Works in 
progress 

Total 

  Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 3     

2021  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July   47 521 1 693 688  48 474  54 751  2 167  16 922 1 863 523 

Additions    0   0   0   702   93  38 328  39 123 

Disposals    0 (3 230) (769)   0   0   0 (3 999) 

Revaluation increments (decrements)    0   0  2 148  1 165   0   0  3 313 

Assets held for sale    0   0 (303)   0   0   0 (303) 

Grants transfers (refer Note 8.4)     0   0 (2 537)   0   0   0 (2 537) 

Transfers between classes   1 650 (4 096) (4 017)   0  4 096   0 (2 367) 

WIP transfers   21 356  8 528   0 (491)  1 306 (30 699)   0 

WIP expensed    0   0   0   0   0 (923) (923) 

Depreciation   (935) (23 062)   0 (2 348) (1 185)   0 (27 530) 

               

Carrying value at 30 June   69 592 1 671 828  42 996  53 779  6 477  23 628 1 868 300 

 

Grants transfers includes property transferred under various Community Housing programs. 

Transfers between classes includes transfers to Service Concession Assets (Note 9.7b). 
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 Community 
housing stock 

Rental 
Dwellings 

Land Buildings Plant, 
equipment & 

vehicles 

Works in 
progress 

Total 

  Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 3     

2020  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July   48 572 1 680 157  47 918  52 474   466  47 417 1 877 004 

Net transfers through restructuring (refer Note 12.2)    0   0   360   413   0   0   773 

Additions    0  4 048   0   0   201  30 420  34 669 

Disposals    1 (4 799) (1 843)   0 (4)   0 (6 645) 

Revaluation increments (decrements)    0 (1 716)  3 669  2 123   0   0  4 076 

Assets held for sale    0   321 (79)   0   0   0   242 

Grants transfers (refer Note 8.4)   (344) (8 372) (6 151)   0   0 (236) (15 103) 

Transfers between classes    0   655 (655)   0   0   0   0 

WIP transfers    164  46 344  5 255  1 812  2 107 (55 682)   0 

WIP expensed    0   0   0   0   0 (4 997) (4 997) 

Depreciation   (872) (22 950)   0 (2 071) (603)   0 (26 496) 

         

Carrying value at 30 June   47 521 1 693 688  48 474  54 751  2 167  16 922 1 863 523 
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at measurement date. It is based on the principle of exit 
price, and refers to the price an entity expects to receive when it sells an asset, or the price an entity 
expects to pay when it transfers a liability. 

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value seek to maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Valuation techniques are classified based on the level of use of 
observable versus unobservable inputs as follows: 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure 
fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available. 

c Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value 
Description Fair value at 

30 June 

$’000 

Significant unobservable 
inputs used in 
valuation 

Possible alternative values 
for level 3 inputs 

Sensitivity of fair value to 
changes in level 3 
inputs 

Buildings  53 779 A - Construction costs 
B - Age and condition of   
asset 
C - Remaining useful life 

When valuing these assets, 
their existing and alternative 
uses are taken into account by 
valuers.  As a result, it is 
unlikely that alternative values 
will arise unless there are 
changes in known inputs. 

Tasmanian construction 
indexes have remained stable 
over the last 12 months.  
Design and useful lives are 
reviewed regularly but 
generally remain unchanged.  
As a result, it is unlikely that 
significant variations in values 
will arise in the short term. 

9.7 Service Concession Assets 

a Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Service Concession Assets land at fair value  224 590 175 829 

Service Concession Assets buildings at fair value  853 086 744 519 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (257 861) (235 624) 

Total Service Concession Assets buildings  595 225 508 895 

   

Service Concession Assets buildings Work in progress  1 305 0 

   

Total Service Concession Assets  821 120 684 724 

 

The net carrying amount of service concession assets is $821.12 million as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020:  

$684.724 million). During the current period, there were no existing assets of the Department that were 
reclassified as service concession assets (2020: $38.425 million). 

Based on the Department’s assessment, the following arrangements fall in scope of AASB 1059:
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

‘$000 

Better 
Housing 
Futures  

Commenced 
in 2013/14 
for a period 
of ten years. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 

*certain operational services; and 

*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate:  

*services provided;  

* to whom these services are 
provided to;  

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and  

*maintenance\ upgrades to stock. 

 

Sales and Development 
Agreements regulate 

*sales/acquisitions e.g key 
deliverables/ milestones & 
quarantining of sales proceeds to 
program. 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 
or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

No major policy changes, just 
minor ons and offs via sales. 
First policy change is next 
financial year when all 
properties under this 
arrangement will be 
transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  761 596  650 369 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

‘$000 

Salvation 
Army Housing 

Ends in 2023 
with a 5-
year option 
to extend. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 

*certain operational services; and  

*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate: *services 
provided; 

* to whom these service are 
provided to; 

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and 

*maintenance and upgrades to 
stock. 

 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 
or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

No major policy changes, just 
minor ons and offs via sales. 
First policy change is next 
financial year all properties 
under this arrangement will 
be transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  24 224  20 469 

Community 
Housing 
Grants 
Program 

40 years 
from date of 
signing  

CHOs build 
properties on behalf 
of HT under Ground 
Lease Agreements. 
HT contribute to the 
construction costs 
via grant payments. 
HT holds the title to 

Agreements include mandatory 
requirements including: 
*rent-setting methodology; 
*housing priority applicants 
*retention of use for 30 years; 
and ongoing maintenance. 

Nil Nil.  18 949 Nil. 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

‘$000 

these properties. 
Dwellings retained 
for public housing 
with the CHOs being 
responsible for 
tenancy management. 

Nation 
Building 
Economic 
Stimulus 
Package 
(NBESP) 
Arrangements 

The 
deliverables 
that were 
required in 
return for 
management 
of these 
sites have 
been 
completed. 
 
Moving to 
the 
Community 
Housing 
Growth 
Program in 
2021 and 
not under 
separate 
agreement 
as per 
current 
status. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 
*certain operational services; and  
*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate:  

*services provided; 

* to whom these services are 
provided to; 

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and 

*maintenance and upgrades to 
stock. 

*CHOs under NBESP set and 
manage own maintenance 
program. 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 

No major policy changes. 
First policy change is next 
financial year all properties 
under this arrangement will 
be transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  16 351  13 886 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

‘$000 

or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

Total       821 120  684 724 
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b Reconciliation of movements 
2021 Land Buildings Works in 

progress 
Total 

 Level 3 Level 3   

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July  175 829  508 895   0  684 724 

Additions   0  16 818  1 305  18 123 

Disposals (1 729) (3 797)   0 (5 526) 

Revaluation increments (decrements)  48 296  79 993   0  128 289 

Assets held for sale (173) (376)   0 (549) 

Transfers between classes  2 367   0   0  2 367 

Depreciation   0 (6 308)   0 (6 308) 

Carrying amount at 30 June  224 590  595 225  1 305  821 120 

     

2020 Land Buildings Works in 
progress 

Total 

 Level 3 Level 3   

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July  189 066  542 460   0  731 526 

Disposals (1 360) (3 231)   0 (4 591) 

Grants Transfers (11 877) (23 976)   0 (35 853) 

Depreciation   0 (6 358)   0 (6 358) 

Carrying amount at 30 June  175 829  508 895   0  684 724 

9.8 Right-of-use assets 

AASB 16 requires the Department to recognise a right-of-use asset, where it has control of the underlying 
asset over the lease term. A right-of-use asset is measured at the present value of initial lease liability, 
adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial 
direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site. 

The Department has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short term 
leases, rental arrangements for which Finance General has substantive substitution rights over the assets and 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to office 
accommodation. An asset is considered low value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the term of the lease. 
Where the Department obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Department will exercise a purchase option, the Department depreciates the right-of-
use asset overs its useful life. 
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a Carrying amount 

  2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Leased land and buildings    

At fair value   1 580 1 602 

Less: Accumulated amortisation  (969) (316) 

Total    611 1 286 

    

Leased plant, equipment and vehicles    

At fair value   2 312 2 312 

Less: Accumulated amortisation  (1 257) (538) 

Total   1 055 1 774 

    

Total right-of-use assets  1 666 3 060 

b Reconciliation of movements 
 Buildings Plant, 

equipment 
& vehicles 

Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July  1 286  1 774  3 060 

    

Amortisation (675) (719) (1 394) 

       

Carrying value at 30 June   611  1 055  1 666 

 

 Buildings Plant, 
equipment 
& vehicles 

Total 

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July   931   0   931 

    

Additions   671  2 312  2 983 

Amortisation (316) (538) (854) 

       

Carrying value at 30 June  1 286  1 774  3 060 

9.9 Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is recognised where: 

• it is probable that an expected future benefit attributable to the asset will flow to the Department, and 

• the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. 
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Intangible assets held by the Department are valued at fair value less any subsequent accumulated 
amortisation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses where an active market exists. Where no 
active market exists, intangible assets held by the Department are valued at cost less any subsequent 
accumulated amortisation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life held by the Department principally comprise computer software. 

a Carrying amount 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life   

Other non-current assets at cost   4 849 4 849 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (3 570) (2 366) 

Total  1 279 2 483 

   

Capital work in progress   0 24 

Total intangible assets  1 279 2 507 

b Reconciliation of movements  
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July  2 507 2 830 

Intangible assets – purchases    0 42 

Work in progress at cost   0 65 

WIP expensed (24) 32 

Amortisation (1 204) (462) 

Carrying amount at 30 June  1 279 2 507 

9.10 Other assets 

Other assets, which consists of prepayments, are valued at cost due to the short timeframe over which the 
benefits embodied in the asset will be utilised. 

a Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Other current assets   

Prepayments   263 714 

Total    263 714 

   

Recovered within 12 months   263 714 

Total    263 714 
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b Reconciliation of movements 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July   714 57 

Additions   263 714 

Utilised (714) (57) 

Carrying amount at 30 June   263 714 
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Note 10 Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the 
amount at which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

10.1 Payables 

Payables, including goods received and services incurred but not yet invoiced, are recognised at amortised 
cost, which due to the short settlement period, equates to face value, when the Department becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Creditors  7 231 3 187 

Accrued expenses  6 933 8 529 

Total  14 164 11 716 

   

Settled within 12 months  14 164 11 716 

Total  14 164 11 716 

 

Accrued expenses predominantly include Housing Tasmania payments to be made relating to outstanding 
insurance claims of $2.638 million and work order and maintenance management fee raised in July 2021 but 
related to June 2021 of $2.654 million. 

The increase in payables is due to timing of grant payments for social housing (Housing Tasmania). 

Settlement is usually made within 28 days. 

10.2 Lease liabilities 

A lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The 
discount rate used to calculate the present value of the lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease. Where 
the implicit rate is not known and cannot be determined the Tascorp indicative lending rate including the 
relevant administration margin is used. 

The Department has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities arising from short term 
leases, rental arrangements for which Finance General has substantive substitution rights over the assets and 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to office 
accommodation. An asset is considered low value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000. 

The Department has entered into the following leasing arrangements: 

Class of right of use asset Details of leasing arrangements 

Plant and equipment The use of the equipment (converted shipping containers) is for the purpose of 
providing temporary accommodation to people who are at risk of 
homelessness. The annual lease payments will vary in proportion to the change 
in the Consumer Price Index over the period. The period is 3 years and three 
months. There is an option to terminate without cause with the lessor then 
being entitled to a payout figure. There is no option for a lease extension. 

Buildings The use of the buildings includes archiving, minor office accommodation, 
professional gymnasium and consulting rooms. The lease payments vary in 
accordance with CPI and there are options for lease extensions. 

  

 



 

Department of Communities Tasmania  Financial Statements 77 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Current   

Lease liabilities  1 057 1 191 

Non-current   

Lease liabilities   647 1 704 

Total  1 704 2 895 

 
The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Interest on lease liabilities included in note 8.5   41 52 

Lease expenses included in note 8.3:   

       Short term leases   189 157 

Net expenses from leasing activities   230 209 

10.3 Employee benefit liabilities 

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised when an employee becomes entitled to 
receive a benefit. Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount 
expected to be paid. Other employee entitlements are measured as the present value of the benefit at 
30 June, where the impact of discounting is material and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is 
not material. 

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Accrued salaries  1 081 840 

Annual leave  7 339 6 898 

Long service leave  14 649 13 526 

Other employee benefits   174 194 

Total  23 243 21 458 

   

Expected to settle wholly within 12 months  7 892 8 011 

Expected to settle wholly after 12 months  15 351 13 447 

Total  23 243 21 458 

   

 

Other employee benefits are comprised of Purchased Leave Scheme and State Service Accumulated Leave 
Scheme entitlements. 

10.4 Superannuation 

i Defined contribution plans 
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A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when they fall due. 

ii Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 

Key estimate and judgement 

With the exceptions noted below, the Department does not recognise a liability for the accruing 
superannuation benefits of State Service employees. This liability is held centrally within Government and is 
recognised within the Finance-General Division of the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

Housing Tasmania's superannuation obligations, in respect of the contributory service of current and past 
government employees, are recognised at the latest actuarial assessment of the members’ entitlements, net 
of scheme assets. The valuation is determined by discounting to present value, the gross benefit payments at 
a current, market-determined, risk-adjusted discount rate appropriate to the respective plan. 

Actuarial gains or losses arising from the actuarial revaluation of Housing Tasmania superannuation liabilities 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

a Type of plan 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision 

Housing Tasmania is required to meet the emerging cost of pension payments paid in respect of retired 
employees, where those employees had a superannuation entitlement that accrued before 1 July 1994. 

Members of the Contributory Scheme receive lump sum or pension benefits on retirement, death, invalidity 
or upon reaching preservation age after resignation. The Contributory Scheme is closed to new members. 

The Scheme operates under the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016. 

The Superannuation Commission has fiduciary responsibility for, and oversees the administration of, the 
Scheme. The day running of the Scheme is managed by the Office of the Superannuation Commission, within 
the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

There are a number of risks to which the Scheme exposes Housing Tasmania. The more significant risks 
relating to the defined benefits are: 

• Inflation risk - The risk is that inflation is higher than anticipated, increasing pension payments and the 
associated employer contributions over the long term. 

• Pensioner mortality risk - The risk is that pensioner mortality will be lighter than expected, resulting in 
pensions being paid for a longer period. 

• Legislative risk - The risk is that legislative changes could be made which increase the cost of providing 
the defined benefits. 

The State Actuary undertook a revaluation of the present value of the benefit obligation and the fair value of 
the plan assets as at 30 June 2021 using the process outlined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits issued on 
September 2011. As a result of the revaluation it was determined that the Housing Tasmania Superannuation 
Provision was in deficit by $6.761 million (2020: $7.553 million deficit). 

The valuation of the superannuation liability relates to the entitlements that accrued before 1 July 1994 for 
current employees of Housing Tasmania who are members of the Retirement Benefits Fund Contributory 
Scheme and former employees who were either contributors or non-contributors and who have retained 
benefits or are current pensioners. 
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b Reconciliation of movements in present value of superannuation liability 

  Housing Tasmania 
Superannuation Provision 

Total Liability 

 

  2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July   7 553  7 986  7 553  7 986 

      

Included in profit or loss      

Interest cost    116   138   116   138 

    116   138   116   138 

      

Included in other comprehensive income      

Re-measurement loss (gain):      

Actuarial loss (gain)  (424)   51 (424)   51 

Actuarial gains/(losses)  (424)   51 (424)   51 

Other      

Employer contributions  (484)  (622) (484) (622) 

  (484)  (622) (484) (622) 

Balance at 30 June   6 761  7 553  6 761  7 553 

c Plan assets at fair value 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision does not have any plan assets due to members being part of the 
RBF Contributory Scheme. 
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d Key actuarial assumptions 

Assumptions to Determine Defined Benefit Cost Housing Tasmania 
Superannuation 

Provision 

 2021 

% 

2020 

% 

Discount rate 1.60 1.80 

Future rate of salary increases 3.00 3.00 

Future rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 3.00 3.00 

Inflation (pension) 2.25 2.50 

   

Assumptions to Determine Defined Benefit Obligation Housing Tasmania 
Superannuation 

Provision 

 2021 

% 

2020 

% 

Discount rate 2.15 1.60 

Future rate of salary increases 3.00 3.00 

Future rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 3.00 3.00 

Inflation (pension) 2.25 2.25 

 

As at 30 June 2021 the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for Housing was 10.5 
years (2020: 11.1 years). 

e Sensitivity analysis 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision 

The defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2021 is presented below under several scenarios. 

Scenario A and B relate to discount rate sensitivity. Scenario C and D relate to expected pension increase 
rate sensitivity. 

Scenario A : 1.0% pa lower discount rate assumption 

Scenario B : 1.0% pa higher discount rate assumption 

Scenario C : 1.0% pa lower than expected pension increase rate assumption 

Scenario D : 1.0% pa higher than expected pension increase rate assumption 

Defined benefit obligation 
Base Case 

Scenario 
A 

Scenario 
B 

Scenario 
C 

Scenario 
D 

 

 

-1% pa 
discount 

rate 

+1% pa 
discount 

rate 

-1% pa 
pension 
increase 

rate 

+1% pa 
pension 
increase 

rate 

Discount rate (% pa) 2.15 1.15 3.15 2.15 2.15 

Pension increase rate (% pa) 2.25 2.25 2.25 1.25 3.25 

      

Defined benefit obligation (A$’000s) 6 761 7 520 6 126 6 148 7 478 
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The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst 
retaining all other assumptions. 

f Funding arrangements 

Contributions to the Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision in respect of defined benefit schemes are 
made on an emerging cost basis. 

The Department expects to make a contribution of $548 000 (2020: $577 000) for the Housing Tasmania 
Superannuation Provision during the next financial year. 

10.5 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities and other financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a 
present obligation and the amount at which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

Other liabilities include revenue received in advance and on-costs associated with employee benefits. 
Revenue received in advance is measured at amortised cost. On-costs associated with employee benefits 
expected to be realised within 12 months are measured at the amount expected to be paid.  Other on-costs 
associated with employee benefits are measured at the present value of the cost at 30 June 2021, where the 
impact of discounting is material, and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is not material.   

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Revenue received in advance   

Rent revenue received in advance  2 510 3 010 

Special Capital Investment Funds revenue received in advance   0 1 673 

   

Other liabilities   

Employee benefit liabilities – on-costs  1 080 932 

Inter-entity balance  1 385 1 271 

Unearned revenue - Grant of a right to operate liability under service concessions  7 447 0 

Other liabilities    125 250 

Total  12 547 7 136 

   

Settled within 12 months  4 537 6 522 

Settled in more than 12 months  8 010 614 

Total   12 547 7 136 

 

The Inter entity balance comprises transactions arising from interaction between the Department and the 
Department of Health, including goods and services tax settlement entries. 

Other liabilities primarily represent the granting of a right to operate service concession assets to CHOs 
under the Community Housing Grant Program, which commenced this financial year. 
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Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies 

11.1 Schedule of commitments 

Commitments represent those contractual arrangements entered by the Department that are not reflected 
in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Leases are recognised as right of use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, 
excluding short term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, which are recognised as 
an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

By Type   

Capital commitments   

Property, plant and equipment   355 0 

Housing Tasmania  221 127 43 673 

Total Capital commitments  221 482 43 673 

   

Lease commitments   

Short term and/or low value leases   0 26 

Rent on buildings  9 274 7 359 

Motor vehicles   366 329 

Total lease commitments  9 640 7 714 

   

Other commitments   

Miscellaneous grants  160 921 160 802 

Miscellaneous Goods and Services contracts  338 035 261 517 

NDIS Bilateral Agreement 1 673 747 1 609 372 

Total other commitments 2 172 703 2 031 691 

   

Total 2 403 825 2 083 078 

   

By Maturity   

Capital commitments   

One year or less  152 219  32 419 

From one to five years  69 263  11 254 

Total capital commitments  221 482  43 673 

   

Operating lease commitments   

One year or less  2 679  2 285 

From one to five years  4 788  4 882 

More than five years  2 173   547 

Total operating lease commitments   9 640  7 714 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

   

Other commitments   

One year or less  494 669  388 537 

From one to five years 1 371 027 1 347 955 

More than five years  307 007  295 199 

Total other commitments  2 172 703 2 031 691 

   

Total 2 403 825 2 083 078 

 

Capital Commitments (GST Inclusive)  

Housing Tasmania commitments relate to construction of new dwellings as part of the Agreement 
underpinning the Commonwealth State Housing Agreement (CSHA) debt waiver and capital works under 
the Affordable Housing Strategy Action Plan 2019-2023 (Action Plan 2).  

Rent on Buildings (GST Inclusive) 

The Department leases a range of properties/tenancies around the State for service delivery purpose. 

Motor Vehicles 

The Government Motor Vehicle Fleet is managed as part of a Whole-of-Government arrangement with the 
Department of Treasury and Finance as lessor.  Lease payments vary according to the type of vehicle and, 
where applicable, the price received for trade-in vehicles.  Lease terms for the majority of existing vehicles 
are for a period of three years or 60 000 km’s, whichever comes first, with no change to the lease rate. No 
restrictions or purchase options are contained in the lease. 

Miscellaneous Grants (GST Exclusive) 

Miscellaneous Grants includes grants programs under Children and Youth Services, Community Support 
Program, Disability Services and Housing Tasmania. 

Miscellaneous goods and services contracts 

This year, miscellaneous goods and services contracts includes commitments for the "quarantine hotels", 
which may be extended to March next year depending on negotiations underway at reporting date. 

11.2 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position due to uncertainty 
regarding any possible amount or timing of any possible underlying claim or obligation. 

a Quantifiable contingencies 

A quantifiable contingent asset is any possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity. 

A quantifiable contingent liability is any possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the entity; or any present obligation that arises from past events but is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. To the extent that any quantifiable contingencies are insured, details 
provided below are recorded net. 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Quantifiable contingent liabilities   

Contingent claims   

Legal Claims   251 325 

Total quantifiable contingent liabilities   251 325 

   

Quantifiable contingent assets   

Community housing properties  8 224  36 714 

Less accumulated depreciation (311) (970) 

Better Housing Futures properties   697  521 265 

Less accumulated depreciation   0 (14 970) 

Total quantifiable contingent assets  8 610  542 039 

 

Legal Claims 

At 30 June 2021, the Department had some legal claims against it for other liability claims. These claims are 
reported at the estimated net cost to the Department. 

Contingent liabilities relating to the National Redress Scheme have been excluded from the Department's 
Statements (estimated liability $12.8 million as at reporting date). These claims are being administered by the 
Department of Justice and therefore are reported in the Department of Justice's Financial Statements. 

The Department manages its legal claims through the Tasmanian Risk Management Fund (TRMF).  An excess 
of 26 weeks for Workers Compensation and Personal Accident or $50 000 for Medical Liability remains 
payable for every claim and amounts over that excess are met by the TRMF. 

Community Housing 

Quantifiable contingent assets represent assets that are currently not under the control of the Department 
but it is probable that control will return to the Department in the future. 

Quantifiable contingent assets represent dwellings for which the legal title is retained by Housing Tasmania, 
however some components of tenancy and property management have been transferred to CHOs. 

Most of these assets fall under older legacy agreements. 

Better Housing Futures (BHF) 

The decrease from last year reflects the implementation of AASB 1059 Service Concession Assets: Grantors, 
which has resulted in the majority of former contingent assets being reported on the Balance Sheet. Refer to 
Note 9.7. 

The remaining balance in 2021 refers to blocks of vacant land that may be transferred, depending on the 
CHOs activities. 

b Unquantifiable Contingencies 

Community Housing Growth Program 

The Department will be transferring management of 2 000 of its public housing properties to the community 
housing sector under the Community Housing Growth Program. This transfer builds on the capacity of the 
sector through providing long term agreements and leveraging the construction of new social housing supply 
through capital grant funding packages. 

At reporting date, one agreement has been signed with Centacare Evolve (CEH), which will commence on 1 
September 2021. This agreement transfers management of 696 existing Housing Tasmania properties. 
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National Redress Scheme 

During 2018-19 the Tasmanian Government agreed to participate in the Australian Government’s National 
Redress Scheme for Institutional Child Sexual Abuse. The Scheme allows for redress to be provided to 
individuals who suffered abuse (sexual abuse and related non-sexual abuse) which occurred when the person 
was a child while in the care of an institution. Survivors are able to lodge an application with the Scheme, 
including where they suffered abuse in more than one institution. 

The Scheme is operated by the Australian Government’s Department of Social Services. The Department 
provides verifying information as required, delivers elements of the redress and contributes costs associated 
with redress, legal support, counselling and management, and administrative costs associated with the 
program. 

The National Scheme will operate for a period of 10 years, from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2028.  

The Department of Justice has received a number applications for redress from individuals who have 
suffered abuse under the National Redress Scheme for Institutional Child Sexual Abuse. Additionally, a 
number of civil claims have been made against various Government agencies, including the Department of 
Communities relating to child abuse in state care. For the Department, these claims have not yet been 
assessed and it is not possible at the reporting date to accurately estimate the amounts of any eventual 
payments that may be required in relation to these claims, as a result they are currently classified as 
unquantifiable contingent liabilities. 
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Note 12 Reserves 

12.1 Reserves 

2021  Service 
Concession 

Assets 

Community 
housing 

stock 

Rental 
dwellings 

Land Buildings  Artwork Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset revaluation reserve         

Balance at the beginning of financial year    0  4 576  585 775  15 779  22 737   6  628 873 

Transfers to/(from) accumulated funds    0   0 (1 773) (3 494)   0   0 (5 267) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements)   128 289   0   0  2 148  1 164   0  131 600 

Balance at the end of financial year   128 289  4 576  584 001  14 433  23 901   6  755 206 

         

2020  Service 
Concession 

Assets 

Community 
housing 

stock 

Rental 
dwellings 

Land Buildings  Artwork Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset revaluation reserve         

Balance at the beginning of financial year    0  7 614  591 274  17 352  22 202   6  638 448 

Create ARR - AASB 1059   0 (2 896)  1 085   0   0   0 (1 811) 

Create ARR on restructure   0   0   0   173 (1 587)   0 (1 414) 

Transfers to/(from) accumulated funds    0 (142) (4 933) (5 351)   0   0 (10 426) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements)    0   0 (1 651)  3 605  2 122   0  4 076 

Balance at the end of financial year    0  4 576  585 775  15 779  22 737   6  628 873 

a Nature and purpose of reserves 

Asset revaluation reserve 

The Asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-financial assets, as described in Note 9.6. 

12.2 Administrative restructuring 

Net assets received under a restructuring of administrative arrangements are designated as contributions by 
owners and adjusted directly against equity. Net assets relinquished are designated as distributions to 
owners. Net assets transferred are initially recognised at the amounts at which they were recognised by the 
transferring department immediately prior to the transfer. 

In the previous year, assets were transferred to the Department from the former Department of Health and 
Human Services under the State Service (Restructuring) Order 2018. At the time of the restructure, the 
building was still in use as a hospital and so it was unable to be transferred with the remainder of the assets. 

Additionally, last financial year a resource transfer was agreed between the Department of Health and the 
Department of Communities Tasmania. This saw a number of positions from the Community Sector Related 
Unit transferred to the Department of Communities Tasmania. 

There have been no administrative restructures during this financial year. 

The impact of these restructures on the Department's Balance Sheet is shown below. 

a Activity 
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  Assets 
transferred 

from the 
DoH 2020 

  $’000 

Assets  

Non-financial assets   

Property, plant and equipment  772 

Total assets  772 

   

Liabilities   

Employee benefits  236 

Other liabilities  4 

Total liabilities  240 

   

Net Assets  532 

   

Represented by:   

Asset revaluations reserve  (1 414) 

Accumulated funds  1 946 

  532 
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Note 13 Cash Flow Reconciliation 
Cash means notes, coins, any deposits held at call with a bank or financial institution, as well as funds held in 
Specific Purpose Accounts, being short term of three months or less and highly liquid. Deposits are 
recognised at amortised cost, being their face value. 

13.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the balance of the Specific Purpose Accounts held by the Department, and 
other cash held, excluding those accounts which are administered or held in a trustee capacity or agency 
arrangement. 

  2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Specific Purpose Account balances   

 
DCT Operating Account  70 238 82 003 

Total   70 238 82 003 

    

Other cash held   

Other cash equivalents not included above   13 13 

Total  13 13 

    

Total cash and cash equivalents 70 251 82 016 

 

Other cash equivalents primarily represent petty cash and cash floats. 
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13.2 Reconciliation of Net result to Net cash from operating activities 

 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net result (821) 107 465 

Depreciation and amortisation  36 436  34 171 

Recognition of assets as a result of stocktake/donations   0 (157 842) 

Non-operational capital funding (40 562) (26 767) 

Capital grants expense  2 537  50 955 

WIP expensed    947  4 965 

Transfer of assets due to administrative restructure    0 (241) 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets   357  5 600 

Other gain/(loss) (939) (327) 

Decrease (increase) in Receivables (8 180)  1 123 

Decrease (increase) in Other assets (1 726) (850) 

Increase (decrease) in Employee benefit liabilities  1 785   443 

Increase (decrease) in Superannuation (368) (484) 

Increase (decrease) in Payables  2 448 (17 407) 

Increase (decrease) in Other liabilities (2 036) (8 953) 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities (10 122) (8 149) 

   

 

The 2019-20 cash flow figures have been updated to include newly identified non-operational capital funds. 
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13.3 Acquittal of capital investment and Special Capital Investment Funds 

The Department received Capital Appropriation funding and revenues from Special Capital Investment Funds 
to fund specific projects. 

Cash outflows relating to these projects are listed below by category. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 

a Project expenditure 
  2021 2021 2020 

  Budget Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Capital Investment Program    

Affordable Housing Strategy Stage 1 
  0   0   17 

Affordable Housing Strategy Stage 2 
 35 000  35 000  40 850 

AYDC Redevelopment 
 4 200  2 357   517 

Indoor Multisports Facility 
  0   0   127 

Silverdome Redevelopment 
  0   0   71 

Housing – New Projects 
 50 054  51 447  30 628 

Total Capital Investment Program 
 89 254  88 804  72 210 

 
   

Special Capital Investment Funds 
   

Housing Fund 
   

National Rental Affordability Scheme 
  0   264  1 308 

 
      

Total Special Capital Investment Fund 
  0   264  1 308 

Total 
 89 254  89 068  73 518 

b Classification of cash flows 

The project expenditure above is reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows as follows. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Cash outflows   

Employee benefits  1 426   847 

Supplies and consumables 
 2 171  4 185 

Grants 
 34 045  29 558 

Payments for acquisition of assets 
 50 705  38 928 

Other cash payments 
  721   0 

Total cash outflows 
 89 068  73 518 
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13.4 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 
classified in the Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities. 

2021 

Borrowings 

$’000 

Lease liabilities 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020   0  2 895 

Cash Repayments   0 (1 191) 

Balance as at 30 June 2021   0  1 704 

   

 

2020 

Borrowings 

$’000 

Lease liabilities 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2019  157 600   931 

Acquisitions / New leases   0  2 983 

Other movements (157 600)   0 

Cash Repayments   0 (1 019) 

Balance as at 30 June 2020   0  2 895 
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Note 14 Financial Instruments 

14.1 Risk Exposures 

a Risk management policies 

The Department has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:  

• credit risk 

• liquidity risk; and 

• market risk. 

The Accountable Authority has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Department’s risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse 
risks faced by the Department, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. 

b Credit risk exposures 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Department if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

Financial Instrument Accounting and strategic policies 
(including recognition criteria and 
measurement basis and credit 
quality of instrument) 

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 
conditions affecting the amount, 
timing and certainty of cash flows) 

Financial Assets 

Loans and Receivables Loans and Receivables are recognised at 
the nominal amounts due, less any 
provision for impairment. 

Collectability of debts is reviewed on a 
monthly basis. Provisions are made when 
the collection of the debt is judged to be 
less rather than more likely. 

Receivables credit terms are generally 45 
days.  
Loan advances are secured by a 
mortgage over real property. 

HomeShare investments HomeShare Investments are recognised 
at the Department's proportional share 
of the fair value of the underlying 
property value, less any provision for 
impairment. 
These investments are revalued on a 
biennial basis. 

HomeShare investments credit terms 
require the repayment of the 
Departmental HomeShare interest in a 
land and building asset, in cash, within a 
maximum term of 30 years. 

Other financial assets Other financial assets are recognised at 
the nominal amounts due, less any 
provision for impairment. 

Other financial assets credit terms are 
generally 45 days. 

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are recognised 
at face value. 

 

Cash means notes, coins and any short-
term deposits held at call with a bank or 
financial institution. 
 

 

The Department has made no changes to its credit risk policy during 2020-21. The Department does not 
hold any security instrument for its Cash and Deposits, Other financial assets and Receivables. 

Loan advances are secured by a mortgage over real property. HomeShare investments represent the 
Department’s HomeShare interest in land and building assets sold to Housing Tasmania clients and payable in 
cash within 30 years. The HomeShare investments are revalued on a biennial basis. 
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No credit terms on any departmental financial assets have been renegotiated. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the Financial Statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any 
collateral or other security. 

Receivables age analysis - expected credit loss 

The simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses is applied, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. 

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates adjusted for forward looking factors that 
will have an impact on the ability to settle the receivables. The loss allowance for trade debtors as at 30 June 
2021 and 30 June 2020 are as follows. 

 

Sundry Receivables 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables as at 30 June 2021  

 Not past 
due 

Past due 
1-30 
days 

Past due 
31-60 
days  

Past due 
61-90 
days 

Past due 
>91+ 
days 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expected credit loss rate (A)  0.002 0.004 0.02 0.131 0.06 0.0141 

Total gross carrying amount (B)  11 203   169   64   618  1 418  13 472 

Expected credit loss (A x B)    22   1   1   81   85   190 

 

Housing Tasmania Rental Receivables 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables as at 30 June 2021  

 Not past 
due 

Past due 
1-30 
days 

Past due 
31-60 
days  

Past due 
61-90 
days 

Past due 
>91+ 
days 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expected credit loss rate (A)          0.5606 0.5606 

Total gross carrying amount (B)      1 204  1 204 

Expected credit loss (A x B)        675   675 

 

Sundry Receivables 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables as at 30 June 2020  

 Not past 
due 

Past due 
1-30 
days 

Past due 
31-60 
days  

Past due 
61-90 
days 

Past due 
>91+ 
days 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expected credit loss rate (A)  0.0016 0.0034 0.0254 0.1079 0.0411 0.0048 

Total gross carrying amount (B)  2 461   10   7   1   217  2 696 

Expected credit loss (A x B)    4   0   0   0   9   13 
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Housing Tasmania Rental Receivables 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables as at 30 June 2020  

 
Not past 

due 

Past due 
1-30 
days 

Past due 
31-60 
days  

Past due 
61-90 
days 

Past due 
>91+ 
days Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expected credit loss rate (A)      0.5506 0.5506 

Total gross carrying amount (B)     1 335 1 335 

Expected credit loss (A x B)      735 735 

c Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Department will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Department’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when they fall due. 

Financial Instrument Accounting and strategic policies 
(including recognition criteria, 
measurement basis and credit 
quality of instrument) 

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 
conditions affecting the amount, 
timing and certainty of cash flows) 

Financial Liabilities 

Payables Payables, including goods received and 
services incurred but not yet invoiced, 
are recognised at amortised cost, which 
due to the short settlement period 
equates to face value, when the 
Department becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. 

Settlement is usually made within 30 
days. 

Borrowings Loans are initially measured at fair value 
net of transaction costs.  Loans are 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate 
method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. 

Contractual payments are made in 
accordance with contractual terms. 

Lease liabilities Lease liabilities are measured at present 
value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at that date.  The discount rate 
used to calculate the present value of 
the lease liability is the Tascorp 
indicative lending rate including the 
relevant administration margin. 

Contractual payments are made in 
accordance with contractual terms. 

Other financial liabilities  Other financial liabilities are recognised 
at amortised cost, which due to the 
short settlement period equates to face 
value, when the Department becomes 
obliged to make payments as a result of 
the purchase of assets or services. 
The Department regularly reviews 
budgeted and actual cash outflows to 
ensure that there is sufficient cash to 
meet all obligations. 

Settlement is usually made within 30 
days. 
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Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 

The following tables detail the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Department by remaining contractual 
maturity for its financial liabilities. It should be noted that as these are undiscounted, totals may not reconcile 
to the carrying amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position: 

   

 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5 Years 
More than 

5 Years 
Undiscounted 

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities         

Payables  14 164   0   0   0   0   0  14 164  14 164 

Lease liabilities  1 057   507   140   0   0   1 704  1 704 

Total   15 221   507   140   0   0   0  15 868  15 868 

   

 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5 Years 
More than 

5 Years 
Undiscounted 

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities         

Payables  11 716   0   0   0   0   0  11 716  11 716 

Lease liabilities  1 191  1 057   507   140   0   0  2 895  2 895 

Total   12 907  1 057   507   140   0   0  14 611  14 611 

d Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. The primary market risk, that the Department is exposed to, is interest rate 
risk. 

The Department currently has the majority of its financial liabilities at fixed interest rates with the effect that 
any exposure to movements in interest rates is minimised. 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Department’s interest-bearing financial instruments 
was: 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Fixed rate instruments   

Financial assets  1 347   723 

Financial liabilities   0   0 

Total  1 347   723 

 

Sensitivity analysis of the Department’s exposure to possible changes in interest rate 

Changes in variable rates of 100 basis points at reporting date would have the following effect on the 
Department’s profit or loss and equity: 
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Sensitivity Analysis of Department’s Exposure to Possible Changes in Interest Rates 

 Statement of Comprehensive Income Equity 

 100 basis points 
increase 

$’000 

100 basis points 
decrease 

$’000 

100 basis points 
increase 

$’000 

100 basis points 
decrease 

$’000 

30 June 2021     

Financial assets 13 (13) 13 (13) 

Net sensitivity 13 (13) 13 (13) 

     

30 June 2020     

Financial assets 7 (7) 7 (7) 

Net Sensitivity 7 (7) 7 (7) 

     

 

This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same bases for 
2021. 

14.2 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  70 251  82 016 

Loans and receivables  20 072  9 091 

HomeShare investments  27 277  25 744 

Total  117 600  116 851 

   

Financial Liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  14 164  11 716 

Total  14 164  11 716 

14.3 Derecognition of financial assets 

No derecognition of Financial assets occurred during 2020-21. 

14.4 Comparison between carrying amount and net fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities 

 

Carrying 
Amount 

2021 

Net Fair 
Value  

2021 

level 1 

Carrying 
Amount 

2020 

Net Fair 
Value  

2020 

level 1 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets     
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Cash at bank   13   13   13   13 

Cash in Specific Purpose Account  70 238  70 238  82 003  82 003 

Other financial assets     

Receivables  16 024  16 024  7 844  7 844 

Loan advances  1 347  1 347   723   723 

HomeShare investments  27 277  27 277  25 744  25 744 

Other  2 701  2 701   524   524 

Total financial assets  117 600  117 600  116 851  116 851 

     

Financial liabilities (Recognised)     

Other financial liabilities     

Other  14 164  14 164  11 716  11 716 

Total financial liabilities (Recognised)  14 164  14 164  11 716  11 716 

 

The recognised fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are classified according to the fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. The Department 
uses various methods in estimating the fair value of a financial instrument. The methods comprise: 

Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets; 

Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 

a Transfer between categories 

The Department did not transfer any Financial Assets or Financial Liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2. 

b Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements 

The Department does not have any Level 3 instruments. 

Financial Assets 

The net fair values of cash and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets approximate their carrying 
amounts. 

The net fair values of HomeShare investments are based on the Departmental interest in the underlying land 
and building assets.  An active market exists for the underlying assets that provides for a reliable 
measurement of the fair value of the HomeShare investment.  The underlying Housing land and building 
assets are revalued on a biennial basis using information provided by the Valuer-General. 

Financial Liabilities 

The net fair values of Borrowings are based on the outstanding value owed by the Department and are 
approximated by their carrying amounts. 

The net fair values for trade creditors are approximated by their carrying amounts. 

Unrecognised Financial Instruments 

The net fair values of indemnities are regarded as the maximum possible loss which the Department faces 
while the indemnity remains current.   
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Note 15 Details of Consolidated Entities 

15.1 List of entities 

The following entities have been consolidated by the Department: 

Director of Housing  100 per cent 
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Note 16 Associated Entities  

16.1 Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited 

On 11 March 2011, the Crown, represented by the Minister for Human Services, became the sole 
shareholder of the shares in Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited (TAHL), thus assuming control of TAHL 
as a wholly owned Government entity. 

TAHL has not been consolidated into the Department’s financial statements as at 30 June 2021.  The 
unaudited Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ending 30 June 2021 and Statement of Financial 
Position as at 30 June 2021 are provided below. 

 

Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ending 30 June 2021 

2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Total Revenue and other income from transactions 2 12 

Expenses from Transactions   

Compliance expenses   9   7 

Movements in Provision 0   (40) 

Provision Paid for Social Housing  1 493   0 

Total expenses from transactions  1 502 (33) 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) (1 500)   45 

Comprehensive Result (1 500)   45 

   

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021 

2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents   179  1 385 

Trade and other receivables   0   2 

Total assets   179  1 387 

   

Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 198   5 

Provisions 50   50 

Total Liabilities   248   55 

   

Net assets (69)  1 332 

   

Equity   

Retained Earnings (69)  1 332 

Total equity (69)  1 332 

 

As at 30 June 2021, TAHL no longer had principal activities remaining and is expected to wind up during the 
2021-22 financial year. In accordance with the TAHL constitution, net assets will be distributed via a 
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competitive process to a like organisation for the delivery of additional social housing. Note that at reporting 
date an agreement had been reached to pay the balance of funds to CentaCare Evolve Housing to further 
support social housing development. This will see TAHL funds reduced to a minimum balance remaining.  

The audit of the TAHL statements has not been completed at the time that the Department's statements 
were signed. 
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Note 17 Notes to Administered Statements 
For significant Account policies in relation to material variances please refer to Note 4. 

Budget information refers to original estimates as disclosed in to 2020-21 budget Papers and is not subject 
to audit. 

17.1 Administered Revenue from Government 

 

2021 
Budget 

$’000 

2021 
Actual 

$’000 

2020 
Actual 

$’000 

Revenue from Government    

Appropriation revenue – Reserved by Law – Tasmanian Community Fund  7 097  7 035  6 958 

Appropriation revenue – Reserved by Law – Tasmanian Icon – State Cricket Team 500   500   500 

Total administered revenue from Government  7 597  7 535  7 458 

17.2 Administered Grants 

 2021 
Budget 

$’000 

2021 
Actual 

$’000 

2020 
Actual 

$’000 

Administered Grants    

Appropriation revenue - C-19 - Community Support Fund  4 700  12 439   0 

Total administered Grants  4 700  12 439   0 

17.3 Administered net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory 
receivables/payables 

 2021 
Budget 

$’000 

2021 
Actual 

$’000 

2020 
Actual 

$’000 

Impairment of loans and receivables 0   74   0 

Total administered Grants   0   74   0 

    

17.4 Administered Transfer Expenses 

 2021 
Budget 

$’000 

2021 
Actual 

$’000 

2020 
Actual 

$’000 

Transfer to Tasmanian Community Fund  7 097  7 035  6 958 

Transfer to Tasmanian Icon – State Cricket Team   500   500   500 

Transfer to C-19 - Community Support Fund  4 700  11 160   0 

Total administered transfer expenses  12 297  18 695  7 458 
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17.5 Administered Receivables 

 2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Receivables  1 329   0 

Less: Provision for Impairment (74)   0 

Total  1 255   0 

   

Sales of goods and services (inclusive of GST)  1 205 0 

Tax assets   50 0 

Total  1 255 0 

   

Settled within 12 months  1 255  

Total  1 255 0 

17.6 Administered other liabilities 

 2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Inter-entity balance   50   0 

Total   50   0 

   

Settled within 12 months   50   0 

Total   50   0 
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Note 18 Transactions and Balances Relating to a Trustee or Agency 
Arrangement 

Transactions relating to activities undertaken by the Department in a trust or fiduciary (agency) capacity do 
not form part of the Department’s activities. Trustee and agency arrangements, and transactions/balances 
relating to those activities, are neither controlled nor administered. 

Fees, commissions earned and expenses incurred in the course of rendering services as a trustee or through 
an agency arrangement are recognised as controlled transactions. 

18.1 Activities undertaken under a trustee or agency arrangement  

Account/Activity 

Opening 
Balance 

$’000 

Net transfers 
through 

restructuring 

$’000 

Net 
transactions 

during 
2020-21 

$’000 

Closing 
balance 

$’000 

Legal Trusts   1.4   0.0 (0.7)   0.6 
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Note 19 Events Occurring After Balance Date 
The Department is transferring management of 2 000 of its public housing properties to the community 
housing sector under the Community Housing Growth Program. This transfer builds on the capacity of the 
sector through providing long term agreements and leveraging the construction of new social housing supply 
through capital grant funding packages. 

This will improve access for vulnerable Tasmanians to good quality social housing where it's needed, through 
the efficient use of resources and by enhancing the sustainability of registered community housing providers. 

At reporting date, one agreement has been signed with Centacare Evolve Housing (CEH), which will 
commence on 1 September 2021. This agreement transfers management of 696 existing Housing Tasmania 
properties. 

Three remaining agreements are expected to be signed and commenced by 1 November 2021. 

These properties will continue to be reported on the Balance Sheet next financial year, however in 
accordance with AASB 1059, it is anticipated that they will be reclassified as Service Concession Assets.    
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Note 20 Other Significant Accounting Policies and Judgements 

20.1 Objectives and funding 

The Department's objective is to provide opportunities for all Tasmanians to participate in community life 
and sport and recreation; support, protect and nurture vulnerable children, young people and their families; 
deliver and facilitate specialist disability services; and provide services to support social and affordable 
housing. 

The Department achieves this through the following strategic priorities: working with communities to offer 
all Tasmanians the opportunity to participate positively in community life; working with partners to identify 
and pursue early opportunities to improve the wellbeing of individuals, families and communities; working 
with families, carers and the community to keep children and young people safe; working together to 
continue to build a high performing, committed and engaged organisation; working with community, sport 
and recreation organisations to support the growth of strong and sustainable sectors. 

Departmental activities are classified as either controlled or administered. 

Controlled activities involve the use of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses controlled or incurred by 
the Department in its own right. Administered activities involve the management or oversight by the 
Department, on behalf of the Government, of items controlled or incurred by the Government, as reported 
at Note 2.5. 

The Department is a Tasmanian Government not-for-profit entity that is predominantly funded through 
Parliamentary appropriations. The Department includes Housing Tasmania. Housing Tasmania derives rental 
revenue and asset sale income from Housing Tasmania properties and receives income from borrowers in 
the HOAP.  The financial statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources 
to carry on its functions. 

20.2 Basis of accounting 

The Financial Statements are a general purpose financial report and have been prepared in accordance with: 

• Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board; and 

• The Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2016. 

The Financial Statements were signed by the Accountable Authority on 24th September 2021. 

Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) may not result in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as the AAS include requirements and options available to not-for-profit 
organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS.  The Department is considered to be not-for-profit and has 
adopted some accounting policies under the AAS that do not comply with IFRS. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and, except where stated, are in 
accordance with the historical cost convention. The accounting policies are generally consistent with the 
previous year except for those changes outlined in note 20.5. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared as a going concern. The continued existence of the 
Department in its present form, undertaking its current activities, is dependent on Government policy and 
on continuing appropriations by Parliament for the Department’s administration and activities. 

The Department has made no assumptions concerning the future that may cause a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

20.3 Reporting entity 

The Financial Statements include all the controlled activities of the Department, being Housing Tasmania. 
Material transactions and balances between the Department and Housing Tasmania have been eliminated. 
Summary information relating to TAHL is disclosed in Note 16 Associated Entities. 
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20.4 Functional and presentation currency 

These Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Department’s functional 
currency. 

20.5 Changes in accounting policies 

a Impact of new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, the Department has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 
current annual reporting period. These include: 

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors – This Standard prescribes the accounting for a 
service concession arrangement by a grantor that is a public sector entity. Service concession 
arrangements are contracts between an operator and a grantor, where the operator provides public 
services related to a service concession asset on behalf of the grantor for a specified period of time and 
manages at least some of those services. 

Where AASB 1059 applies, the grantor recognises the service concession asset when the grantor 
obtains control of the asset and measures the service concession asset at current replacement cost. At 
the same time, the grantor recognises a corresponding financial liability or unearned revenue liability or a 
combination of both. 

The modified retrospective approach, permitted under AASB 1059, has been adopted, by recognising 
and measuring service concession assets and related liabilities as the date of initial application of 1 July 
2019, with any net adjustments to the amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in accumulated funds 
at that date. 

 

The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 
June 2020 is as follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption 
of AASB 
1059 

Adjustment Without 
adoption 
of AASB 
1059 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expenses     

Depreciation and amortisation (a)  34 171  5 505  28 666 

   34 171  5 505  28 666 

Net impact   34 171  5 505  28 666 
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The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 is as follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption of 
AASB 1059 

Adjustment Without 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset     

Service Concession Assets (b)  684 724  684 724   0 

Property, Plant and Equipment (c) 1 863 523 (49 118) 1 912 641 

  2 548 247  635 606 1 912 641 

Equity     

Accumulated funds (d) 1 992 841  637 417 1 355 424 

 

The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Financial Position as at 1 July 2019 is as follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption of 
AASB 1059 

Adjustment Without 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset     

Service Concession Assets (e)  731 526  731 526   0 

Property, Plant and Equipment (f) 1 877 004 (49 971) 1 926 976 

  2 608 530  681 555 1 926 976 

Equity     

Accumulated funds (g) 1 873 055  683 366 1 189 689 

ARR   636 637 (1 811)  638 448 

Total Equity Adjustment  2 509 692  681 555 1 828 137 

 

Explanation for AASB 1059 adjustments 

(a) Service Concession Assets are depreciated over their useful lives in accordance with the Standard. 

(b) Service Concession Assets are reported as a separate line item in the Balance Sheet. The balance at 30 
June includes both depreciation and disposals during the year. 

(c) This adjustment reflects the transfer between asset classes upon implementation of the Standard, 
including accounting for disposals and depreciation that occurred during the year. 

(d) This adjustment reflects both the recognition of service concession assets on the Balance Sheet that 
were previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation 
method from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. 

(e) Service Concession Assets are reported as a separate line item in the Balance Sheet. The balance at 1 
July 2019 reflects the initial recognition of these assets at replacement cost prior to any movement 
that occurred during the year. 

(f) This adjustment reflects both the initial recognition of assets on the Balance Sheet that were 
previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation method 
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from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. This is prior to any movements that 
occurred during the year. 

(g) This adjustment reflects both the initial recognition of assets on the Balance Sheet that were 
previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation method 
from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. This is prior to any movements that 
occurred during the year. 

b Changes in accounting estimates 

Upon adoption of AASB 1059, the entity is required to measure existing assets reclassified as service 
concession assets at fair value (current replacement cost) as the date of initial application. Therefore, 
comprehensive valuations were performed as 1 July 2019 using current replacement cost approach for 
$49.934 million of existing property, plant and equipment and intangible assets previously measured at fair 
value using market or income approach. This resulted in a decrease of $11.373 million in accumulated funds 
at 1 July 2019, and a corresponding increase of $38.56 million in service concession assets. 

20.6 Foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the exchange rates current as at 
balance date. 

20.7 Comparative figures 

Comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect any changes in accounting policy or the adoption of new 
standards. Details of the impact of changes in accounting policy on comparative figures are at note 20.5. 

Where amounts have been reclassified within the Financial Statements, the comparative statements have 
been restated. 

Restructures of Outputs within the Department (internal restructures) that do not affect the results shown 
on the face of the Financial Statements are reflected in the comparatives in the Departmental Output 
Schedules at Note 2. 

The comparatives for external administrative restructures are not reflected in the Financial Statements. 

20.8 Rounding 

All amounts in the Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. As a consequence, rounded figures may not add to totals. Amounts less than $500 are rounded to 
zero. 

20.9 Departmental taxation 

The Department is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services 
Tax. 

20.10 Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax, except where 
the GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of GST. The net amount recoverable, or payable, to the Australian Taxation Office is 
recognised as an asset or liability within the Statement of Financial Position. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from operating, investing or 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is, in accordance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards, classified as operating cash flows.
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27 September 2021 

 

Mr Michael Pervan 
Secretary 
Department of Communities Tasmania 
HOBART   TAS   7001 

Issued by email only 

 

Dear Mr Pervan 

Department of Communities Tasmania – Final Management Letter - Audit of 

Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2021 

The audit of the financial statements for Department of Communities Tasmania (the 

Department) has been completed in accordance with the agreed financial audit strategy.  I 

have issued my audit report on the financial statements, a copy of which is enclosed. 

I have prepared this letter solely for the use of the Department. As you know, this letter 

forms part of a continuing dialogue between the Department and the Auditor-General and, 

therefore, it is not intended to include every matter, whether large or small, that has come 

to my attention.  For this reason I believe that it would be inappropriate for this letter to be 

made available to third parties and, if such a third party were to obtain a copy without my 

prior written consent, I would not accept any responsibility for any reliance that they might 

place on it. 

Audit findings 

A memorandum of audit findings is being drafted, setting out matters that came to my 

attention during the audit and my recommendations for improvements. These matters will 

be provided to management for review and response. The finalised memorandum of audit 

findings will be forwarded to you upon completion. 

Review of the annual report 

Please will you forward to me a copy of the final draft of the Department’s annual report for 

review by my staff prior to its publication.  This review will be conducted in accordance with 

Auditing Standard ASA 720 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in 

Documents Containing Audited Financial Report to identify any material inconsistencies 

between the financial statements and other information disclosed in the annual report. 

Appreciation is expressed for the assistance and co-operation provided to my staff during 

the course of the audit. 

Please note that a copy of this letter together with the auditor’s report will be provided to 

the Minister for Community Services and Development, The Hon Jeremy Rockliff MP, 
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Minister for Disability Services and Minister for Children and Youth, The Hon Sarah Courtney 

MP, Minister for State Development, Construction and Housing, The Hon Michael Ferguson 

MP, Minister for Sport and Recreation and Minister for Women, The Hon Jane Howlett MLC, 

Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, The Hon Roger Jaensch MP, Minister for the Prevention of 

Family Violence, The Hon Jacquie Petrusma MP and Minister for Veterans’ Affairs, The Hon 

Guy Barnett MP in accordance with section 19(2) of the Audit Act 2008. 

If you have any queries regarding the audit or any other matters, please contact Rob Luciani 

on (03) 6173 0900. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

David Bond 

Assistant Auditor-General - Audit 

 

 

Encl. 

 

Copy for: 

Mr M Stevens, Chair of Audit Committee 

Mr R Fazackerley, Principal Finance Officer 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of Parliament 

The Department of Communities Tasmania 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial statements of the Department of Communities Tasmania (the 

Department), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 and 

statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 

ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies, other explanatory notes and the statement of certification by the Secretary of the 

Department. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements:  

(a) present fairly, in all material respects, the Department’s financial position as at 
30 June 2021 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2016 and Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Department in 

accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 

Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial 

statements in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-

General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 

Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate 

and is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be 

exercised. The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all 

documents and property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-

General’s opinion are significant. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion.  
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My audit is not designed to provide assurance on the accuracy and appropriateness of the 

budget information in the Department’s financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 

significance in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 

were addressed in the context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Why this matter is considered to be one of 
the most significant matters in the audit 

Audit procedures to address the matter 
included 

Valuation of land, buildings, rental dwellings and community housing stock 
Refer to note 9.6 

The Department’s property, plant and 
equipment at 30 June 2021, included land, 
buildings, rental dwellings and community 
housing stock totalling $1.84bn recognised 
at fair value. 

The fair value of land, buildings, rental 
dwellings and community housing stock is 
derived from observable market information 
provided by an external expert. The 
Department undertakes formal revaluations 
on a rolling basis to ensure valuations 
represent fair value.  

The application of indexation is considered 
between formal valuations.  During 2021, 
indexation was applied to land and 
buildings. 

The calculation of fair value is judgemental 
and highly dependent on a range of 
assumptions and estimates. 

 Assessing the scope, expertise and 
independence of experts engaged to 
assist in determining the fair value of 
relevant assets. 

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodology applied to 
determine fair value, including the 
assumptions used. 

 Assessing the adequacy of relevant 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

Service concession assets 
Refer to notes 9.7 and 20.5 

During the year, the Department adopted 
AASB 1059 Service Concession 
Arrangements: Grantors, recognising 
arrangements with tenancy providers 
managing housing stock.  Applying the 
standard retrospectively from 1 July 2019, 
the Department recognised previously 
unrecorded service concession assets upon 
initial application of $681.55m. This included 

 Evaluating management’s assessment of 
service concession arrangements, 
including roles and responsibilities of 
each party to the arrangement. 

 Evaluating management’s assessment 
and treatment on initial recognition of 
service concession assets. 
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$49.97m transferred from rental dwellings 
and community housing stock. 

During 2021, service concession assets were 

revalued by $128.29m, with the fair value at 

30 June 2021 totalling $821.12m. 

The recognition and measurement of service 

concession assets involved complex 

judgements and was highly dependent on a 

range of assumptions and estimates. 

 

 

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodology applied to 
determine the fair value of service 
concession assets, including details of 
key assumptions and judgements. 

 Assessing the scope, expertise and 
independence of experts engaged to 
assist in determining the fair value of 
service concession assets. 

 Testing, on a sample basis, the 
assessment of assets against the 
recognition and measurement 
requirements of AASB 1059. 

 Assessing the adequacy of relevant 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

Responsibilities of the Secretary for the Financial Statements 

The Secretary is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting 

requirements of Section 42 (1) of the Financial Management Act 2016.  This responsibility 

includes such internal control as determined necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Secretary is responsible for assessing the 

Department’s ability to continue as a going concern unless the Department’s operations will 

cease as a result of an administrative restructure. The assessment must disclose, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and the appropriateness of using the going 

concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 

Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of this financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
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basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Department’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Secretary.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Secretary’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Department’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Department to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Secretary regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that I identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Secratary, I determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

interest benefits of such communication. 

 

David Bond 

Assistant Auditor-General – Audit  

Delegate of the Auditor-General 

Tasmanian Audit Office 

 

27 September 2021 

Hobart  
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Statement of Certification 
The accompanying Special Purpose Financial Report of the Director of Housing (Housing Tasmania) are in 
agreement with the relevant accounts and records and have been prepared in compliance with the 
Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2016 to present fairly 
the financial transactions for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position as at the end of that 
year. 

At the date of signing, I am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the Special Purpose Financial Report misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

 

 

Michael Pervan Peter White Rod Fazackerley 

Accountable Authority and 
Statutory Director of Housing 

Accountable Authority Accountable Authority 

   

Dated 24th day of  

September 2021 

Dated 24th day of  

September 2021 

Dated 24th day of  

September 2021 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021 
  2021 2020 

 Notes Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 

Income from continuing operations    

Revenue from Government 
   

Appropriation revenue - operating 
2.1 42 636 50 888 

Appropriation revenue - capital 
2.1 58 710 45 850 

Other revenue from Government 
2.1 250 0 

Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds 
2.2 1 673 1 308 

Grants 
2.3 12 041 6 569 

Sales of goods and services 
2.4 398 320 

Interest  
2.5 22 32 

Contributions received  
2.6 0 157 600 

Revenue from rental dwellings 
2.7 53 337 55 113 

Other revenue  
2.8 13 119 19 667 

Total revenue from continuing operations  182 186 337 347 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 
3.1 (363) (5 849) 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 
3.2 (521) (480) 

Other gain/(loss) 
3.3 939 327 

Total income from continuing operations  182 241 331 345 

    
Expenses from continuing operations    

Employee benefits 
4.1 14 049 14 112 

Depreciation and amortisation  
4.2 33 736 31 785 

Maintenance 
4.3 26 217 29 315 

Supplies and consumables 
4.4 41 543 44 545 

Grants and subsidies 
4.5 74 524 126 665 

Finance costs 
4.6 153 182 

Other expenses  
4.7 1 476 1 281 

Total expenses from continuing operations  191 698 247 885 

Net result from continuing operations  (9 457) 83 460 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods    

Net actuarial gains/(losses) on superannuation defined benefit plans 6.4 424 (51) 

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 8.1 130 246 1 015 

Total other comprehensive income  130 670 964 

    

Comprehensive result  121 213 84 424 
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This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 12.5 for details. 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021 
  2021 2020 

 Notes Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 

Assets    

Financial assets 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 
9.1 9 971 21 519 

Receivables 
5.1 4 051 3 116 

Loan advances 
5.2 1 347 723 

HomeShare investments 
5.3 27 277 25 744 

Other financial assets 
5.4 241 423 

Non-financial assets 
   

Assets held for sale 
5.5 1 108 1 093 

Property, plant and equipment 
5.6 1 802 023 1 799 349 

Service Concession Assets 
5.7 821 120 684 724 

Right-of-use assets 
5.8 1 557 2 770 

Intangible assets 
5.9 1 210 2 257 

Other assets 
5.10 37 340 

Total assets  2 669 942 2 542 058 

    

Liabilities    

Payables 
6.1 11 279 7 794 

Lease liabilities 
6.2 1 593 2 601 

Employee benefit liabilities 
6.3 4 024 3 717 

Superannuation 
6.4 6 761 7 553 

Other liabilities 
6.5 10 363 5 324 

Total liabilities  34 020 26 989 

    

Net assets   2 635 922 2 515 069 

    

Equity    

Contributed capital 
8.2 6 094 6 094 

Reserves 
8.1 725 584 600 598 

Accumulated funds 
 1 904 244 1 908 377 

Total equity  2 635 922 2 515 069 

 

This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 12.5 for details. 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 

 

Notes 

 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Cash inflows 
   

Appropriation receipts - operating 
 42 636 50 888 

Appropriation receipts - capital 
 20 570 19 624 

Appropriation receipts - other 
 250 0 

Grants – Continuing operations 
 12 041 5 642 

Sales of goods and services 
 583 394 

GST receipts 
 8 388 9 955 

Interest received 
 22 32 

Revenue from rental dwellings 
 52 471 54 812 

Other cash receipts 
 11 350 19 244 

Total cash inflows  148 311 160 591 

Cash outflows    

Employee benefits 
 (14 110) (14 345) 

Finance costs  
 (153) (182) 

GST payments 
 (8 520) (9 597) 

Grants and transfer payments 
 (72 064) (75 633) 

Supplies and consumables 
 (62 254) (71 730) 

Other cash payments 
 (1 452) (1 260) 

Total cash outflows   (158 553) (172 747) 

Net cash from / (used by) operating activities 9.2 (10 242) (12 156) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Cash inflows    

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets 
  9 998 9 485 

Repayment of loans by other entities 
   216 126 

Receipts from investments 
  5 246 3 020 

Receipts from non-operational capital funding - Capital 
  38 140 26 226 

Total cash inflows   53 600 38 857 

Cash outflows    

Payments for acquisition of non-financial assets 
 (46 647) (33 632) 

Payments for investments 
 (5 842) (5 854) 

Cash outflow on internal reallocation of cost centres  (569)   0 
Payment of loan advances to other entities  (840)   0 
Total cash outflows  (53 898) (39 486) 

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities  (298) (629) 

Cash flows from financing activities    
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Notes 

 

2021 

Actual 

$’000 

2020 

Actual 

$’000 

Cash outflows    

Repayment of leases liabilities (excluding interest) 
 (1 008) (841) 

Total cash outflows  (1 008) (841) 

Net cash from /(used by) financing activities  (1 008) (841) 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  (11 548) (13 626) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  21 519 35 145 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 9.1 9 971 21 519 

 

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 12.5 for details. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
Notes Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Accumulated 

Funds 
Total Equity 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020  6 094 600 598 1 908 377 2 515 069 

Adjustment internal cost restructure 12.5(b) 0 0 (360) (360) 

Restated balance as at 1 July 2020  6 094 600 598 1 908 017 2 514 709 

Net result  0 0 (9 457) (9 457) 

Other comprehensive income  0 130 246 424 130 670 

Total comprehensive result  0 130 246 (9 033) 121 213 

Transfers to asset revaluation reserve from accumulated 
funds 8.1 0 (5 260) 5 260 0 

Balance as at 30 June 2021  6 094 725 584 1 904 244 2 635 922 

 

 
Notes Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Accumulated 

Funds 
Total Equity 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2019  6 094 613 235 1 128 990 1 748 319 

Adjustment due to change in accounting policy 12.5     

Assets brought onto the BS – AASB 1059  0 0 681 554 681 554 

ARR – AASB 1059  0 (1 812) 1 812 0 

Restated balance as at 1 July 2019  6 094 611 423 1 812 356 2 429 873 

Net result  0 0 83 460 83 460 

Other comprehensive income  0 1 015 (51) 964 

Total comprehensive result  0 1 015 83 409 84 424 

Transfers to asset revaluation reserve from 
accumulated funds 8.1 0 (10 426) 10 426 0 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:      

Administrative restructure - Contributions by owners  0 0 772 772 

Create ARR – Transferred asset  0 (1 414) 1 414 0 

Total  0 (1 414) 2 186 772 

Balance as at 30 June 2020  6 094 600 598 1 908 377 2 515 069 

 

This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of the new accounting standard AASB 
1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors. Refer to note 12.5 for details. 
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Note 1 Underlying Net Result 
Non-operational capital funding is the income from continuing operations relating to funding for capital 
projects. This funding is classified as revenue from continuing operations and included in the Net result from 
continuing operations. However, the corresponding capital expenditure is not included in the calculation of 
the Net result from continuing operations. Accordingly, the Net result from continuing operations will 
portray a position that is better than the true underlying financial result. 

For this reason, the Net result from continuing operations is adjusted to remove the effects of funding for 
capital projects. 

Non-monetary asset transfers that are removed from the net operating balance consists of the transfer of 
property under the Community Housing Program.  

  2021 2020 

  Actual Actual 

  $’000 $’000 

Net result from continuing operations  (9 457) 83 460 

    

Less impact of:    

Non-operational capital funding    

Net result from C19 - Public Building Maintenance Fund  1 028 5 

Net result from Capital Investment Program Output  43 064 21 772 

Net result from Special Capital Investment Funds  1 038 2 110 

Grants received - assets transferred  0 (236) 

Contributions received - fair value of assets assumed  0 157 600 

Non-monetary asset transfers (Housing Services Output)  (2 537) (50 558) 

Total  42 593 130 693 

    

Underlying Net result from continuing operations  (52 050) (47 233) 

 

The net result from capital outputs is included to reflect that the revenue is mainly expensed as grants to 
housing providers and not capitalised.  

The 2019-20 figure for Mom-monetary transfers has been updated to reflect the service concession assets 
that were brought on to the Balance Sheet at 1 July 2019 and then transferred to the Community Housing 
Organisations (CHOs) during the 2019-20 financial year.   
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Note 2 Revenue 
Income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when an increase in future economic 
benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer 
defined by AASB 15. 

2.1 Revenue from Government 

Appropriations, whether operating or capital, are recognised as revenues in the period in which Housing 
Tasmania gains control of the appropriated funds as they do not contain enforceable and sufficiently specific 
obligations as defined by AASB 15. Except for any amounts identified as carried forward, control arises in the 
period of appropriation. 

Revenue from Government includes revenue from appropriations, unexpended appropriations rolled over 
under section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 and Items Reserved by Law. 

Section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 allows for an unexpended appropriation at the end of the 
financial year, as determined by the Treasurer, to be issued and applied from the Public Account in the 
following financial year. The amount determined by the Treasurer must not exceed five per cent of an 
Agency’s appropriation for the financial year. Rollover of unexpended appropriations under section 23 will 
be disclosed under the Financial Management Act 2016 for the first time in 2020-21. 

In the 2019-20 comparative year, Revenue from Government included appropriations carried forward under 
section 8A(2) of the now repealed Public Account Act 1986, and taken up as revenue in the current year. 

Section 8A(2) of the Public Account Act allowed for an unexpended balance of an appropriation to be 
transferred to an Account in the Special Deposits and Trust Fund for such purposes and conditions as 
approved by the Treasurer. In the initial year (2018-19), the carry forward was recognised as a liability, 
Revenue Received in Advance. The carry forward from the initial year was recognised as revenue in the 
reporting year, assuming that the conditions of the carry forward were met and the funds were expended. 

 

 2021 2020 

 Actual Actual 

 $’000 $’000 

Continuing operations   

Appropriation revenue – operating   

Current year  42 636  50 888 

Total 42 636 50 888 

   

Appropriation revenue – capital 58 710 45 850 

Other revenue from Government   

Appropriation Rollover under section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 250 0 

Total revenue from Government from continuing operations 101 596 96 738 

   

Total revenue from Government 101 596 96 738 
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2.2 Revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds 

Funding for major infrastructure projects is provided through Special Capital Investment Funds. Housing 
Tasmania is allocated funding for specific projects from the Special Capital Investment Funds as part of the 
Budget process. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Continuing Operations   

Housing Fund  1 673 1 308 

Total  1 673 1 308 

   

Total revenue from Special Capital Investment Funds  1 673 1 308 

2.3 Grants 

From 2019-20, Grants revenue, where there is a sufficiently specific performance obligation attached, is 
recognised when Housing Tasmania satisfies the performance obligation and transfers the promised goods or 
services. Housing Tasmania has not received any grants that have specific performance obligations attached 
during the financial year. 

Grant revenue received by Housing Tasmania is typically recognised after the related expenditure is made. 
This is because the expenditure is reimbursed through a draw down process from Treasury and the grant 
revenue is therefore more like a cost recovery. 

The exception to this is the funding that is received as an appropriation, for example funding received under 
the National Affordable Housing Agreement (NAHA). However, any unexpended appropriation at the end 
of the financial year is reissued and applied from the Public Account in the following financial year. 

Where the grant agreement includes references to acquire/construct a recognisable non-financial asset, the 
related revenue is recognised after the expenditure is made as per above and is more like a cost recovery 
process. 

The decision to hold the acquired/constructed asset or transfer it out to another entity sits with Housing 
Tasmania.  

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Continuing operations   

Grants from the Australian Government   

Other Commonwealth Grants 304 854 

Total 304 854 

   

Grants from the State Government   

State Grants – Other 4 246 4 755 

Total 4 246 4 755 

Internal grants 6 095 88 

Total 6 095 88 

   

Non-operational capital funding   

Grants from the Australian Government   
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Other Commonwealth Grants – Capital 1 396 1 108 

Total 1 396 1 108 

   

Capital grants   

Assets transferred 0 (236) 

Total 0 (236) 

   

Total revenue from Grants 12 041 6 569 

 

In 2021, grants received from the Australian Government include $2.1 million for the Remote Indigenous 
Housing National Partnership Agreement (NPA). The grants received from the State Government are the 
reimbursement of $4.2 million related to the Public Building Maintenance Fund projects, which were 
provided in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

2.4 Sales of goods and services 

Revenue from Sales of goods are recognised when Housing Tasmania satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Other client revenue 145 302 

Other user charges 253 18 

Total 398 320 

 

Other client revenue relates to recoveries from boundary fencing. 

2.5 Interest 

Interest on funds is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Interest from borrowings  22 32 

Total 22 32 

2.6 Contributions received  

Services received free of charge by Housing Tasmania, are recognised as income when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and when the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of 
those resources is recognised as an expense. 

Contributions of assets at no cost of acquisition or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair 
value when Housing Tasmania obtains control of the asset, it is probable that future economic benefits 
comprising the contribution will flow to Housing Tasmania and the amount can be measured reliably.  
However, where the contribution received is from another government department as a consequence of 
restructuring of administrative arrangements, they are recognised as contributions by owners directly within 
equity. In these circumstances, book values from the transferor department have been used. 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Fair value of assets assumed/liabilities extinguished at no cost or for nominal consideration 0 157 600 

Total 0 157 600 

 

In 2020, Fair value of assets assumed at no cost or for nominal consideration refers to the waiving of the 
interest-bearing loan (Commonwealth State Housing Agreement debt) from the Australian Government. 

2.7 Revenue from rental dwellings 

Revenue from rental dwellings arises from the letting of properties owned by the Director of Housing.  This 
is comprised of the market rent for each individual property reduced by the public rental subsidy, which is an 
income-based subsidy derived from the clients' individual circumstances. 

Rental income, together with the associated rebate, is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with 
individual tenancy arrangements. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Operating lease income – residential rent 107 913 108 116 

Less:  Rebates (54 576) (53 003) 

Total 53 337 55 113 

2.8 Other revenue 

Other revenue primarily relates to the recovery of costs incurred and is recognised when an increase in 
future economic benefits relating to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be 
reliably measured. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Operating lease income - commercial rent 12 0 

Workers compensation recoveries 5   11 

Operating recoveries 12 911 19 656 

Service concession arrangements revenue 191 0 

Total 13 119 19 667 

 

Operating recoveries includes rates, service charges and insurance that are recouped from community 
organisations managing tenancies under the Better Housing Futures (BHF) program and other arrangements. 
It also includes insurance recoveries from JLT insurance brokers. 

The decrease is due to a transaction in the previous financial year regarding the crystalisation of assets under 
the Stock Leverage Program. This is not applicable in 2020-21. 

Service concession arrangements revenue is related to the winding back of the liability for properties built by 
CHOs on behalf of Housing Tasmania under Service Concession Agreements. 
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Note 3 Net Gain/(Losses) 

3.1 Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 

Gains or losses from the sale of non-financial assets are recognised when control of the assets has passed to 
the buyer. 

Key Judgement 

Impairment exists when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Specialised non-financial assets are not used for the purpose of generating cash flows; therefore their 
recoverable amount is expected to be materially the same as fair value, as determined under AASB 13 Fair 
Value Measurement. 

All other non-financial assets are assessed to determine whether any impairment exists, with impairment 
losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of physical assets (363) (5 849) 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (363) (5 849) 

 

The Net loss on sale of non-financial assets includes the written down value of properties that were 
demolished as part of Housing Tasmania's capital projects to increase the supply of affordable housing. 

3.2 Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 

Financial assets are impaired under the expected credit loss approach required under AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments. The expected credit loss is recognised for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Key Judgement 

An impairment loss using the expected credit loss method for all trade debtors uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. The expected loss rates are based upon historical observed loss rates that are adjusted to reflect 
forward-looking macroeconomic factors. 

For other financial instruments that are not trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables, Housing 
Tasmania has measured the expected credit loss using a probability-weighted amount that takes into account 
the time value of money and forward-looking macroeconomic factors. 

 Notes 2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Impairment of loans and receivables 5.1 (521) (480) 

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments  (521) (480) 

3.3 Other gain/(loss) 

Other gains(losses) include gains or losses from reclassifications of amounts from reserves and/or 
accumulated surplus to net result. 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net/gain(loss) on disposal of HomeShare investments 933 350 

Impairment of HomeShare investments 6 (23) 

Total net gain/(loss) from other economic flows 939 327 

 

There was no revaluation of HomeShare investments this year as informed by the Valuer General's valuation 
cycle.   
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Note 4 Expenses  
Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when a decrease in future economic 
benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

4.1 Employee benefits 

Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, 
long service leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits. 

(a) Employee expenses 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Wages and salaries 10 517 10 120 

Annual leave 838 977 

Long service leave 300 689 

Sick leave 800 707 

Superannuation expenses – defined contribution and benefits schemes 1 555 1 567 

Other employee expenses – recruitment & staff development 28 38 

Other employee expenses – other staff allowances 11 14 

Total 14 049 14 112 

 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined benefit schemes relate to payments into the Public Account. 
The amount of the payment is based on a department contribution rate determined by the Treasurer, on the 
advice of the State Actuary. The current department contribution is 12.95 per cent (2020: 12.95 per cent) of 
salary. The current year defined benefit superannuation expense is $484 000. 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined contribution schemes are paid directly to superannuation funds 
at a rate of 9.5 per cent (2020: 9.5 per cent) of salary. In addition, departments are also required to pay into 
the Public Account a “gap” payment equivalent to 3.45 per cent (2020: 3.45 per cent) of salary in respect of 
employees who are members of contribution schemes. The current year defined contribution scheme 
superannuation expense is $9.355 million. 

4.2 Depreciation and amortisation 

All applicable non-financial assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful 
lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential.  Land and Artwork, being assets 
with unlimited useful lives, are not depreciated. 

Key estimate and judgement 

Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis, using rates which are reviewed annually.  

Depreciation of Housing Tasmania’s rental dwellings and community rental stock is based on a useful life of 
50 years in accordance with the State Housing Authority’s Accounting Policies and Reporting Framework 
(March 1995). All other buildings are depreciated over their remaining useful life. 

Depreciation of Housing Tasmania’s service concession assets is based on the useful lives provided by the 
Office of the Valuer General. Depreciation occurs over the expected useful life of each asset.  

All intangible assets having a limited useful life are systematically amortised over their useful lives reflecting 
the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by Housing 
Tasmania. 
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(a) Depreciation  
 Major 

depreciation 
period 

2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Plant, equipment and vehicles 2-20 years 1 049 455 

Buildings 40-50 years 24 155 23 846 

Service Concession Assets buildings Various 6 308 6 358 

Right-of-use assets Lease term 1 201 672 

Total  32 713 31 331 

(b) Amortisation 

  Major 
depreciation 

period 

2021 2020 

   $’000 $’000 

Intangible assets  20 per cent 1 023 454 

Total   1 023 454 

Total depreciation and amortisation   33 736 31 785 

4.3 Maintenance 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Maintenance 26 217 29 315 

Total 26 217 29 315 

4.4 Supplies and consumables 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Audit fees 82 80 

Consultants  1 166 400 

Insurance 5 784 6 342 

Rates and charges 28 076 29 112 

Property services and rental payments 1 919 1 824 

Communications 385 428 

Information technology 160 263 

Travel, transport and vehicle leasing payments 350 344 

Medical surgical and pharmacy supplies  3 15 

Advertising and promotion  29 22 

Patient and client services 269 316 

Other leasing and licencing costs (296) 138 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Administration 574 294 

Food production costs 11 7 

Bureau Service Charge 2 010 1 990 

Service fees 554 370 

Other supplies and consumables 467 2 600 

Total 41 543 44 545 

 

Audit fees paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office for the audit of Housing Tasmania’s financial 
statements were $82 400 (2019-20, $80 000). 

The negative balance in other leasing and licencing costs is due to timing around actual lease payments versus 
systems postings. 

4.5 Grants and subsidies 

Grant and subsidies expenditure is recognised to the extent that either: 

• the services required to be performed by the grantee have been performed; or 

• the grant eligibility criteria have been satisfied.  

A liability is recorded when Housing Tasmania has a binding agreement to make the grants but services have 
not been performed or criteria satisfied. Where grant monies are paid in advance of performance or 
eligibility, a prepayment is recognised. 

  2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Grant – Housing  10 864 35 145 

Grant – Better Housing Futures  0 100 

Grant – Community Housing Program  2 537 50 558 

Grant – Service Concession Assets  2 738 1 975 

Grant – Housing Former CSHA Debt Funds  25 127 0 

Grant – Supported Assistance Accommodation Program  26 436 26 388 

Grant – C19 – Public Building Maintenance Fund   702 0 

Grant – C19 – Private Rental Incentive Scheme  824 9 

Grant – C19 – Community Support Fund  0 9 650 

Grant – C19 – Emergency Accommodation Support  0 1 054 

Grant – C19 – Housing and Homelessness Support  5 296 1 786 

Total Grants  74 524 126 665 

    

Total  74 524 126 665 

 

Housing Tasmania provides supported accommodation assistance including crisis accommodation and related 
support for people who are experiencing homelessness or who are at imminent risk of becoming homeless 
and private rental support. 
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This year Housing Tasmania provided a range of grants across all outputs in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Grants to the Community Housing Program reflect the transfer of properties to non-government 
organisations who have assumed responsibility for the management of Housing properties. 

The 2019-20 figure has been updated to reflect the service concession assets that were brought on to the 
Balance Sheet at 1 July 2019 and then title transferred to the CHOs during the 2019-20 financial year. 

The Service Concession Assets grants reflect the CHOs share of sales proceeds of service concession assets 
under the Better Housing Futures Agreement. 

Housing Tasmania also provides capital grants to housing providers to increase the supply of affordable 
housing under programs such as the Affordable Housing Program Stage 2. 

4.6 Finance costs  

All finance costs are expensed as incurred using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs primarily include: 

• Interest on superannuation defined benefit plans; and  

• Lease charges. 

   2021 2020 

   $’000 $’000 

Interest expense     

Interest on lease liabilities   37 44 

Interest on superannuation defined benefit plans   116 138 

Total    153 182 

4.7 Other expenses  

Other expenses are recognised when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an 
asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be reliably measured. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Salary on-costs 440 407 

Tasmanian Risk Management Fund premium 1 010 845 

Other 26 29 

Total 1 476 1 281 
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Note 5 Assets 
Assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits will flow to Housing Tasmania and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably. 

5.1 Receivables 

Housing Tasmania recognises receivables at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any 
subsequent changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through 
the amortisation process. Housing Tasmania recognises an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt 
financial assets not held at fair value through profit and loss. The expected credit loss is based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

For trade receivables, a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses is applied, with a loss 
allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses recognised at each reporting date. Housing Tasmania has 
established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience for trade receivables, adjusted 
for forward-looking factors specific to the receivable. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Receivables 4 806 3 857 

Less:  expected credit loss (755) (741) 

Total 4 051 3 116 

   

Sales of goods and services (inclusive of GST) 4 353 3 011 

Tax assets (302) 105 

Total 4 051 3 116 

   

Settled within 12 months 4 051 3 116 

Total 4 051 3 116 

 

Negative Tax assets refers to a GST payable at 30 June 2021.  

  

 

 2021 2020 

Reconciliation of movement in expected credit loss for receivables $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 741 814 

Amounts written off during the year (508) (556) 

Amounts recovered during the year 1 3 

Increase/(decrease) in provision recognised in profit or loss 521 480 

Carrying amount at 30 June 755 741 

5.2 Loan advances 

Loan advances are borrowings provided to clients for the purchase of homes and are recognised as the 
balance of the outstanding principal less any impairment losses. 
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  2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Loan advances  1 348 724 

Less:  Provision for impairment  (1) (1) 

Total  1 347 723 

    

Settled within 12 months  352 241 

Settled in more than 12 months  995 482 

Total  1 347 723 

 

Loan advances include financial assistance provided by the Government to individual purchasers in the form 
of loans. The provision for impairment is the result of an audit undertaken by an external entity. 

The increase in Loan advances this year relates to funding for the Migrant Resource Centre. 

5.3 HomeShare investments 

The Director of Housing holds investments via the HomeShare Program. 

HomeShare investments are initially recorded at cost with any changes in the fair value being recorded as 
income or expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. HomeShare investments are not 
depreciated and are revalued on a biennial basis using information provided by the Valuer-General. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

HomeShare investments 25 822 22 637 

Add: Additions 5 842 5 854 

Less: Disposals (4 313) (2 669) 

 27 351 25 822 

Less:  Provision for impairment (72) (78) 

Total 27 277 25 744 

   

Settled in more than 12 months 27 277 25 744 

Total  27 277 25 744 

 

The last revaluation was done in 2019 and the next valuation of these assets will take place in 2022. 
 
Sixty nine HomeShare investments were disposed of during 2021, and the relevant gain on sale of $933 000 
(2020: $350 000) is disclosed in Note 3.3. 



 

Housing Tasmania Financial Statements 25 

5.4 Other financial assets 

Other financial assets are held at fair value. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Accrued revenue  241 423 

Total 241 423 

   

Settled within 12 months 241 423 

Total  241 423 

5.5 Assets held for sale 

Assets held for sale (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered 
primarily through sale rather than continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before 
classification as held for sale, fair value assets (or components of a disposal group) are remeasured in 
accordance with Housing Tasmania's policy. Upon initial classification to assets held for sale, assets are 
remeasured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss for any initial and subsequent write down from the carrying amount measured 
immediately before re-measurement to fair value less costs of disposal. Such assets are no longer amortised 
or depreciated upon being classified as held for sale. 

(a) Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Land 764 1 093 

Buildings 344 0 

Total 1 108 1 093 

   

Settled within 12 months 1 108 1 093 

Total  1 108 1 093 

 

Assets held for sale include residential dwellings from the public housing portfolio identified for sale as part 
of the ongoing Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP). Where appropriate, existing dwellings may be 
offered for sale to the sitting tenants supported by government programs such as the HomeShare Shared 
Equity Sales Program or the Streets Ahead Assistance Program. All remaining properties are offered for sale 
through the open market, with all properties sold at a minimum of the market value as assessed by the 
Valuer General. All proceeds from the sale of these assets will be reinvested into the housing portfolio. 

Assets held for sale include a number of blocks of vacant land. The assets are held for disposal in accordance 
with the SAMP. 

Assets sold during the year include ten vacant land blocks. The assets were sold in accordance with asset 
management plans. 

The recognised fair value of non financial assets is classified according to the fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. 

Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets; 
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Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 

(b) Fair value measurement of Assets held for sale (including fair value levels) 
2021 Carrying 

value at 

30 June 

Fair value measurement at 
end of reporting period 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land 764 0 764 0 

Buildings 344 0 344 0 

Total 1 108 0 1 108 0 

 

2020 Carrying 

value at 

30 June 

Fair value measurement at 
end of reporting period 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land 1 093 0 1 093 0 

Total 1 093 0 1 093 0 

5.6 Property, plant and equipment 

Key estimate and judgement 

i Valuation basis 

Land is recorded at fair value and is not depreciated. Buildings, rental dwellings, community housing stock 
and leasehold improvements are recorded at fair value less accumulated depreciation.  All other non-current 
physical assets, including work in progress, are recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  All assets within a class of assets are measured on the same basis. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-
constructed assets include the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the 
items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Fair value is based on the highest and best use of the asset. Unless there is an explicit Government policy to 
the contrary, the highest and best use of an asset is the current purpose for which the asset is being used or 
occupied. 

The recognised fair value of non-financial assets is classified according to the fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. 

Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets; 
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Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 

ii Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to Housing 
Tasmania and its costs can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred. 

iii Asset recognition threshold 

The asset capitalisation threshold adopted by Housing Tasmania are: 

Plant, equipment, vehicles and leasehold improvements   $10 000 

Land and buildings       $10 000 

Rental dwellings        $10 000 

Community housing stock      $10 000 

Intangibles         $50 000 

Artwork         $10 000 

Assets valued at less than $10 000 (or $50 000 for intangible assets) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year of purchase (other than where they form part of a group of similar items 
which are material in total). 

iv Revaluations 

Housing Tasmania's Rental Dwellings and Community Housing stock are revalued biennially as at 1 July using 
a mix of valuations and/or updated suburb based indices adjustments. This revaluation cycle aligns with the 
Valuer-General's practice of updating capital values every two years. Rental Dwellings and Community 
Housing stock were revalued on 1 July 2018, but were not revalued in 2020-21 as planned due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The next revaluation will occur during the year ending 30 June 2022.  

Publicly available market evidence indicates a reportable increase may have occurred in the value of Rental 
Dwellings and Community Housing stock since the last revaluation on 1 July 2018. Due to uncertainty over 
the rate of increase for these assets, Housing Tasmania could not reliably measure the increase in value and 
consequently determined the current carrying value to be indicative of fair value. 

Sensitivity analysis of the potential impact valuation increases would have on the value of Rental Dwellings 
and Community Housing stock is shown below: 

 

Percentage increase in value 0% 10% 15% 20% 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Increase in value  0  174 142  261 213  348 284 

Carrying value 1 741 420 1 915 562 2 002 633 2 089 704 

 

Housing Tasmania's Land and Building assets, excluding vacant land, were revalued independently by the 
Valuer-General of Tasmania as at 30 June 2018. These assets were valued in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment) and Treasurer's Instructions (TI 303 and TI 
206). In 2021 these assets received a desktop indice valuation based on a review of market movement (Level 
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2 hierarchy) and construction cost (Level 3 hierarchy) undertaken by the Valuer-General of Tasmania for the 
period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. This year, vacant land was revalued in accordance with valuation cycles. 

In accordance with Housing Tasmania's revaluation policy, the next valuation for these assets will take place 
in 2 years time with the Valuer-General assisting in the determination of Adjusted Interim Carrying Amounts 
for the real property for the interim two financial years. 

Impairment losses resulting from arson are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income directly 
against the revaluation reserves, with the total amount of demolitions due to arson disclosed in the 
Property, Plant and Equipment Note. 

v Service concession assets 

Housing Tasmania has adopted AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors from 1 July 2019. 
Comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been prepared under a modified retrospective approach 
to reflect AASB 1059. The recognition approach and a summary of impacts on first time adoption are 
detailed at note 12.5. Service concession arrangements are contracts between a grantor and an operator 
where an operator provides public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of a public sector 
grantor for a specified period of time and manages at least some of those services, as explained further 
below. 

Initial recognition 

Housing Tasmania recognises a service concession asset when it controls the asset. Where the asset is 
provided by the operator, or is an upgrade to or a major component replacement of an existing asset of 
Housing Tasmania, the asset is recognised at current replacement cost based on AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement principles. 

Where an asset is an existing asset of Housing Tasmania, the asset is reclassified as a service concession 
asset and remeasured at current replacement cost at the date of reclassification. Any difference between the 
previous carrying amount and current replacement cost is recognised as if it is a revaluation of the asset. 

Subsequent to initial recognition 

Subsequent to the initial recognition or reclassification. The service concession asset is measured at current 
replacement cost and accounted for in accordance with the depreciation and impairment requirements of 
AASB116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

At the end of the arrangement 

At the end of the service concession arrangement Housing Tasmania accounts for the asset in accordance 
with Australian accounting standards, reclassifying the asset based on its nature and function. The asset fair 
value reverts from the mandated current replacement cost under AASB 1059, to the appropriate approach 
under AASB 13. The asset is derecognised when the entity loses control of the asset in accordance with 
AASB 116. 

(a) Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Land   

Housing vacant land at fair value 31 982 36 008 

Land at fair value 903 2 502 

Total Land 32 885 38 510 

   

Buildings   

Buildings at fair value 6 828 6 626 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (5 636) (5 312) 
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 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Total Housing Tasmania buildings 1 192 1 314 

   

Rental dwellings   

Rental dwellings buildings at fair value 1 173 994 1 173 067 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (68 073) (45 139) 

Total Rental Dwellings Buildings 1 105 921 1 127 928 

   

Rental dwellings land at fair value 565 907 565 760 

   

Total rental dwellings 1 671 828 1 693 688 

   

Community housing stock   

Community housing buildings at fair value 62 047 43 611 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2 681) (1 746) 

Total Community Housing Stock buildings 59 366 41 865 

   

Community housing land at fair value 10 226 5 656 

   

Total community housing stock 69 592 47 521 

   

Plant, equipment and vehicles   

At cost 5 528 190 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (596) (107) 

Total plant, equipment and vehicles 4 932 83 

   

Leasehold improvements   

Leasehold improvements at fair value 1 906 1 812 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (977) (417) 

Total Leasehold Improvements 929 1 395 

   

Total plant, equipment, vehicles & Leasehold Improvements 5 861 1 478 

   

Work in progress   

Buildings 20 629 16 838 

Plant, equipment and vehicles 36 0 

Total work in progress 20 665 16 838 

   

Total Property, plant and equipment 1 802 023 1 799 349 
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(b) Reconciliation of movements (including fair value levels) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of Property, Plant and Equipment at the beginning and 
end of the current and previous financial year are set out below. Carrying value means the net amount after 
deducting accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Community 
Housing 

Stock 
Rental 

Dwellings  Land Buildings 

Plant, 
equipment 

and 
vehicles 

Works in 
progress Total 

 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 3  Level 2   

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July 47 521 1 693 688 38 510 1 314 1 478 16 838 1 799 349 

Additions 0 0 0 0 93 35 877 35 970 

Disposals 0 (3 230) (769) 0 0 0 (3 999) 

Revaluation increments (decrements) 0 0 1 924 36 0 0 1 960 

Assets held for sale 0 0 (303) 0 0 0 (303) 

Grants transfers (refer Note 4.5)  0 0 (2 460) 0 0 0 (2 460) 

Transfers between classes 1 650 (4 096) (4 017) 0 4 096 0 (2 367) 

WIP transfers 21 356 8 528 0 0 1 243 (31 127) 0 

WIP expensed 0 0 0 0 0 (923) (923) 

Depreciation  (935) (23 062) 0 (158) (1 049) 0 (25 204) 

Carrying value at 30 June 69 592 1 671 828 32 885 1 192 5 861 20 665 1 802 023 

 
Grants transfers includes property transferred under various Community Housing programs. 

Transfers between classes includes transfers to Service Concession Assets (Note 5.7(b)). 

 

 

Community 
Housing 

Stock 
Rental 

Dwellings  Land Buildings 

Plant, 
equipment 

and 
vehicles 

Works 
in 

progress Total 

 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 3  Level 2   

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July 48 572 1 680 157 38 935 884 121 45 951 1 814 620 

Net transfers through restructuring 0 0 360 412 0 0 772 

Additions 0 4 048 0 0 (41) 29 561 33 568 

Disposals 1 (4 799) (1 842) 0 0 0 (6 640) 

Revaluation increments (decrements) 0 (1 716) 2 687 41 0 0 1 012 

Assets held for sale 0 321 (79) 0 0 0 242 

Grants transfers (refer Note 4.5)  (344) (8 372) (6 151) 0 0 (236) (15 103) 

Transfers between classes 0 655 (655) 0 0 0 0 

WIP transfers 164 46 344 5 255 0 1 853 (53 616) 0 

WIP expensed 0 0 0 0 0 (4 822) (4 822) 

Depreciation  (872) (22 950) 0 (23) (455) 0 (24 300) 

Carrying value at 30 June 47 521 1 693 688 38 510 1 314 1 478 16 838 1 799 349 
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at measurement date. It is based on the principle of exit 
price, and refers to the price an entity expects to receive when it sells an asset, or the price an entity 
expects to pay when it transfers a liability. 

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value seek to maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Valuation techniques are classified based on the level of use of 
observable versus unobservable inputs as follows: 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure 
fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available. 

There were no transfers of assets between valuation levels during the current or previous year. 

(c) Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value 

Description Fair value at 
30 June 

$’000 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs used in 
valuation 

Possible alternative values 
for level 3 inputs 

Sensitivity of fair value to 
changes in level 3 inputs 

Buildings 1 192 A – construction 
costs 

B – Age and 
condition asset 

C – Remaining 
useful life 

When valuing these assets, 
their existing and alternative 
uses are taken into account by 
valuers.  As a result, it is 
unlikely that alternative values 
will arise unless there are 
changes in known inputs. 

Tasmanian construction 
indexes have remained stable 
over the last 12 months.  
Design and useful lives are 
reviewed regularly but 
generally remain unchanged.  
As a result, it is unlikely that 
significant variations in values 
will arise in the short term. 

5.7 Service Concession Assets 

(a) Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Service Concession Assets land at fair value 224 590 175 829 

Service Concession Assets buildings at fair value 853 086 744 519 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (257 861) (235 624) 

Total Service Concession Assets buildings 595 225 508 895 

Service Concession Assets buildings Work in progress 1 305 0 

Total Service Concession Assets 821 120 684 724 

 

The net carrying amount of service concession assets is $821.12 million as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $ 
684.724 million). During the current period, there were no existing assets of the Housing Tasmania that 
were reclassified as service concession assets (2020: $38.425 million). 

Based on Housing Tasmania’s assessment, the following arrangements fall in scope of AASB 1059: 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

$’000 

Better 
Housing 
Futures  

Commenced 
in 2013/14 
for a period 
of ten years. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 

*certain operational services; and 

*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate:  

*services provided;  

* to whom these services are 
provided to;  

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and  

*maintenance\ upgrades to stock. 

 

Sales and Development 
Agreements regulate 

*sales/acquisitions e.g key 
deliverables/ milestones & 
quarantining of sales proceeds to 
program. 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 
or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

No major policy changes, just 
minor ons and offs via sales. 
First policy change is next 
financial year when all 
properties under this 
arrangement will be 
transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  761 596  650 369 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

$’000 

Salvation 
Army Housing 

Ends in 2023 
with a 5-
year option 
to extend. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 

*certain operational services; and  

*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate:  

*services provided; 

* to whom these service are 
provided to; 

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and 

*maintenance and upgrades to 
stock. 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 
or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

No major policy changes, just 
minor ons and offs via sales. 
First policy change is next 
financial year all properties 
under this arrangement will 
be transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  24 224  20 469 

Community 
Housing 
Grants 
Program 

40 years 
from date of 
signing  

CHOs build 
properties on behalf 
of HT under Ground 
Lease Agreements. 
HT contribute to the 
construction costs 
via grant payments. 
HT holds the title to 

Agreements include mandatory 
requirements including: 
*rent-setting methodology; 
*housing priority applicants 
*retention of use for 30 years; 
and ongoing maintenance. 

Nil Nil.  18 949 Nil. 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

$’000 

these properties. 
Dwellings retained 
for public housing 
with the CHOs being 
responsible for 
tenancy management. 

Nation 
Building 
Economic 
Stimulus 
Package 
(NBESP) 
Arrangements 

The 
deliverables 
that were 
required in 
return for 
management 
of these 
sites have 
been 
completed. 
 
Moving to 
the 
Community 
Housing 
Growth 
Program in 
2021 and 
not under 
separate 
agreement 
as per 
current 
status. 

CHOs provide public 
housing services on 
behalf of Housing Tas 
using existing HT 
stock. 
 
Housing Tas holds 
title and determines 
the use of properties 
post the end of the 
arrangement. 
 

CHOs are responsible for 
*certain operational services; and  
*managing own cashflows 
including tenancy charging, 
payment of outgoings and 
accessing Commonwealth 
funding. 

 

Rental Management Agreement 
in place to regulate:  

*services provided; 

* to whom these services are 
provided to; 

* the price to be charged for 
these services; and 

*maintenance and upgrades to 
stock. 

*CHOs under NBESP set and 
manage own maintenance 
program. 

*CHOs required to have  
Residential Tenancies Authority 
compliance and receive a tier 1 

No major policy changes. 
First policy change is next 
financial year all properties 
under this arrangement will 
be transferred to the 
Community Housing Growth 
Program. 

Nil.  16 351  13 886 
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Name of 
Service 
concession 
arrangement 

Period Terms of 
arrangement 

Rights & obligations Changes in arrangement 
during current year 

Changes in 
arrangement 
during prior 
year 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2021 

$’000 

Carrying amount 
of arrangement 
30 June 2020 

$’000 

or tier 2 rating under the 
National Regulatory System for 
Community Housing. 

Total       821 120  684 724 
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(b) Reconciliation of movements 
2021 Land Buildings Works in 

progress 
Total 

 Level 3 Level 3   

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 175 829 508 895 0 684 724 

Additions 0 16 818 1 305 18 123 

Disposals (1 729) (3 797) 0 (5 526) 

Revaluation increments (decrements) 48 296 79 993 0 128 289 

Assets held for sale (173) (376) 0 (549) 

Transfers between classes 2 367 0 0 2 367 

Depreciation 0 (6 308) 0 (6 308) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 224 590 595 225 1 305 821 120 

 

2020 Land Buildings Works in 
progress 

Total 

 Level 3 Level 3   

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 189 066 542 460 0 731 526 

Disposals (1 360) (3 231) 0 (4 591) 

Grants Transfers (11 877) (23 976) 0 (35 853) 

Depreciation 0 (6 358) 0 (6 358) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 175 829 508 895 0 684 724 

5.8 Right-of-use assets 

AASB 16 requires Housing Tasmania to recognise a right-of-use asset, where it has control of the underlying 
asset over the lease term. A right-of-use asset is measured at the present value of initial lease liability, 
adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial 
direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site. 

Housing Tasmania has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short term 
leases, rental arrangements for which Finance General has substantive substitution rights over the assets and 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to office 
accommodation. An asset is considered low value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets useful life and the term of the lease. 
Where Housing Tasmania obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that Housing Tasmania will exercise a purchase option, Housing Tasmania depreciates the 
right-of-use asset overs its useful life. 
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(a) Carrying amount 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Leased land and buildings   

At fair value 1 107 1 130 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (605) (134) 

Total 502 996 

   

Leased plant, equipment and vehicles   

At fair value 2 312 2 312 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1 257) (538) 

Total 1 055 1 774 

   

Total right-of-use assets 1 557 2 770 

(b) Reconciliation of movements  

 Buildings 

Plant, 
equipment 
& vehicles 

 

Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July 996 1 774 2 770 

Amortisation (494) (719) (1 213) 

Carrying value at 30 June 502 1 055 1 557 

    

 Buildings 

Plant, 
equipment 
& vehicles 

 

Total 

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying value at 1 July 458 0 458 

Additions  672 2 312 2 984 

Amortisation (134) (538) (672) 

Carrying value at 30 June 996 1 774 2 770 

5.9 Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is recognised where: 

• it is probable that an expected future benefit attributable to the asset will flow to Housing Tasmania; 
and 

• the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. 

Intangible assets held by Housing Tasmania are valued at fair value less any subsequent accumulated 
amortisation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses where an active market exists. Where no 
active market exists, intangible assets held by Housing Tasmania are valued at cost less any subsequent 
accumulated amortisation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.  

Intangible assets with a finite useful life held by Housing Tasmania principally comprise computer software. 
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(a) Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Intangibles with a finite useful life   

Other non-current assets at cost  4 005 4 005 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (2 795) (1 772) 

Total 1 210 2 223 

   

Capital work in progress 0 24 

Total intangible assets 1 210 2 257 

(b) Reconciliation of movements 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2 257 2 600 

Work in progress at cost 0 66 

WIP expensed (24) 45 

Amortisation (1 023) (454) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 1 210 2 257 

5.10 Other assets 

Other assets, which consists of prepayments, are valued at cost due to the short timeframe over which the 
benefits embodied in the asset will be utilised. 

(a) Carrying amount 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Other current assets   

Prepayments 37 340 

Total  37 340 

   

Recovered within 12 months 37 340 

Total  37 340 

(b) Reconciliation of movements 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 340 0 

Additions 37 340 

Utilised (340) 0 

Carrying amount at 30 June 37 340 
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Note 6 Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the 
amount at which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

6.1 Payables 

Payables, including goods received and services incurred but not yet invoiced, are recognised at amortised 
cost, which due to the short settlement period, equates to face value, when Housing Tasmania becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Creditors 5 160 1 947 

Accrued expenses 6 119 5 847 

Total 11 279 7 794 

   

Settled within 12 months 11 279 7 794 

Total 11 279 7 794 

 

Accrued expenses predominantly include Housing Tasmania outstanding insurance claims of $2.638 million 
and work order and maintenance management fee raised in July 2021 but related to June 2021 of $2.654 
million. 

The increase in payables is due to timing of grant payments for social housing (Housing Tasmania). 

Settlement is usually made within 28 days. 

6.2 Lease liabilities 

A lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The 
discount rate used to calculate the present value of the lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease. Where 
the implicit rate is not known and cannot be determined the Tascorp indicative lending rate including the 
relevant administration margin is used. 

Housing Tasmania has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short term 
leases, rental arrangements for which Finance General has substantive substitution rights over the assets and 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to office 
accommodation. An asset is considered low value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000. 

Housing Tasmania has entered into the following leasing arrangements: 

Class of right of use asset Details of leasing arrangements 

Plant and equipment The use of the equipment (converted shipping containers) is for 
the purpose of providing temporary accommodation to people 
who are at risk of homelessness. The annual lease payments will 
vary in proportion to the change in the Consumer Price Index 
over the period. The period is 3 years and three months. There 
is an option to terminate without cause with the lessor then 
being entitled to a payout figure. There is no option for a lease 
extension. 

Buildings The use of the buildings includes archiving and minor office 
accommodation. The lease payments vary in accordance with CPI 
and there are options for lease extensions. 

 



 

Housing Tasmania Financial Statements 40 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Current   

Lease liabilities 946 1 008 

Non-current   

Lease liabilities 647 1 593 

Total 1 593 2 601 

 

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Interest on lease liabilities included in Note 4.6 37 44 

Net expenses from leasing activities 37 44 

6.3 Employee benefit liabilities 

Key estimate and judgement 

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised when an employee becomes entitled to 
receive a benefit. Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount 
expected to be paid. Other employee entitlements are measured as the present value of the benefit at 
30 June, where the impact of discounting is material and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is 
not material. 

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Accrued salaries 160 117 

Annual leave 1 236 1 152 

Long service leave 2 579 2 406 

Other employee benefits 49 42 

Total 4 024 3 717 

   

Expected to settle wholly within 12 months 1 445 1 557 

Expected to settle wholly after 12 months 2 579 2 160 

Total 4 024 3 717 

 

Other employee benefits are comprised of Purchased Leave and State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme 
entitlements. 
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6.4 Superannuation 

i Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when they fall due. 

ii Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 

Key estimate and judgement 

With the exceptions noted below, Housing Tasmania does not recognise a liability for the accruing 
superannuation benefits of State Service employees. This liability is held centrally within Government and is 
recognised within the Finance-General Division of the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

Housing Tasmania’s superannuation obligations, in respect of the contributory service of current and past 
government employees, are recognised at the latest actuarial assessment of the members’ entitlements, net 
of scheme assets. The valuation is determined by discounting to present value, the gross benefit payments at 
a current, market-determined, risk-adjusted discount rate appropriate to the respective plan. 

Actuarial gains or losses arising from the actuarial revaluation of Housing Tasmania superannuation liabilities 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(a) Type of plan 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision 

Housing Tasmania is required to meet the emerging cost of pension payments paid in respect of retired 
employees, where those employees had a superannuation entitlement that accrued before 1 July 1994. 

Members of the Contributory Scheme receive lump sum or pension benefits on retirement, death, invalidity 
or upon reaching preservation age after resignation. The Contributory Scheme is closed to new members. 

The Scheme operates under the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016. 

The Superannuation Commission has fiduciary responsibility for, and oversees the administration of, the 
Scheme. The day running of the Scheme is managed by the Office of the Superannuation Commission, within 
the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

There are a number of risks to which the Scheme exposes Housing Tasmania. The more significant risks 
relating to the defined benefits are: 

• Inflation risk - The risk is that inflation is higher than anticipated, increasing pension payments and 
the associated employer contributions over the long term. 

• Pensioner mortality risk - The risk is that pensioner mortality will be lighter than expected, resulting 
in pensions being paid for a longer period. 

• Legislative risk - The risk is that legislative changes could be made which increase the cost of 
providing the defined benefits. 

The State Actuary undertook a revaluation of the present value of the benefit obligation and the fair value of 
the plan assets as at 30 June 2021 using the process outlined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits issued on 
September 2011. As a result of the revaluation it was determined that the Housing Tasmania Superannuation 
Provision was in deficit by $6.761 million (2020: $7.553 million deficit). 

The valuation of the superannuation liability relates to the entitlements that accrued before 1 July 1994 for 
current employees of Housing Tasmania who are members of the Retirement Benefits Fund Contributory 
Scheme and former employees who were either contributors or non-contributors and who have retained 
benefits or are current pensioners. 
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(b) Reconciliation of movements in Present value of superannuation liability 
  Total Liability 

  2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July  7 553 7 986 

    

Included in profit or loss    

Interest cost  116 138 

  116 138 

Included in other comprehensive income    

Re-measurement loss (gain):    

Actuarial loss (gain)  (424) 51 

Actual gains/(losses)  (424) 51 

    

Other    

Employer contributions  (484) (622) 

  (484) (622) 

Balance at 30 June  6 761 7 553 

(c) Plan assets at Fair Value 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision does not have any plan assets due to members being part of the 
RBF Contributory Scheme. 

(d) Key actuarial assumptions 
Assumptions to Determine Defined Benefit Cost Housing Tasmania 

Superannuation 
Provision 

 2021 

% 

2020 

% 

Discount rate 1.60 1.80 

Future rate of salary increases 3.00 3.00 

Future rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 3.00 3.00 

Inflation (pension) 2.25 2.50 

 

Assumptions to Determine Defined Benefit Obligation Housing 
Tasmania 

Superannuation 
Provision 

 2021 

% 

2020 

% 

Discount rate 2.15 1.60 

Future rate of salary increases 3.00 3.00 

Future rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 3.00 3.00 

Inflation (pension) 2.25 2.25 
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As at 30 June 2021 the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for Housing was 
10.5 years (2020: 11.1 years). 

(e) Sensitivity analysis 

Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision 

The defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2021 is presented below under several scenarios. 

Scenario A and B relate to discount rate sensitivity. Scenario C and D relate to expected pension increase 
rate sensitivity. 

Scenario A: 1.0% pa lower discount rate assumption 

Scenario B: 1.0% pa higher discount rate assumption 

Scenario C: 1.0% pa lower than expected pension increase rate assumption 

Scenario D: 1.0% higher than expected pension increase rate assumption 

Defined benefit obligation Base Case Scenario A Scenario B Scenario C Scenario D 

 

 

-1.0% pa 
discount 

rate 

+1.0% pa 
discount 

rate 

-1.0% pa 
pension 
increase 

rate 

+1.0% pa 
pension 
increase 

rate 

Discount rate (% pa) 2.15 1.15 3.15 2.15 2.15 

Pension increase rate (% pa) 2.25 2.25 2.25 1.25 3.25 

Defined benefit obligation (A$’000s) 6 761 7 520 6 126 6 148 7 478 

 

The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst 
retaining all other assumptions. 

(f) Funding arrangements 

Contributions to the Housing Tasmania Superannuation Provision in respect of defined benefit schemes are 
made on an emerging cost basis. 

Housing Tasmania expects to make a contribution of $548 000 (2020: $577 000) for the Housing Tasmania 
Superannuation Provision during the next financial year. 
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6.5 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities and other financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a 
present obligation and the amount at which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably.   

Other liabilities include revenue received in advance and on-costs associated with employee benefits. 
Revenue received in advance is measured at amortised cost. On-costs associated with employee benefits 
expected to be realised within 12 months are measured at the amount expected to be paid.  Other on-costs 
associated with employee benefits are measured at the present value of the cost at 30 June 2021, where the 
impact of discounting is material, and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is not material. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Revenue received in advance   

Rent revenue received in advance 2 510 3 010 

Special Capital Investment Funds revenue received in advance 0  1 673 

   

Other liabilities   

Employee benefit liabilities – on-costs 187 162 

Inter-entity balance 79 216 

Unearned revenue - Grant of a right to operate liability under service concessions 7 447 0 

Other liabilities 140 263 

Total 10 363 5 324 

   

Settled within 12 months 2 980 5 225 

Settled in more than 12 months 7 383 99 

Total  10 363 5 324 

 

The Inter entity balance comprises transactions arising from interaction between Housing Tasmania and the 
Department of Communities Tasmania (DCT), including goods and services tax settlement entries. 

Other liabilities primarily represent the granting of a right to operate service concession assets to 
Community Housing Organisations under the Community Housing Grant Program, which commenced this 
financial year. 
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Note 7 Commitments and Contingencies 

7.1 Schedule of Commitments 

Commitments represent those contractual arrangements entered by Housing Tasmania that are not 
reflected in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, 
excluding short term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, which are recognised as 
an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

By type   

Capital commitments   

Housing Tasmania 221 126 43 673 

Total Capital commitments 221 126 43 673 

Operating lease commitments   

Rent on buildings   358   579 

Motor vehicles   30   49 

Total lease commitments   388   628 

Other commitments   

Miscellaneous grants 48 110 77 106 

Total other commitments 48 110 77 106 

Total  269 624  121 407 

   

By maturity   

Capital Commitments   

One year or less 151 863 32 419 

From one to five years 69 263 11 254 

Total Capital commitments 221 126 43 673 

Operating lease commitments   

One year or less   321   289 

From one to five years   67   339 

Total operating lease commitments    388   628 

Other commitments   

One year or less 42 485 41 913 

From one to five years 5 625 35 193 

Total other commitments  48 110 77 106 

Total  269 624  121 407 
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Capital Commitments (GST Inclusive) 

Housing Tasmania commitments include commitments of $221 million for Capital, including construction of 
new dwellings as part of CSHA debt waiver. 

Rent on Buildings (GST Inclusive) 

Housing Tasmania leases a range of properties/tenancies around the State for service delivery purpose. 

Motor vehicles  

The Government Motor Vehicle Fleet is managed as part of a Whole-of-Government arrangement with the 
Department of Treasury and Finance as lessor. Lease payments vary according to the type of vehicle and, 
where applicable, the price received for trade-in vehicles. Lease terms for the majority of existing vehicles 
are for a period of three years or 60 000 km’s, whichever comes first, with no change to the lease rate. No 
restrictions or purchase options are contained in the lease. 

Miscellaneous grants (GST Exclusive) 

Miscellaneous Grants predominantly include funds for Supported Residential facilities, specialist homelessness 
services and the provision of emergency accommodation. 

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position due to uncertainty 
regarding any possible amount or timing of any possible underlying claim or obligation. 

(a) Quantifiable contingencies 

A quantifiable contingent asset is any possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity. 

A quantifiable contingent liability is any possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the entity; or any present obligation that arises from past events but is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. To the extent that any quantifiable contingencies are insured, details 
provided below are recorded net. 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Quantifiable contingent liabilities   

Contingent claims   

Legal Claims 60 30 

Total quantifiable contingent liabilities 60 30 

   

Quantifiable contingent assets   

Community housing properties  8 224 36 714 

Less accumulated depreciation (311) (970) 

Better Housing Futures properties   697 521 265 

Less accumulated depreciation   0 (14 970) 

Total quantifiable contingent assets  8 610 542 039 
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Legal Claims 

At 30 June 2021, Housing Tasmania had one legal claim against it for other liability claims. These claims are 
reported at the estimated net cost to Housing Tasmania. 

The Department manages its legal claims through the Tasmanian Risk Management Fund (TRMF).  An excess 
of 26 weeks for Workers Compensation and Personal Accident or $50 000 for Medical Liability remains 
payable for every claim and amounts over that excess are met by the TRMF. 

Community Housing 

Quantifiable contingent assets represent assets that are currently not under the control of the Department 
but it is probable that control will return to the Department in the future. 

Quantifiable contingent assets represent dwellings for which the legal title is retained by Housing Tasmania, 
however some components of tenancy and property management have been transferred to CHOs. 

Most of these assets fall under older legacy agreements. 

Better Housing Futures (BHF) 

The decrease from last year reflects the implementation of AASB 1059 Service Concession Assets: Grantors, 
which has resulted in the majority of former contingent assets being reported on the Balance Sheet. Refer to 
Note 5.7. 

The remaining balance in 2021 refers to blocks of vacant land that may be transferred, depending on the 
CHOs activities. 

(b) Unquantifiable Contingencies 

Community Housing Growth Program 

Housing Tasmania will be transferring the management of 2 000 of its public housing properties to the 
community housing sector under the Community Housing Growth Program. This transfer builds on the capacity 
of the sector through providing long term agreements and leveraging the construction of new social housing 
supply through capital grant funding packages.    
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Note 8 Reserves 

8.1 Reserves 

 

Service 
Concession 

Assets 

Community 
housing 

stock 

Rental 
dwellings 

Land Buildings  Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset revaluation reserve       

Balance at the beginning of financial year 0 4 576 585 775 11 545 (1 298) 600 598 

Transfers to/(from) accumulated funds   0   0 (1 773) (3 487)   0 (5 260) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements)  128 289   0   0  1 923   35  130 246 

Balance at the end of financial year  128 289  4 576  584 001  9 981 (1 263)  725 584 

 

 

Service 
Concession 

Assets 

Community 
housing 

stock 

Rental 
dwellings 

Land Buildings  Total 

2020 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset revaluation reserve       

Balance at the beginning of financial year 0 7 614 591 274 14 099 248 613 235 

Create ARR – AASB 1059 0 (2 896) 1 084 0 0 (1 812) 

Create ARR – restructure  0   0   0   173 (1 587) (1 414) 

Transfers to/(from) accumulated funds 0 (142) (4 933) (5 351)   0 (10 426) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 0   0 (1 650)  2 624   41  1 015 

Balance at the end of financial year 0  4 576  585 775  11 545 (1 298)  600 598 

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves 

Asset revaluation reserve 

The Asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-financial assets, as described in Note 5.6. 

8.2 Contributed Capital 

Capital Contributed records capital contributed on formation of the Home Ownership Assistance Program 
(HOAP). 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Contributed Capital   

Balance at the beginning of financial year 6 094 6 094 

Balance at the end of financial year 6 094 6 094 



 

Housing Tasmania Financial Statements 49 

Note 9 Cash Flow Reconciliation 
Cash means notes, coins, any deposits held at call with a bank or financial institution, as well as funds held in 
Specific Purpose Accounts, being short term of three months or less and highly liquid. Deposits are 
recognised at amortised cost, being their face value. 

9.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the balance of the Specific Purpose Accounts held by the Department of 
Communities on behalf of Housing Tasmania, and other cash held, excluding those accounts which are 
administered or held in a trustee capacity or agency arrangement. 

  2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Specific Purpose Account balances   

        DCT Operating Account 9 970 21 518 

Total  9 970 21 518 

    

Other cash held   

        Other cash equivalents not included above  1 1 

Total  1 1 

    

Total cash and cash equivalents 9 971 21 519 

 

Other cash equivalents primarily represent petty cash and cash floats. 

9.2 Reconciliation of Net Result to Net Cash from Operating Activities 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Net result (9 457)  83 460 

Depreciation and amortisation  33 748  31 785 

Recognition of assets as a result of stocktake/donations   0 (157 600) 

Non-operational capital funding (38 140) (26 226) 

Capital grants expense  2 460  50 955 

WIP expensed    947  4 777 

Transfer of assets due to administrative restructure   210   0 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets   363  5 596 

Other gain/(loss) (939) (327) 

Decrease (increase) in Receivables  (935) (416) 

Decrease (increase) in Other assets   485 (510) 

Increase (decrease) in Employee benefit liabilities   307   250 

Increase (decrease) in Superannuation (368) (483) 

Increase (decrease) in Payables  3 485 (1 919) 
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Increase (decrease) in Other liabilities (2 408) (1 498) 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities (10 242) (12 156) 

9.3 Acquittal of Capital Investment and Special Capital Investment Funds 

Housing Tasmania received Capital Appropriation funding and revenues from Special Capital Investment 
Funds to fund specific projects. 

Cash outflows relating to these projects are listed below by category. 

(a) Project expenditure 

   2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

Capital Investment Program    

Affordable Housing Strategy Stage 1 
 0 17 

Affordable Housing Strategy Stage 2 
 35 000 40 850 

Housing – New Projects 
 51 447 30 628 

Total Capital Investment Program 
 86 447 71 495 

 
   

Special Capital Investment Funds 
   

Housing Fund 
   

National Rental Affordability Scheme 
 264 1 308 

Total Special Capital Investment Fund 
 264 1 308 

Total 
 86 711 72 803 

(b) Classification of cash flows 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Cash outflows   

Employee benefits  1 426 669 

Supplies and consumables  2 169 4 054 

Grants  34 045 29 558 

Payments for acquisition of assets  48 350 38 522 

Other cash payments   721 0 

Total cash outflows  86 711 72 803 
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9.4 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 
classified in the Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities. 

2021 

Borrowings 

$’000 

Lease liabilities 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 July 2020 0 2 601 

Cash Repayments 0 (1 008) 

Balance as at 30 June 2021 0 1 593 

   

2020 

Borrowings 

$’000 

Lease liabilities 

$’000 

   

Balance as at 1 July 2019 157 600  458 

Acquisitions / New leases 0 2 984 

Other movements (157 600) 0 

Changes from financing cash flows:   

Cash Repayments 0 (841) 

Balance as at 30 June 2020 0 2 601 
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Note 10 Associated Entities  

10.1 Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited 

On 11 March 2011, the Crown, represented by the Minister for Human Services, became the sole 
shareholder of the shares in Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited (TAHL), thus assuming control of TAHL 
as a wholly owned Government entity. 

TAHL has not been consolidated into Housing Tasmania's financial statements as at 30 June 2021 as it does 
not come under the control of the Housing Tasmania.  As at 30 June 2021, TAHL's net assets amounted to 
($69 000) comprising $179 000 assets and $248 000 liabilities. 

As at 30 June 2021, TAHL no longer had principal activities remaining and is expected to wind up during the 
2021-22 financial year. In accordance with the TAHL constitution, net assets will be distributed via a 
competitive process to a like organisation for the delivery of additional social housing. Note that at reporting 
date an agreement had been reached to pay the balance of funds to CentaCare Evolve Housing to further 
support social housing development. This will see TAHL funds reduced to a minimum balance remaining.  

The audit of the TAHL statements has not been completed at the time that Housing Tasmania's statements 
were signed. 
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Note 11 Events Occurring After Balance Date 
Housing Tasmania is transferring management of 2 000 of its public housing properties to the community 
housing sector under the Community Housing Growth Program. This transfer builds on the capacity of the 
sector through providing long term agreements and leveraging the construction of new social housing supply 
through capital grant funding packages.    

This will improve access for vulnerable Tasmanians to good quality social housing where it's needed, through 
the efficient use of resources and by enhancing the sustainability of registered community housing providers. 

At reporting date, one agreement has been signed with Centacare Evolve Housing (CEH), which will 
commence on 1 September 2021. This agreement transfers management of 696 existing Housing Tasmania 
properties. 

Three remaining agreements are expected to be signed and commenced by 1 November 2021. 

These properties will continue to be reported on the Balance Sheet next financial year, however in 
accordance with AASB 1059, it is anticipated that they will be reclassified as Service Concession Assets. 
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Note 12 Other Significant Accounting Policies and Judgements 

12.1 Objectives and Funding 

The objective for Housing Tasmania, as part of the Department of Communities Tasmania is to ensure that 
low-income individuals and families have access to adequate, affordable and appropriate housing for as long 
as it is required. 

The Housing Tasmania contributes to the following Department of Communities Tasmania strategic 
priorities: working with communities to offer all Tasmanians the opportunity to participate positively in 
community life; working with partners to identify and pursue early opportunities to improve the wellbeing of 
individuals, families and communities; working with families, carers and the community to keep children and 
young people safe; and working together to continue to build a high performing, committed and engaged 
organisation. 

Housing Tasmania activities contributing towards those activities involve the use of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses controlled by the Housing Tasmania in her own right. 

Housing Tasmania is funded through a mix of attributed Parliamentary appropriations and retained revenues, 
primarily rental and asset sale income. The financial report encompasses all funds through which the Housing 
Tasmania controls resources to carry out its functions including the HOAP. 

The Tasmanian Government discontinued lending through the HOAP scheme with effect from June 2008. 
Home ownership support was provided through the "HomeShare" Shared Equity Scheme in 2020-21 and it 
was funded through direct appropriation and past HOAP surpluses. 

Housing Tasmania is a Tasmanian Government not-for-profit entity that derives rental revenue and asset sale 
income from Housing Tasmania properties and receives income from borrowers in the HOAP.  The financial 
statements encompass all funds through which Housing Tasmania controls resources to carry on its 
functions. 

The Financial Statements were signed by the Accountable Authority of Housing Tasmania on 24th September 
2021. 

12.2 Basis of Accounting 

Housing Tasmania has decided that as there are no users dependent on General Purpose Financial 
Statements, these Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in order to meet the financial 
obligations of Housing Tasmania and the Audit Act 2008. 

These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement requirements specified by Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors, AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards, AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures, 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, AASB 1004 Contributions and AASB 116 Property Plant and Equipment. 

Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) may not result in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as the AAS include requirements and options available to not-for-profit 
organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS.  Housing Tasmania is considered to be not-for-profit and has 
adopted some accounting policies under the AAS that do not comply with IFRS. 

This Special Purpose Financial Report has reduced disclosure in terms of Financial Instruments, 
Superannuation Reporting and Key Management Personnel remuneration. 

The Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and, except where stated, 
are in accordance with the historical cost convention. The Financial Statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis. The continued existence of Housing Tasmania, undertaking its current activities, is 
dependent on Government Policy and continuing appropriations through the Department of Communities 
Tasmania for Housing Tasmania's administration and activities.  
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12.3 Reporting Entity 

The Financial Statements include all the controlled activities of Housing Tasmania. The Financial Statements 
consolidate material transactions and balances of Housing Tasmania. Summary information relating to TAHL 
is disclosed in Note 10 Associated Entities. 

12.4 Functional and Presentation Currency 

These Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Housing Tasmania's functional 
currency. 

12.5 Changes in Accounting Policies 

(a) Impact of the new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, Housing Tasmania has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 
current annual reporting period. These include: 

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors – This Standard prescribes the accounting for a 
service concession arrangement by a grantor that is a public sector entity. Service concession 
arrangements are contracts between an operator and a grantor, where the operator provides public 
services related to a service concession asset on behalf of the grantor for a specified period of time 
and manages at least some of those services. 

Where AASB 1059 applies, the grantor recognises the service concession asset when the grantor 
obtains control of the asset and measures the service concession asset at current replacement cost. 
At the same time, the grantor recognises a corresponding financial liability or unearned revenue 
liability or a combination of both. 

The modified retrospective approach, permitted under AASB 1059, has been adopted, by 
recognising and measuring service concession assets and related liabilities as the date of initial 
application of 1 July 2019, with any net adjustments to the amounts of assets and liabilities 
recognised in accumulated funds at that date. 

The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2020 is as follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

Adjustment Without 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Expenses     

Depreciation and amortisation (a) 31 785 5 505 26 280 

  31 785 5 505 26 280 
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The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Financial Position for the year ended 30 June 
2020 is as follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

Adjustment Without 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset     

Service Concession Assets (b) 684 724 684 724 0 

Property, Plant and Equipment (c) 1 799 349 (49 118) 1 848 467 

  2 484 073 635 606 1 848 467 

     

Accumulated funds (d) 1 908 377 637 417 1 270 960 

 

The effect of adopting AASB 1059 on the Statement of Financial Position as at 1 July 2019 is as 
follows: 

2020 Notes With 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

Adjustme
nt 

Without 
adoption 
of AASB 

1059 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Asset     

Service Concession Assets (e)  731 526  731 526   0 

Property, Plant and Equipment (f) 1 814 620 (49 972) 1 864 592 

  2 546 146  681 554 1 864 592 

     

Accumulated funds (g) 1 812 356 683 366 1 128 990 

ARR  611 423 (1 812) 613 235 

Total Equity Adjustment  2 423 779 681 554 1 742 225 

 

Explanation for AASB 1059 adjustments 

(a) Service Concession Assets are depreciated over their useful lives in accordance with the 
Standard. 

(b) Service Concession Assets are reported as a separate line item in the Balance Sheet. The balance 
at 30 June includes both depreciation and disposals during the year. 

(c) This adjustment reflects the transfer between asset classes upon implementation of the Standard, 
including accounting for disposals and depreciation that occurred during the year. 

(d) This adjustment reflects both the recognition of service concession assets on the Balance Sheet 
that were previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation 
method from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. 

(e) Service Concession Assets are reported as a separate line item in the Balance Sheet. The balance 
at 1 July 2019 reflects the initial recognition of these assets at replacement cost prior to any 
movement that occurred during the year. 

(f) This adjustment reflects both the initial recognition of assets on the Balance Sheet that were 
previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation method 
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from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. This is prior to any movements that 
occurred during the year. 

(g) This adjustment reflects both the initial recognition of assets on the Balance Sheet that were 
previously contingent and the revaluation movement arising out of changing the valuation method 
from market to replacement cost to comply with AASB 1059. This is prior to any movements that 
occurred during the year. 

(b) Voluntary changes in accounting policy 

This year there was an internal cost centre reallocation adjustment reported in the Statement of Changes to 
Equity. This change was driven by a Treasury reporting requirement around COVID-19 transactions and 
resulted in a remapping of cost centres for budget reporting purposes.  

The net result was to decrease the accumulated funds balance at 1 July 2020 in the Statement of Changes to 
Equity by $360 000. 

(c) Changes in accounting estimates 

Upon adoption of AASB 1059, the entity is required to measure existing assets reclassified as service 
concession assets at fair value (current replacement cost) as the date of initial application. Therefore, 
comprehensive valuations were performed as 1 July 2019 using current replacement cost approach for  

$49.934 million of existing property, plant and equipment and intangible assets previously measured at fair 
value using market or income approach. This resulted in a decrease of $11.373 million in accumulated funds 
at 1 July 2019, and a corresponding increase of $38.56 in service concession assets. 

12.6 Foreign Currency 

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the exchange rates current as at 
balance date. 

12.7 Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect any changes in accounting policy or the adoption of new 
standards. Details of the impact of changes in accounting policy on comparative figures are at note 12.5. 

Where amounts have been reclassified within the Financial Statements, the comparative statements have 
been restated. 

The comparatives for external administrative restructures are not reflected in the Financial Statements. 

12.8 Rounding 

All amounts in the Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. As a consequence, rounded figures may not add to totals. Amounts less than $500 are rounded to 
zero. 

12.9 Departmental Taxation 

The Department is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services 
Tax. 

12.10 Goods and Services Tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax, except where 
the GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of GST. The net amount recoverable, or payable, to the Australian Taxation Office is 
recognised as an asset or liability within the Statement of Financial Position. 
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In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from operating, investing or 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is, in accordance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards, classified as operating cash flow. 
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27 September 2021 

 

Mr Michael Pervan 
Director of Housing 
Department of Communities Tasmania 
HOBART   TAS   7001 

Issued by email only 

 

Dear Mr Pervan 

Director of Housing – Final Management Letter - Audit of the Special Purpose 
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2021 
The audit of the special financial statements for the Director of Housing (Housing Tasmania) 
has been completed.  I have issued my audit report on the financial statements, a copy of 
which is enclosed. 

I have prepared this letter solely for the use of Housing Tasmania. As you know, this letter 
forms part of a continuing dialogue between Housing Tasmania and the Auditor-General 
and, therefore, it is not intended to include every matter, whether large or small, that has 
come to my attention.  For this reason I believe that it would be inappropriate for this letter 
to be made available to third parties and, if such a third party were to obtain a copy without 
my prior written consent, I would not accept any responsibility for any reliance that they 
might place on it. 

Audit findings 

A memorandum of audit findings is being drafted for the Department of Communities. The 
memorandum will incorporate findings related to Housing Tasmania. 

Review of the annual report 

Please will you forward to me a copy of the final draft of the Department’s annual report for 
review by my staff prior to its publication.  This review will be conducted in accordance with 
Auditing Standard ASA 720 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in 
Documents Containing Audited Financial Report to identify any material inconsistencies 
between the financial statements and other information disclosed in the annual report. 

Appreciation is expressed for the assistance and co-operation provided to my staff during 
the course of the audit. 

Please note that a copy of this letter together with the auditor’s report will be provided to 
the Minister for State Development, Construction and Housing, The Hon Michael Ferguson 
in accordance with section 19(2) of the Audit Act 2008. 
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If you have any queries regarding the audit or any other matters, please contact Rob Luciani 
on (03) 6173 0900. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
David Bond  
Assistant Auditor-General - Audit 

 

Encl. 

 

Copy for: 

Mr M Stevens, Chair of Audit Committee 
Mr R Fazackerley, Principal Finance Officer 
Mr P White, Deputy Secretary, Housing, Disability and Community Services 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Secretary of the Department of Communities Tasmania and Members 
of Parliament  

Report on the Audit of the Special Purpose Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report of 
the Director of Housing trading as Housing Tasmania, which comprises the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2021 and statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial report, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the statement of 
certification by the Director of Housing (the Director). 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Housing Tasmania as at 30 June 2021, and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Section 17 of the 
Audit Act 2008.  

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of Housing Tasmania in 
accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 
Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate 
and is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be 
exercised. The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all 
documents and property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-
General’s opinion are significant. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.  
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Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting 

I draw attention to Note 12.2 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared to assist Housing Tasmania to meet the financial 
reporting requirements of the Audit Act 2008. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Director for the Financial Report 

The Director is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with financial reporting requirements of the Audit Act 2008.  This responsibility 
includes such internal control as determined necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Director is responsible for assessing the Housing 
Tasmania’s ability to continue as a going concern, unless Housing Tasmania is dissolved by an 
Act of Parliament, or the Director intends to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Housing Tasmania’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Director.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
Housing Tasmania’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
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material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
Housing Tasmania to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Director regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 
David Bond 
Assistant Auditor-General – Audit 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
Tasmanian Audit Office 

 

27 September 2021 
Hobart  
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